THESIS ON NATURAL AND EXACT SCIENCES B179

Alternative Splicing of *TAF4*: A Dynamic Switch between Distinct Cell Functions

JEKATERINA KAZANTSEVA



TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY Faculty of Science Department of Gene Technology

This dissertation was accepted for the defence of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Gene Technology on October 28, 2014.

- Supervisor: Senior Researcher Kaia Palm, PhD Department of Gene Technology Tallinn University of Technology, Estonia Protobios LLC, Estonia
- Reviewed by: Senior Researcher Urmas Arumäe, PhD Department of Gene Technology Tallinn University of Technology, Estonia
- Opponents: **Dr. Philippe Naveilhan, PhD** INSERM, UMR 1064, Centre for Research in Transplantation and Immunology, Nantes, France

Senior Researcher Viljar Jaks, PhD Institute of Molecular and Cell Biology, Faculty of Science and Technology, University of Tartu, Estonia

Defence of the thesis: December 5, 2014.

Declaration:

Hereby I declare that this doctoral thesis, my original investigation and achievement, submitted for the doctoral degree at Tallinn University of Technology has not been submitted for any academic degree.

/Jekaterina Kazantseva/

Copyright: Jekaterina Kazantseva, 2014 ISSN 1406-4723 ISBN 978-9949-23-699-2 (publication) ISBN 978-9949-23-700-5 (PDF) LOODUS- JA TÄPPISTEADUSED B179

TAF4 alternatiivne splaising kui raku funktsioonide dünaamilise reguleerimise lüliti

JEKATERINA KAZANTSEVA



CONTENTS

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS
INTRODUCTION
ABBREVIATIONS
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE
1.1 General principles of the transcription initiation
1.2 Diversity of TFIID and others TAF-containing complexes
1.3 Cell-specific transcription complexes
1.4 The functional role of TFIID complex components in development 16
1.5 Opposing effects of TFIID subunits on cell differentiation
1.6 General principles of stem cell differentiation
1.7 Cancer stem cells as a cell source for multi-lineage differentiation 21
1.8 Regulation of protein function by alternative splicing and its functional
consequences on cellular homeostasis
1.9 Coupling of alternative splicing and transcription and functions of
alternative isoforms of TFIID subunits in cell
1.10 TAFs in cancer
1.11 Melanoma progression
1.12 Cadherin switch during normal developmental processes and in tumour
progression
1.13 TAF4: structure, function and regulation
THE AIMS OF THIS RESEARCH
MATERIALS AND METHODS
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
1.1 Analysis of alternative splicing regulated $TAF4$ expression in human
cells and tissues (Publications I–IV
1.2 The balanced expression of $TAF4$ ASVs affects cellular differentiation
(Publications I, II, and IV
1.3 Silencing of hTAF4-TAFH activity results in activation of p53 and non-
canonical WNT signalling (Publications I and II
1.4 Imbalanced expression of <i>TAF4</i> ASVs affects migration of facial dermal
fibroblasts and melanoma cells (Publication IV
1.5 Cancer stem cell properties of melanoma are controlled by <i>TAF4</i> ASVs
(Publication IV)
initiation and progression (Publication IV)
CONCLUSIONS
REFERENCES
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
SUMMARY
KOKKUVÕTE
KUKKU VUTE

PUBLICATION I	
PUBLUCATION II	
PUBLICATION III	
PUBLICATION IV	
CURRICULUM VITAE	
ELULOOKIRJELDUS	

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

I Kazantseva, J., Kivil, A., Tints, K., Kazantseva, A., Neuman, T., Palm, K. (2013) Alternative splicing targeting the hTAF4-TAFH domain of TAF4 represses proliferation and accelerates chondrogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. PLoS One. 2013 Oct 2; 8(10):e74799

II Kazantseva, J., Tints, K., Neuman, T., Palm, K. (2014) TAF4 controls differentiation of human neural progenitor cells through hTAF4-TAFH activity. J. Mol. Neurosci. 2014 Apr 4

III Kazantseva, J., Palm, K. (2014) Diversity in TAF proteomics: consequences for cellular differentiation and migration. *Review*. Int. J. Mol. Sci. *15*(9), 16680-16697

IV Kazantseva, J., Sadam, H., Neuman, T., Palm, K. (2014) Differentiation and migration properties of dermal fibroblasts and melanoma cells under the control of alternative splicing of *TAF4*. *Manuscript*

INTRODUCTION

Core transcription complex, consisting of RNA polymerase II and the cohort of general transcription factors (named GTFs or TFIIs), participates in all basal and cell-specific transcriptional processes. Its composition is not invariant and stable, but depends on the cellular context and executed molecular programmes. Various subunits and their paralogues engage in the transcription or are excluded from the process during the entire life cycle of the cell. Additional capability to diversify the already complex and poorly understood mechanism of cell-specific transcription is assigned to alternative splicing. Currently, there is not much data about the involvement of alternative splice variants encoding isoforms of GTFs into regulation of transcription due to their low availability. high diversification, complicated dynamics, and extreme complexity for investigation by modern methods. The biological role of alternative splice transcripts of GTFs is not completely understood. Only some examples of active alternative isoforms are described, such as apoptotic-specific TAF68 (Bell et al., 2001). From the other side, effects of alternative splice variants of GTFs on transcription regulation could also be associated with their roles on the RNA level, acting as regulatory long non-coding RNA, or by other, as-yet undefined mechanisms.

TAF4, one of the basic and structural components of the TFIID complex, plays important roles in co-activator transcription, cell cycle regulation, and stability of the pre-initiation transcription complex (Wright et al., 2006; Layer & Weil, 2013). Its effects on cellular differentiation and cancer progression using gene silencing or overexpression approaches have been studied in some murine and human models (Metsis et al., 2001; Brunkhorst et al., 2005; Mengus et al., 2005; Fadloun et al., 2007; Ribeiro et al., 2014). Previously, it was shown that TAF4 is subjected to intensive alternative splicing, with probable dominantly negative outcome in function of alternative isoforms in the mouse brain and neurons (Brunkhorst et al., 2004). To combine all previous achievements, we decided to investigate alternative splicing of TAF4 in various human tissues and cells and assess its consequences on TAF4 function in normal cellular processes and in pathology. The results obtained provide more detailed insights into the understanding of the cell-specific functions of TAF4 depending on the cellular contexts.

ABBREVIATIONS

ASV - alternative splice variant ATRA - all trans retinoic acid BAF45/BAF53 - BRG1-Associated Factor 45/53 bHLH - basic helix-loop-helix BMP - bone morphogenetic protein CA150 - co-activator of 150 KDa cAMP - cyclic adenosine monophosphate CD - cluster of differentiation CDK2 - cvclin-dependent kinase 2 ch-ERG - chicken Ets-related transcription factor CREB - cAMP response element-binding protein c-Jun - V-jun avian sarcoma virus 17 oncogene homolog CTGF - connective tissue growth factor DKK1 - Dickkopf-related protein 1 EGF - epidermal growth factor EGFR - epidermal growth factor receptor EMT - epithelial-mesenchymal progression ESC - embryonic stem cell ETO domain - 8;21 translocation domain FGF - fibroblast growth factor GAPDH - glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase GTF - general transcription factor HCF-1 - host cell factor 1 HFD - histone-fold domain HP - heterochromatin protein IGF - insulin-like growth factor iPSC - induced pluripotent stem cell KLF4 - Kruppel-like factor 4 KRAB - Krüppel associated box KRT14 - keratin 14 IncRNA - long non-coding RNA LZIP - leucine zipper protein MMP3 - matrix metalloproteinase 3 MEFs - mouse embryonic fibroblasts MITF - microphthalmia-associated transcription factor MIA/CD-RAP - melanoma inhibiting activity/cartilage-derived retinoic acidsensitive protein MSC - mesenchymal stem cell MYC - myelocytomatosis viral oncogene NCoR - nuclear receptor co-repressor NHNP - normal human neural progenitor

NMD - nonsense-mediated decay

NRSE - neuron-restrictive silencer element

OCT4 - octamer-binding transcription factor 4

OMA-1/2 - overlapping cctivity with M-AAA protease 1/2

OPN - osteopontin

ORO - Oil Red O

p300/CBP - p300/CREB-binding protein

PBAF - polybromo-associated BAF

PBX - pre-B cell leukemia transcription factor

PGC-1 - peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator

PIC - transcription preinitiation complex

PPARG - peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors

RAR α - retinoic acid receptor-alpha

RNAi - RNA interference

RT-PCR - reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction

RT-qPCR - reverse transcription quantitative polymerase chain reaction

RXR - retinoid X receptor

SAGA - Spt-Ada-Gcn5 acetyltransferase, histone acetyltransferase complex

ShcA - Src homology 2 domain containing transforming protein A

snRNPs - small nuclear ribonucleoproteins

SWI/SNF - SWItch/Sucrose NonFermentable

siRNA - small interfering RNA

Sox9 SRY (sex determining region Y)-box 9

SKIP - Ski-interacting protein

Sp1 - specificity protein 1

SPT - suppressor of Ty protein

STAGA - SPT3-TAF9-GCN5 chromatin-acetyltransferase transcription coactivator complex

TAF - TATA-box protein associated factor

TAT-SF1 - cofactor required for Tat activation of HIV-1 transcription

TBP - TATA-box protein

TGF β - transforming growth factor beta

TFIID - general transcription complex IID

TRF - TBP-related factor

TRRAP - TRAnsport Protein Particle complex

TYR - tyrosinase

TYRP1 - tyrosinase-related protein 1

VEGF - vascular endothelial growth factor

Wg/Wnt - family of wingless-related proteins

WNT5A - wingless-type MMTV integration site family, member 5A

WST – water-soluble tetrazolium salts

ZF - zinc finger

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

1.1 General principles of the transcription initiation

Transcription is main paradigm of molecular biology while double-stranded DNA gives raise a single-stranded RNA molecule, launching complicated biological processes. In one case, RNA molecule is "self-sufficient" and functions by itself; but in most cases, it followed by translation and results a protein molecule, the main player in the biological life marathon.

The two key stages in the transcription process are transcription initiation and RNA processing and synthesis (Nikolov & Burley, 1997; Hampsey, 1998). The transcription begins from attaching RNA polymerase II (Pol II) to the specific place on the template DNA strand, promoter, starting synthesis of complementary RNA (Thomas & Chiang, 2006; Kornberg, 2007; Baumann et al., 2010; Shandilya & Roberts, 2012). This is a crucial event that determines whether or not the gene is expressed. In addition to promoter, many eukarvotic genes possess enhancer sequences that are located at considerable distances from the target gene, controlling it by interaction with corresponding proteins and changing 3D structure and availability of DNA. The proteins that facilitate transcription in a positive way are called activators while those that inhibit it repressors. Because eukaryotic DNA is tightly packed into condensed chromatin structures, transcription also requires a number of specific proteins to access DNA molecule and for full realization of Pol II activity (Ptashne & Gann, 1997). Although RNA Pol II is itself a large enzyme composed of multiple subunits, when active on DNA, it typically combines with other factors (Liu et al., 2011). Initiation of transcription is the first critical step in the regulation of gene expression. It requires simultaneous operation of a large cohort of transcriptional players – co-activators, trans-activators and components of the preinitiation complex (PIC), participating in the recognition of the core promoter (Tang et al., 1996; Kuras & Struhl, 1999). However, the general transcription machinery that consists of RNA Pol II and the general transcription factors (GTFs) TFIIA, TFIIB, TFIID, TFIIE, TFIIF and TFIIH is necessary and sufficient for basal (core-promoter mediated) transcription (Fig. 1). After Pol II anchors to the double-stranded promoter DNA through GTF interactions, TFIIH promotes ATP-dependent promoter unwinding, and stabilization of the open complex state; Pol II moves to the transcription start site (TSS) and transitions into elongation mode.



Figure 1. Multi-subunit tissue-specific RNA Pol II preinitiation complex at the site of transcription. The main components of basal transcription preinitiation machinery (RNA Pol II (lilac), GTFs (green), and Mediator (blue)) are presented. The tentative placement of some TBP-associated factors (TAF subunits) in the canonical TFIID complex (orange) is shown. TAF4 is specifically highlighted in dark red. The co-activators/co-repressors (light brown) bridge upstream DNA-bound cell-specific transcription factors (yellow) with transcription machinery. It should be noted that various PIC complexes with different subunit compositions and sequence variation (isoforms) do exist, thus further diversifying PIC architecture beyond the example shown in this figure.

In robust activator-dependent transcription, sequence-specific transactivators bound to *cis*-regulatory elements (TATA, INR, DPE, MTE, etc.) of the DNA-template and impact PIC formation through TFIID and/or the Mediator complex by modification of chromatin structure and direct interaction with the core transcription machinery (Taatjes et al., 2004). As these core promoter factors are multi-subunit complexes, the size of the resulting PIC is greater than 2MDa. The operation of transcriptional regulatory machinery uses cooperativity of "basal" or "core" transcription subunits and upstream sequence-specific transacting factors (activators and repressors), using Mediator as a bridge for signalling transmission (D'Alessio et al., 2009). These master regulators control transcription of specific genes in a cell- and developmental stage-specific manner, affecting cell identity, growth and differentiation. The components of the "core" machinery are a conserved from yeast to human, while sequence-specific transcriptional factors vary significantly from organism to organism (Hager et al., 2009).

1.2 Diversity of TFIID and other TAF-containing complexes

The first clue that transcription apparatus is more complex than thought before, came in 1990s (Nikolov et al., 1992; Hernandez, 1993; Verrijzer et al., 1995; Arnone & Davidson, 1997). Namely, other components of large multisubunit TFIID complex were discovered along with TATA-binding protein (TBP), participating in the core promoter recognition (Burley & Roeder, 1996). TBP-associated factors (TAFs) were biochemically identified as stably associated with TBP and originally named according to their electrophoretic mobility values (Dynlacht et al., 1991; Timmers & Sharp, 1991). Besides TBP, TFIID contains up to 14 different TAF subunits. The core composition of TFIID is relatively conserved from yeast to mammals. Interestingly, in addition to TBP, at least two TAF subunits (TAF1, TAF2) bind directly to the core promoter region in a sequence-dependent manner (Cianfrocco et al., 2013). Other components of the TFIID complex recognize multiple regulatory cis-elements in different combinations, as well as interact nucleosomes and carry themselves different enzymatic with modified activities (Hoffmann et al., 1997).

A modern vision of the transcription initiation includes one of its "general" factors, TFIID, that is structurally diverse and multi-component (Bieniossek et al., 2013; Demény et al., 2007). A functional core-TFIID sub-complex consists of a subset of TAFs such as TAF4, TAF5, TAF6 TAF9 and TAF12, which then become associated with peripheral subunits TBP, TAF1, TAF2, and TAF11 to assemble holo-TFIID (Wright et al., 2006). Additionally to canonical TFIID, tissue and developmental stage-specific forms of TFIID have been described. For instance, the presence of TAF10 in the TFIID complex is required for early development of the embryo, but not for later stages of development (Mohan et al., 2003). Besides canonical TBP, three additional TBP-related genes have been identified (Crowley et al., 1993; Rabenstein et al., 1999; Hansen et al., 1997). These are highly homologous proteins, albeit with distinct functional properties. Similar to the TBP-type factors, also some TAFs have paralogues that are expressed in the cell type- and tissue-specific manner. Thus, TAF1L and TAF7L are expressed during male germ-cell differentiation (Cheng et al., 2007), while expression of TAF4b is lymphocyte-, granulose-, ovary- and testisspecific (Freiman et al., 2002; Falender et al., 2005). Although the "peripheral" TAFs show restricted patterns of expression in different organisms, even the core TAFs appear at very different levels in certain cell types and tissues. Multiplicity of TFIID complexes allows a cell to exhibit functionally distinct properties and execute dynamic responses to cellular signals. Such as TAF4bcontaining TFIID complex mediates transcription of genes required for folliculogenesis in ovary (Voronina et al., 2007), TFIID with alternative TAF68 isoform and lacking TAF9 is necessary in responding to apoptotic stimuli (Wilhelm et al., 2010). The consequence of these observations is that structurally and functionally distinct forms of TFIID complexes participate in accession and recognition of various promoters, direct or indirect interaction with different transcription factors to mediate diverse responses from activators/repressors to the PIC, for regulation of specific gene activation.

Dependent on the cellular contexts, TFIID serves as a target for various regulatory factors. In yeast, TFIID typically occupies TATA-less promoters (Hoffmann et al., 1997). Furthermore, in addition to TATA and TATA-less promoters, different core-promoter architectures have been identified, thus challenging the view of the PIC assembly been exclusively based on TBP sequence-specific binding complexes. Moreover, recent studies have shown that initiation of Pol II transcription can occur from TBP-free TAF complexes (TFTCs) (Hardy et al., 2002; Wieczorek et al., 1998). These are structurally similar to TFIID and contain in addition to TAF2, TAF4, TAF5, TAF6, TAF9, TAF12 and TAF6L some transcriptional co-activators, including the GCN5 histone acetyltransferase (HAT), TRRAP (a cofactor for Myc, E1A and E2F activation), and members of SPT and ADA protein families. The cooperation of TFTC with p300 has been described (Hardy et al., 2002).

Another large co-activator complex that binds TBP and has histone acetyltransferase, ubiquitin-protease and transcription-activator activities is the yeast SPT-ADA-GCN5 acetylase co-activator complex SAGA (Grant et al., 1998). SAGA shares a subset of TAFs with TFIID, although structure and function of these complexes are different. SAGA is responsible for regulation of 10% of yeast genes, playing the role in TBP recruitment, although SAGA-TBP interaction is very weak (Yu et al., 2003). Up today, little is known of how SAGA fits into the PIC and associates with TFIID and Mediator.

Another class of multi-protein transcription regulatory complexes containing TAFs and having histone acetyltransferase activity, includes SPT3-TAF9-GCN5- containing STAGA complex (Wang et al., 2008), the p300/CBP associated factor PCAF complex (Schiltz et al., 1999), and GCN5 complex (Nagy & Tora, 2007). All of these complexes contain homologues of the yeast histone acetyltransferase (HAT) GCN5, SPT and ADA proteins, TRRAP adapter proteins, and a number of TAFs also found in the TFIID.

All these findings point out to the complexity of the eukaryotic gene regulation, recruiting various molecular processes involved in different cell functions.

1.3 Cell-specific transcription complexes

In early days, the common understanding of general transcription machinery was that it consists of the invariable core promoter recognition complexes, chromatin modifiers and co-activator proteins that through interaction with DNA-binding transcription factors control tissue-specific transcription (Müller et al., 2007). This view is now seriously challenged by a series of observations. The current understanding of transcription initiation mechanisms proposes that

a nearly infinite number of complexes composed of GTFs, Mediator and SWI/SNF subunits control gene expression in a cell- and tissue-specific manner. The modern collapse of the old "general" dogma is a result of parallel developments in proteomics, bioinformatics analysis of promoter regions and the application of new technologies, such as large-scale sequencing and one-cell analysis to description of transcription.

It is known that different genes use different combinations of core promoter elements, underscoring the more complex picture as that of the simple TATA versus TATA-less world (Ohtsuki et al., 1998). The universality of TBP was already questioned when TBP-related factors, including TRF1, TRF2 and TRF3, were discovered (D'Alessio et al., 2009). TRF1, which is highly homologous to TBP, represents a subunit of an alternative core promoter complex that in *Drosophila* directs promoter-selective transcription (Crowley et al., 1993; Hansen et al., 1997). TRF2, although broadly distributed from C. elegans to human, does not bind to TATA box-containing DNA and is unable to form canonical TFIID complexes (Rabenstein et al., 1999; Maldonado, 1999). It was demonstrated that TRF2 is required for early embryonic development (Dantonel et al., 2000) and is highly expressed in mouse testis (Sugiura et al., 2003). These observations imply that only a limited set of subunits, such as TBP and TRF2, is needed to produce highly varying expression patterns. The most intriguing and recently identified member of TBP-related family is the vertebrate-specific TRF3 (TBP2). It is widely expressed in the most adult mammalian tissues, but its role is crucial for oogenesis and during early embryonic development (Gazdag et al., 2007). Developmental studies of Xenopus have demonstrated that TRF3 can partially rescue the loss of TBP, suggesting different activation mechanisms rather than recruitment of specific transcription complexes (Jallow et al., 2004). TRF3 is essential for the initiation of hematopoiesis (Hart et al., 2009) and together with TAF3 is required for differentiation of myotubes (Deato et al., 2008).

Additionally to core TAFs, TAF paralogues are expressed in different cells and tissues (Hochheimer & Tjian, 2003). The majority of non-prototypical TAFs is detected during germ cell differentiation. For example, germ cellspecific TAF4b (Falender et al., 2005) that was initially discovered as B-cellspecific, and TAF7L (Pointud et al., 2003) that is involved in oogenesis and spermatogenesis, share similar domain structures with respective core TAFs. Association of TAF7L and TBP governs adipogenesis through the binding with PPARG-RXR cofactors and directing adipocyte-specific differentiation (Zhou et al., 2013). Five homologues of canonical TFIID subunits are expressed during spermatogenesis in *Drosophila*. Namely, the Cannonball, homologue of TAF5; No hitter, homologue of TAF4; Meiosis I arrest, homologue of TAF6; Spermatocyte arrest, homologue of TAF8; and Ryan express, homologue of TAF12 (Freiman, 2009). As a rule, up-regulation of expression of a paralogue leads to the dynamic down-regulation of its core partner with accompanying changes in TAF sub-complex structure and composition. The most widely characterized eukaryotic chromatin-modifying complexes studied to date are ATP-dependent complexes, containing the SWI2/SNF2 and the imitation SWI (ISWI) groups, HAT and histone deacetylase (HDAC) complexes. They also exhibit considerable component diversity. Expression of BAF45 and BAF53 subunits of SWI/SNF complex is switched during neuronal maturation by a micro-RNA-dependent mechanism (Ho & Crabtree, 2010; Krasteva et al., 2012). PBAF chromatin remodeler complexes are different in cardiac progenitors and mature heart tissue (Wang et al., 2004). The most dramatic changes in the subunit composition of chromatin modifiers occur during embryonic stem cells (ESCs) development. A unique esBAF complex is essential for maintenance of pluripotency and self-renewal of ESCs (Ho et al., 2009); whereas disruption of BAF-A and BAF-B functional activities is required for lineage-specific differentiation of ESCs (Yan et al., 2008).

Mediator complex complements tissue-specific transcription as an adapter element between RNA Pol II machinery and upstream transcription factors. Mediator is a 26-subunit complex that is specific to the eukaryotes only. Some individual subunits of Mediator are regarded as invariable complex components for the development of metazoans (Taatjes et al., 2004). Other subunits are considered as activator-specific. Consistent with this, MED1 interaction with MED24 serves as a cofactor for thyroid hormone signalling (Yuan et al., 1998). MED24 itself is necessary for the development and proliferative activity of neural progenitor cells (Pietsch et al., 2006). In turn, MED17 has a more general role in transcription initiation and in cell viability-related functions (Rachez & Freedman, 2001). Differential requirements for various subunits of Mediator complex have been described during zebrafish retinal development (Dürr et al., 2006). Consistent with this, MED12 is essential for SOX9 activity and its inactivation dramatically affects cartilage differentiation (Rau et al., 2006).

Despite emerging data on the diverse composition of general transcription complexes and their heterogeneity of components during development, very little is known of the orchestration of the basal transcriptional activity in tissuespecific differentiation.

1.4 The functional role of TFIID complex components in development

Given that the diversity of TFIID complexes is vast during development, their composition and functional dynamics at different stages of development are poorly understood.

The identity of ESCs is governed by a set of sequence-specific pluripotent transcription factors, including OCT4, MYC, KLF4 and NANOG (Chambers & Tomlinson, 2009). These factors control the activity of the basal transcription complexes via specific interactions with co-activators. Herein, TFIID activity

contributes the most to the induction and maintenance of the highly plastic pluripotent state of ESCs (Baumann, 2013). Recent studies in mouse ESCs revealed preferential binding of TFIID to nucleosomes with the active epigenetic H3K4me3 and H3K14ac marks (Nuland et al., 2013) and at genomic regions spanning transcription start sites characteristic to mouse ESCs (Ku et al., 2012).

At the earliest stage of vertebrate development, in the fertilized egg, two dynamic processes are highly crucial: zygotic gene activation and degradation of maternal mRNAs (Fig. 2). Both of these events are regulated by the TBP activity (Ferg et al., 2007). Up-regulation of nuclear TBP levels promotes zygotic gene activation and the ratio of nuclear to cytoplasmic TBP protein regulates gradual degradation of cytoplasmic maternal mRNAs. Discovery of TRF2 and TRF3, also detected in the early embryo, reinforced the importance of redundant functions of TBP for the initial stages of development. However, much less is known about the composition of TFIID complexes during zygotic development of vertebrates. One of the studied mechanisms observed in C. *elegans* is regulation of transcription initiation by sequestration of TAF4 to the cytoplasm (Guven-Ozkan et al., 2008). Dynamical changes in the basal transcription complexes have been characterized for TAF5, TAF10 and TAF11 subunits during zygotic gene activation (Walker et al., 2001). In two-cell stage, TAF5 was identified as vital for the open-complex formation, whereas TAF10 and TAF11 were detected in four-cell-stage nuclei with no impact on RNA Pol II activation (Walker et al., 2001). Similarly, in zebrafish embryos, both TBP and TAFs are highly expressed during early phases of gastrulation and their levels drop sharply at later stages of development (Tadros & Lipshitz, 2009). Strict requirements of TBP and several TAFs have been shown for the most of zygotic gene activation during mouse early development, highlighting the classic modes of transcription initiation by the canonical TFIID complexes.



Figure 2. Schematic presentation of the activation dynamics of TFIID and TAF4 protein complexes during different stages of vertebrate development. Blue line shows change dynamics of TFIID complex activity from two-cells embryo to the terminally developed organism. Green line demonstrates the dynamics of TAF4 activation during development. Various stages of development and comments regarding the TFIID composition are shown under the scheme.

1.5 Opposing effects of TFIID subunits on cell differentiation

Previously it was suggested that the interaction of the basal transcription complex with a set of tissue-specific transcription factors is required for embryonic development and differentiation. However, more recent publications argue that lineage-specific differentiation involves the selective loss of some of the common RNA Pol II core complex subunits (D'Alessio et al., 2009). Besides, the expression of different TFIID subunits is comparatively lower in non-differentiated cells as compared to fast proliferating cells (Hochheimer & Tjian, 2003). Whether TFIID subunits are actively degraded and/or replaced by paralogues is currently not clear (Fig. 2).

Individual TAFs interact with upstream transcription factors and require specific core complex-subunits for conveying their functional activity. These core subunits are TAF4, TAF5, TAF6, TAF9 and TAF12; they present in two copies and form symmetric structure in functional TFIID core-subcomplex (Bieniossek et al., 2013). Thus, canonical TFIID complexes do not contribute to transcription of the majority of genes in terminally differentiated hepatocytes

(Tatarakis et al., 2008). Several TAFs interact with developmental transcription factors in the lineage-specific manner and require definite core partners for cooperation. Consistent with this, TRF3-TAF3 complexes drive hematopoiesis and myogenic differentiation (Hart et al., 2007; Hart et al., 2009), and are absolutely essential for endodermal lineage commitment (Liu et al., 2011); TAF4 controls ATRA-dependent differentiation (Fadloun et al., 2008), and TAF8 is involved in adipogenesis (Guermah et al., 2003). On the other hand, different transcription initiation mechanisms co-exist in cells during differentiation. Expression of some genes requires most of the canonical TFIID complex subunits, while other genes are transcribed by subsets of TFIID components. For example, expression of TAF8 is not detected in preadipocytes but is upregulated during adipogenic differentiation, when the expression of other TAFs is downregulated (Guermah et al., 2003). TAF10 is required for normal liver development (Goodrich & Tjian, 2010). Reduced expression of Tafl and Taf4b affects proliferation of mouse embryonic maxillary mesenchymal cells and causes aberrant bone formation (Iwata et al., 2010).

Germ cells are the best-characterized model of the transcription machinery adaptation during differentiation (Hiller et al., 2001). So far, the most diverse set of TBP and TAF paralogues is found in germ cells, supporting the concept of specialized TFIID complexes that are distinct from the canonical forms. For example TAF4b, the first identified tissue-specific TAF, is important for ovarian follicle development and function (Dikstein et al., 1996). Male germ cell-specific TAF7L governs male fertility (Zheng et al., 2010). Expression of meiotic genes in gametes is controlled by TRF2 (Siderakis & Tarsounas, 2007). Oocyte-specific TRF3 replaces core TBP in these highly specialized cells, and its expression decreases during fertilization, being substituted by TBP (Müller & Tora, 2009).

On the whole, very different models of transcription initiation operate during embryonic development and in adult organism, supporting the concept of different transcription regulatory networks in proliferating and differentiating cells (Müller et al., 2010) (Fig. 2). Similar to early stages of development, in ESCs and pluripotent stem cells, active canonical TFIID complexes are required for supporting cell function. The majority of TAFs are expressed in ESCs at high levels. TAF3 and TAF4 are specifically required for maintaining their pluripotency (Liu et al., 2011; Pijnappel et al., 2013). In contrast, different TFIID sub-complexes are present in terminally differentiated cells, thereby reflecting the need of different cell types to respond to different external signals. High plasticity and adaptability of the core complex subunits allow both, highly specialized and broad initiation of transcription depending on the cellular context and developmental setup.

1.6 General principles of stem cell differentiation

The definition of stemness based on self-renewal of stem cells and their potential to differentiate into various cell lineages. According to the cell type origin, stem cells are classified into embryonic stem cells (ESCs), somatic stem cells (SSCs), and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs). ESCs are derived from pre-implantation embryos before trophoectoderm and morula stage differentiation and capable of giving rise to all tissues (totipotent). However, ESCs derived from inner cell mass and having the ability to differentiate into all three germ layers but not placenta are pluripotent. iPSCs can be generated from somatic cells by variety of epigenetic and molecular biology methods and propose to have pluripotent nature, but not guite similar to the ESCs. The possibility of adult mammalian stem cells to differentiate into various tissues has been a widely studied area of research. Among others, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are the example of plastic multipotent somatic stem cells that have the potential to differentiate to all mesenchymal cell lineages (Pittenger et al., 1999). Successful differentiation of MSCs into bone (osteoblasts), fat (adipocytes), cartilage (chondrocytes) and muscle (myocytes) has been described. Under certain culture conditions, MSCs are able to trans-differentiate to other than mesenchymal origin of cells like neurons, cardiomyocytes, etc (Wagers & Weissman, 2004).

Mainly, MSCs are derived from the stroma of bone marrow, but they may also be isolated from peripheral blood, umbilical cord, and adipose tissue (Lee et al., 2004; Zuk et al., 2002). Originally, MSCs were isolated from the bone marrow aspirate based on their feature to adhere to the plastic of the cell culture plate. MSCs are present in relatively low numbers and need to be enriched and expanded prior to use.

To distinguish mesenchymal stem cells from hematopoietic cells, a set of hematopoietic CD34, CD45 and CD14 markers is defined as not expressed in MSCs. For positive selection, in order to gain MSC enriched cell populations, the cell surface markers CD105 (endoglin), CD73 and CD90 are used (Dominici et al., 2006). However, there are no any MSC-specific cell surface markers that exclusively identify MSCs, and thereby all isolated MSC populations are still heterogeneous (Alhadlaq & Mao, 2004).

Due to their proliferative and multipotent differentiation potential, MSCs are a valuable tool for modern regenerative medicine and stem cell therapy. Thus, MSCs may be used as therapeutic strategies for *in vivo* transplantation after injury (Kang et al., 2012). Being extremely potential in damaged tissue repair, MSCs are used for cardiac recovery after myocardial infarction and for treating of liver diseases (Shake et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2012). However, the exact mechanisms of repair have not been yet elucidated. Regulation of transcription helps to establish differential gene expression profiles that confer cellular identity. Together with core transcription subunits, carefully controlled activity of transcription factors is responsible for realization of certain differentiation programs. Core transcription factors support basal levels of expression, whereas lineage- or developmental-specific transcription factors orchestrate spatio-temporal patterns of gene expression. 5-10% of total coding capacity of eukaryotic genomes belongs to transcription factors (Levine et al., 2014). Tight control of transcription regulatory activity is particularly important for stem cells because of the possibility of irreversible premature differentiation (Boyer et al., 2005).

1.7 Cancer stem cells as a cell source for multi-lineage differentiation

Due to the rapid development of regenerative medicine, research efforts have mostly focused on stem cells for replacing damaged tissues through new organ reconstruction.

The first direct evidence of the existence of cancer stem cells came from the discovery of leukemic hematopoietic stem cells in 1997 (Bonnet & Dick, 1997). Although cancer stem cells have not been identified in all tumours, they are present in brain, breast, colon, ovary, melanoma and other malignancies (Singh et al., 2003). Along these lines, multi-lineage differentiation of colon cancer stem cells has been demonstrated both, by *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies (Vermeulen et al., 2008). Small cell lung cancer cells with expression of neuroectodermal and mesodermal marker genes could be induced to differentiate into neurons, adipocytes, and osteocytes (Zhang et al., 2013). Among investigated tumours, glioblastomas have been shown to differentiate *in vitro* towards neural and mesonchymal lineages, and generate chondrocytes (Ricci-Vitiani et al., 2008).

The ability of cancer stem cells to self-renew and differentiate into various cell lineages is similar to the physiological properties of stem cells. On the other hand, formation of functional iPSCs from primary tumours has been successfully demonstrated by expression a set of upstream transcription factors (Carette et al., 2010), or reprogramming cellular epigenetic states by ectopic miRNAs (Lin et al., 2008). Generating of stem cells from neoplastic cells expands certainly the overall understanding of general principles of cellular pluripotency and differentiation. However, for cell therapy purposes, transformation of cancer stem cells into non-tumorigenic progeny is imperative due to their carcinogenic potential, unlimited growth and apoptosis resistance.

1.8 Regulation of protein function by alternative splicing and its functional consequences on cellular homeostasis

For the most eukaryotic genes, the initial RNA must be processed before it turns into a mature mRNA. One of the steps, involved in this transformation, is RNA splicing. Alternative splicing plays a key role in generating of complex proteomes, breaking "one gene, one protein" rule. Existence of multiple mRNA variants for a single gene explains, at least in part, the complexity of some organisms like humans, having about 20,000 protein-coding genes in their genome (International Human Genome Sequencing Consortium, 2004). Moreover, alternative splicing enables quantitative control of gene activity levels through regulation of expression of regulatory RNAs and by targeting RNAs to nonsense-mediated decay. Genome-wide analysis has revealed differential expression of alternative spliced mRNAs in various tissues and cell types (Castle et al., 2008).

According to the analysis of expressed sequence tag (EST) and cDNA data, it was estimated that alternative splicing affects the expression of nearly 90% of human genes (Modrek & Lee, 2002; Wang et al., 2008). Extremely complex alternative splicing patterns of *Drosophila Dscam* gene could give rise to 38,016 DSCAM proteins (Schmucker et al., 2000). High accuracy of alternative splicing is extremely crucial since about 20-50% of human diseases originate from mistakes in the splicing process (Cáceres & Kornblihtt, 2002).

The main principle of alternative splicing stems from the structure of eukaryotic gene, where exons that construct the mRNA are interrupted by noncoding introns dispersed throughout genomic DNA. In the canonical process, introns are removed from the primary transcripts by the cleavage, and the remaining exons are joined together by a macromolecular ribonucleoprotein complex - spliceosome (Jurica & Moore, 2003).

Alternative splicing could yield in different combinations of exon-joining events. Most alternative splicing events involve the coding exons, in some cases partially changing the open reading frame (Clark & Thanaraj, 2002), which in some cases may lead to the degradation of target mRNA through NMD due to premature termination codon generation (Lewis et al., 2003).

Consistent with the notion that alternative splicing avoids destruction of the functional protein domains, it targets mostly the areas of structure with minimally exposed hydrophobic surface and/or with high intrinsic disorder (Romero et al., 2006). Removal of protein-protein interaction domains by alternative splicing affects protein function and stability including misfolding and aggregation, capacity for protein interactions, appearance of isoforms with dominant-negative function. Of the total number of alternative splicing events, it is estimate that the functional domains are deleted at most in 10% of cases (Resch et al., 2004).

One of the interesting features of alternative splicing is the generation of alternative isoforms with opposite roles. For example, alternative splicing generates isoforms of nuclear receptor co-repressor NCoR that perform completely different functions during adipogenic differentiation (Goodson et al., 2011): NCoR δ promotes, while NCoR ω isoform suppresses differentiation of adipocytes. Similarly, transcription factor OCT2 has two isoforms with dual, blocking and inducing, roles in neurogenesis (Theodorou et al., 2009). The opposite effects on chondrogenesis of different isoforms of transcription factor PEBP2 generated by alternative splicing are well described (Akiyama et al., 1999). Alternative splicing of *p63*, the member of the p53 transcription factor family, is highly complex yielding in different alternative p63 isoforms coordinating various steps of skeletal development (Gu et al., 2013).

Diversity and multiplicity of formed alternative RNAs raises questions about possible functional roles for the other 98% of the human genome that does not encode proteins. In fact, >90% of the human genome is likely to be transcribed (ENCODE Project Consortium, 2007). Resulting complex network of overlapping transcripts includes thousands of long RNA transcripts with little or no protein-coding capacity (Kapranov et al., 2007). To date, a lot of non-coding RNAs (ribosomal RNAs, transfer RNAs, and spliceosomal RNAs) are critical components of important cellular processes. It seems highly possible that non-coding transcripts have key regulatory and functional roles (Wilusz et al., 2009). Their possible function on molecular level may include for example modulation of protein-protein interaction.

One of the major challenges today is the understanding of the role of specific splice variants in a cell context. For that, various genetic and epigenetic techniques are applied. One of them is baced on siRNA silencing approach. It has been shown that targeting of intron or exon sequences near the alternative-splicing sites by respective siRNAs affects the splicing process of these sequences (Alló et al., 2009). Supposed mechanism involves transcription-coupled alternative splicing. Among protein isoforms whose function is studied by using this approach are adapter protein ShcA (Kisielow et al., 2002), spleen tyrosine kinase (Prinos et al., 2011), and pyruvate kinase M1 and M2 (Goldberg & Sharp, 2012).

As a rule, complicated regulation of gene expression in higher eukaryotes, in particular at the level of alternative splicing of transcription regulatory factors, provides significant advances for basic research and clinical applications.

1.9 Coupling of alternative splicing and transcription and functions of alternative isoforms of TFIID subunits in cell

To date, a close link between transcription and splicing has been found (Kornblihtt et al., 2004). Some transcriptions factors like TAT-SF1, CA150, SKIP and co-activator PGC-1 are present in the spliceosome and perform dual functions in transcription and splicing. Thus, it is highly conceivable that both processes are simultaneously coupled together in space and time (Proudfoot et al., 2002). Consistent with this, C-terminal domain of RNA Pol II directly participates in exon recognition (Zeng & Berget, 2000); identification of promoter structure is often associated with alternative splicing of pre-mRNAs (Cramer et al., 1997); some transcriptional co-activators and co-regulators modulate alternative splicing, sometimes in a synergetic manner (Nogues et al., 2002; Auboeuf et al., 2002).

Interestingly, changed by alternative splicing protein-protein interaction domains are very common to regulators of transcription (Taneri et al., 2004; Talavera et al., 2009). Ankyrin repeat, DNA-binding zinc finger, homeobox, and KRAB (Resch et al., 2004) domains are frequent targets of alternative splicing modification. Hormone-binding domains, presented in nuclear hormone receptors and PHD and involved also in interactions with chromatin, are frequent targets of alternative splicing (Talavera et al., 2009). In general, percentage of genes in human and mouse genomes affected by alternative splicing is higher for transcriptional factors than for any other protein group (Taneri et al., 2004; Talavera et al., 2009).

Interaction of splicing factors with regulatory elements in the pre-mRNA together with pace and pausing of elongation of transcription are important factors of the alternative splicing regulation. Chromatin context and intragenic DNA methylation affect both Pol II processivity and alternative splicing (Kornblihtt, 2006; Lorincz et al., 2004). Rapid, highly processive transcription supports exon skipping, while low-pace transcription leads to the exon inclusion.

Function of isoforms of different TFIID components generated by alternative splicing is not well understood. A pro-apoptotic TAF6 δ isoform is one of the most investigated subunits of TFIID complex. It differs from the major ubiquitously expressed TAF6 α isoform in 10 amino acids that are lost from its histone fold domain (Wang et al., 1997; Bell et al., 2001). As a consequence, modified TAF6 δ protein cannot interact with its direct partner TAF9 or other TFIID subunits like TAF1, TAF5, TAF12 and TBP, and recruits a different TFIID-like complex, thereby altering global gene expression. TBP isoform with the polyglutamine-containing N-terminal domain only is detected in the human brain tissues and implicated in Alzheimer's disease (Reid et al., 2009). Inducible alternative splicing of *Taf1* in *Drosophila* is a mechanism that regulates transcription in response to developmental or DNA damage signals

(Katzenberger et al., 2006). It operates through ATR-signalled degradation of a subset of splicing-regulatory proteins (Katzenberger et al., 2009). In mouse, cell type-specific isoforms of TAF4 have been discovered (Brunkhorst et al., 2004). Some of them have dominant negative effects on nuclear receptor-mediated transcriptional activation. In addition, TAF9 β , but not TAF9 α isoform participates in megakaryocyte development through Mpl-ligand dependent mechanisms (Thompson & Ravid, 1999).

1.10 TAFs in cancer

For many years, the role of TAFs was thought as that of a signal transmitter from upstream activators to the basic transcription machinery. Their function was connected exclusively to the function of core transcription apparatus during normal cell homeostasis. However, recent studies suggest that TAFs are implicated in cell cycle regulation, apoptosis, and epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT) (Davidson et al., 2005; Pijnappel et al., 2009). Deregulation of TAF activities leads to neoplastic transformation of cells, highlighting the importance of their balanced expression in cellular processes (Ribeiro et al., 2014). A bioinformatics study of 316 high-grade ovarian carcinomas revealed that TFIID is the most significantly changed complex in its subunit composition (Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network, 2011).

In addition, TAF4b has been identified to regulate a set of genes involved in EMT progression such as activating protein-1 (AP-1), c-Jun and integrin $\alpha 6$, thereby contributing to the migration potential of cancer cells (Kalogeropoulou et al., 2010). TAF4 affects TGF-β signalling, driving cells through EMT towards carcinogenic transformation (Mengus et al., 2005). TAF4 deficit reorganizes cells to produce pro-oncogenic Col6A3, preventing contact inhibition and promoting three-dimensional growth of MEFs (Martianov et al., 2014). TAF12 forms important for TFIID assembly heterodimer with TAF4 and participates in RAS-induced transformation of colorectal cancer cells (Voulgari et al., 2008). Interaction of TAF1 with retinoblastoma tumour suppressor protein Rb inhibits the kinase activity of TAF1 and represses transcription from specific promoters, possibly implicated in cancer progression (Siegert & Robbins, 1999). A genome-wide RNAi screen has established that TAF1 acts as an apoptosis regulator that is induced by genotoxic and oxidative stress (Kimura et al., 2008). Overexpression of TAF1 and its interactions with E2 of HPV affect E2-dependent transcription in cervical cancer (Centeno et al., 2008). Reduction of TAF7 levels suppress the transport of polyamines and cause resistance to apoptosis in androgen-independent prostate cancer (Fukuchi et al., 2004), while decreased expression of TAF7L is observed in 59% males with acute myeloid leukemia (Yazarloo et al., 2013). Overexpression of TBP alone could be transformative for cell, and its upregulation is detected in some colon cancers (Johnson et al., 2003).

In general, TAF-containing complexes besides their gene-specific regulatory functions and roles in phosphorylation and methylation processes have global chromatin modifying properties, participating in histone and transcription factor acetylation. Smallest changes in the balance between acetylation and deacetylation can lead to serious consequences of cell fate. The E2F family of transcription factors is a key cell-cycle regulator and misbalances in E2F activity can result in tumorigenesis. Notably, TAF4 (Chen et al., 2013) and TBP (Lang et al., 2001) have been found to be the direct targets of E2F activity. suggesting their involvement in carcinogenic outcome. It is well established that p53 is one of the most extensively studied tumour-suppressor proteins in mammals. Its activation leads to the cell-cycle arrest and/or apoptosis depending on the cell context. Functional association of p53 with TAFs has repeatedly been established (Farmer et al., 1996). Pro-apoptotic TAF6 δ interacts with p53 and coordinates the induction of genes involved in apoptosis (Wilhelm et al., 2010), at the same time it also elicits p53-independent regulation (Wilhelm et al., 2008). TAF9 has been found to act as a crucial co-activator of p53 signalling (Lu & Levine, 1995; Jabbur et al., 2002; Buschmann et al., 2001).

Some of the TFIID components, TAF2, TAF3, TAF4 and TAF9 in particular, are important for maintenance of cellular pluripotency and regulation of differentiation. Their deregulated expression could contribute to cancer initiation and progression (Ribeiro et al., 2014).

1.11 Melanoma progression

Human malignant melanoma is probably the most metastatic cancer that is markedly resistant to conventional therapies. Melanomas arise from epidermal melanocytes, the pigment-producing cells of the skin. However, they can also derive from noncutaneous melanocytes (Chin et al., 2006). Among basic risk factors are the genetic predisposition and harmful UV radiation (Hussein, 2005).

During melanoma progression, fully differentiated melanoma cells leave the neighbourhood of keratinocytes by similar to EMT mechanisms, including downregulation of E-cadherin, upregulation of molecules important for cell-cell interactions such as N-cadherin, and loss of anchoring to the basement membrane in response to the altered adhesion profile (Haass et al., 2005). Distinct changes in malignant microenvironment cause activation of secretion of proliferative growth factors such as IGF1, FGF2, TGF β or VEGF and modulate proliferation, invasion and migration of melanoma cells.

The most important step in melanoma progression is driven by the microphthalmia associated transcription factor (MITF), a basic helix-loop-helix leucine zipper transcription factor and melanoma oncogene (Price et al., 1998; Steingrímsson et al., 2004). MITF plays an important role in

survival, differentiation and pigmentation of melanocytes. It has been shown that expression of MITF alone is sufficient to convert ES-like cells and fibroblasts into cells with characteristics of melanocytes (Béjar et al., 2003; Tachibana et al., 1996). Structure of *Mitf* gene is regulated by alternative splicing and extremely complex because of distinct promoters and multiple exons (Hershey & Fisher, 2005). Melanocyte-specific isoform of MITF-M is the most abundant and best-studied MITF isoform (Fuse et al., 1996), whose activity is regulated by cAMP, SOX10, PAX3 and Wnt signalling. Mitf, in turn, governs the transcription of genes involved in melanin synthesis such as tyrosinase (Tyr), tyrosinase-related protein-1 (Tyrp1) and dopachrome tautomerase (DCT or Trp-2) (Bentley et al., 1994; Hemesath et al., 1994). Other numerous melanoma-specific genes have been identified that are involved in various signalling pathways, processing and pigment export.

Among the different lineages derived from neural crest progenitors, excessive activation of Wnt pathway directs differentiation predominantly towards melanocytic lineages (Dorsky et al., 1998). Mitf expression through canonical Wnt pathway is governed the respective proximal elements in the promoter region (Dorsky et al., 2000; Widlund et al., 2002), suggesting the role of Mitf as an alternative co-activator for certain β-catenin-independent targets. Furthermore. Wnt5a has been shown to be essential for melanoma progression as it increases its invasive potential (Weeraratna et al., 2002). Along with above-mentioned pathway, a lot of different signallings are involved in melanoma initiation and progression. Thus, PI3 kinase-AKT pathway is often hyperactive in melanoma (Meier et al., 2005). Hyper-activation of RTK signalling and its mediator MAP kinase pathway (ERK1/2) have been directly linked to melanoma growth-promoting behaviour (Takata et al., 2005). Mutations in *BRAF* gene are the most prevalent somatic genetic events in human melanoma (Davies et al., 2002). It is interesting that in contrast to the majority of cancers, mutations of TP53 in melanomas are quite low (less than 5%) (Chin, 2003), suggesting that p53 signalling is not relevant for melanoma formation.

Different theories of melanoma progression exist (Schatton et al., 2008). One of them is appearance of melanoma from the progenitor stem cells. Melanocytic stem cells reside within a specialized stem cell niche called the bulge (Fuchs, 2007), which is the source of differentiated melanocytes not only of the hair follicle, but also of the basal epidermis (Nishimura et al., 2002). Melanocytic stem cells are subject to certain differentiation stages characterized by expression of specific markers, finally inhabiting the basal epidermis as well as the hair follicles in human. Temporarily amplifying melanocytes can break away from the niche and migrate to the epidermis, where they further continue to differentiate into pigmented melanocytes. Moreover, some of these transiently amplifying melanocytes can return to the inactive state or even revert to stem cells. Recently, CD20-enriched subpopulation of melanoma cells that grew as nonadherent spheroids in human ES-like medium was identified (Fang

et al., 2005). These CD20+ cells support stem-cell phenotype and could differentiate towards multiple lineages, including melanocytes, adipocytes, osteoblasts, and chondrocytes. However, connection between melanoma stem cells and melanocytic stem cells remains yet to be defined.

1.12 Cadherin switch during normal developmental processes and in tumour progression

Cell adhesion is a very important part of normal cell integrity and homeostasis. Depending on the human tissue type, various classes of adhesion molecules exist. Cadherins, including E- (epithelial), N- (neural), and P- (placental) cadherins, are transmembraneous calcium-dependent glycoproteins. In the process of development, cells have to rapidly adapt to tissue rearrangement and expression of one type of the cadherin is switched to the other, allowing cells to segregate from one another. Patterns of cadherin expression during development and in pathology are dynamically changing and associated not only with the developmental stage or progression of disease but also with the physical location of the cell in the body. Thus, cancer cells use cadherin switching to abolish cell-cell contacts, gain motile phenotype and metastasize (Stemmler, 2008; Wheelock et al., 2008).

In general, E- and N-cadherins are functionally identical with similar protein structure; both form complexes with catenins and act redundantly (Nollet et al., 2000). However, cadherins differ in their selectivity of interaction partners: E-cadherin preferentially interacts with the EGFR, while N-cadherin preferentially interacts with FGFR1 (Fedor-Chaiken et al., 2003; Suyama et al., 2002). In homozygous embryos, N-cadherin is able to substitute E-cadherin function during morula compaction, but incapable to replace E-cadherin during the formation of the blastocyst, indicating to the importance of E-cadherin in trophectoderm formation (Kan et al., 2007). Furthermore, ES cells derived of *E-cadherin* knockout models are incapable of germ layer formation (Larue et al., 1996). Overexpression of E-cadherin in null ES induces epithelia formation, while N-cadherin predominantly stimulates neuroepithelia and cartilage development.

Cadherin switch with the loss of E-cadherin and gain of N-cadherin expression occurs during melanoma development and results in the detachment of melanoma cells from the epidermis and supports their invasion to neighbouring tissues (Li et al., 2002). Among others, PI3K/PTEN signalling is involved in the cadherin switch during melanoma progression (Hao et al., 2012). E-cadherin inactivation may occur due to somatic mutations, promoter hypermethylation, transcriptional and post-translational control of the gene expression (Peinado et al., 2004). Other studies on regulation of E- to N-cadherin switching correlate the extent of this process with the levels of

cytoplasmic β -catenin (Nelson & Nusse, 2004). Sequestering of β -catenin to the nucleus downregulates E-cadherin levels. Moreover, TCF/ β -catenin complex binds directly to the promoter of E-cadherin and represses it (Jamora et al., 2003).

One of the important aspects where cadherin switch actively participates is epithelial-mesenchymal transition. During embryonic development, EMT is required for the formation of endodermis, neural crest and craniofacial structures and gastrulation. In cancer, EMT promotes invasion and metastasis and is accompanied with the acquisition of spindle-shape cell morphology, increased migratory capacity, resistance to apoptotic stimuli, absence of expression of epithelial markers and cytokeratins, and increased expression of mesenchymal marker genes (for example, N-cadherin, fibronectin, vimentin) (Zeisberg & Neilson, 2009).

1.13 TAF4: structure, function and regulation

TAF4 is one of the largest and ubiquitously expressed subunits of TFIID complex and is important for maintaining stability and integrity of TFIID (Malkowska et al., 2013). Historically, TAF4 was the first TATA-binding protein associated factor with demonstrated co-activator function. TAF4 has been demonstrated through recent studies to interact with different activators, including Sp1 (Hoey et al., 1993), CREB (Ferreri et al., 1994), N-CoR (Wei et al., 2007), E-box transcription factors (Chen et al., 2013) and c-Jun (Liu et al., 2008). TAF4 transcriptional activation is potentiated by the AF-2 domains of RAR α , vitamin D3 and thyroid hormone receptors (Mengus et al., 1997). TAF4 interacts with HP1 α and HP1 γ , but not HP1 β , further complicating its regulatory mechanisms and functions (Vassallo & Tanese, 2002). It is important to note that *TAF4* gene is duplicated in mammals and has an ovarian cell-specific paralogue *TAF4b* (Falender et al., 2005).

The molecular structure of TAF4 is remarkably conserved throughout the evolution. Human TAF4 protein consists of N-terminal metazoan-specific polyglutamine tract region, central co-activator binding TAFH domain (ETO, CRI), and C-terminal histone-fold domain (HFD, CRII) (Wang et al., 2007). TAF4 HFD is conserved from yeast to human and plays a critical structural role in the formation of TFIID. By analogy with histones H2A and H2B, TAF4 interacts with TAF12 through structurally similar HFDs (Werten et al., 2002), (Gnesutta et al., 2013). Formed octamer-like sub-structures support the integration of TAF4 into TFIID complex and its further core promoter region recognized by the TAF4/TAF12 dimer, is about 70 bp, and is half of the size of that of the nucleosomal DNA. This suggests the formation of hetero-complex structures, similar to the nucleosome complex assembly (Gazit et al., 2009).

TAF4 HFDs are sufficient to nucleate the assembly of holo-TFIID complexes. The veast version of TAF4 displays the HFD, but possesses neither glutaminerich amino terminus nor TAFH domain. Structural analysis of HFD of TAF4 revealed an unstructured short sequence located between helixes two and three that is characteristic to TAF4 HFDs only (Thuault et al., 2002). In metazoan, TAF4-TAFH domain is highly conserved across all TAF4 and ETO family proteins (Wang et al., 2007). Structural studies revealed that the α -helical folds of hTAF4-TAFH domain forming a large hydrophobic groove are responsible for protein-protein interactions. Using the phage display screening method, the amino acid sequence that is targeting TAF4-TAFH binding surface was determined as $D\Psi\Psi\zeta\zeta\Psi\Phi$ (where Ψ represents V, I, L, or M; ζ represents hydrophilic residues including N, O, S, or T; and Φ represents V, I, L, F, W, Y, or M) and was found to be present in different transcriptional regulators. Thus, potential TAF4-TAFH binding partners include PBX proteins, important in limb development and hematopoiesis; HCF-1-dependent ZF and LZIP activators participating in chromatin modification and cell proliferation; Mediator subunit MED23, involved in post-translational remodelling of chromatin substrates; and a number of histone deacetylases, demethylases and kinases regulating cell cycle. Different to ETO-TAFH, vertebrate TAF4-TAFH domains exhibit unique packing of helix five, and as a result, present a very flat and extended binding surface. This allows a much broader spectrum of substrate interactions and thus serves as a platform for positive and negative regulation of transcription.

In *Drosophila*, RNAi-mediated depletion of Taf4 affects dramatically TFIID stability, suggesting that TAF4 is one of its key structural subunits (Wright et al., 2006). Moreover, TAFH was identified as a domain targeted by Pygopus that promotes transcription of Wg/Wnt target genes throughout *Drosophila* development (Wright & Tjian, 2009).

In *C. elegans*, depletion of TAF4 is highly destructive; its effects are similar to the RNA Pol II knockout phenotype (Guven-Ozkan et al., 2008). Reversible and controlled repression of TAF4 is one of the mechanisms that regulate cellular development and differentiation. In the early embryo, TAF4 interacts with OMA-1/2, proteins that are necessary for oocyte maturation. This interaction interferes with TAF4 and TAF12 dimer formation and ultimately results in the sequestration of TAF4 to the cytoplasm. Degradation of OMA proteins in cytoplasm releases TAF4, which can now bind TAF12 and the resultant TAF4/TAF12 heterodimers translocate to the nucleus to restore transcription.

In mouse, Taf4 is not essential for fibroblast viability, but its inactivation affects proliferation (Mengus et al., 2005). Notably, $Taf4^{-/-}$ fibroblasts contain intact TFIID and do not exhibit cell cycle arrest or apoptotic phenotype. Interestingly, Taf4 inactivation is accompanied by alterations in cellular morphology, serum-independent autocrine growth and deregulation of more that

1000 genes. These changes in gene expression together with suppression of serum-independent growth are restored by re-expression of protein isoforms containing the CRII domain. *Taf4* depletion leads to high expression of TGF β , thereby enhancing SMAD signalling by the positive feedback loop. Loss of *Taf4* further induces the expression of matrix metalloproteases, CTGF and OPN, which are important regulators of metastasis, thereby contributing to the oncogenic functions of TAF4. Moreover, Taf4 was demonstrated to act as a co-factor of retinoic acid receptors, and that its CRII domain alone is sufficient to mediate CREB and RAR activities (Fadloun et al., 2008). Ectopic expression of truncated forms of TAF4, containing TAFH but not CRII domains, yielded in accelerated cell growth. In contrast, cells expressing TAF4 CRII alone display slowed rate of growth (Gazit et al., 2009).

Recent studies have focused on the function of TFIID, and TAF4 in particular, in reprogramming of embryonic and somatic stem cells. ChIP sequencing data revealed that Nanog and Oct4 are both recruited to the regulatory region of mouse *Taf4* gene, which acted as ESC-specific enhancer (Chen et al., 2008). In MEFs and adult human fibroblasts, exclusion of TAF4 from the TFIID complex inhibited reprogramming of the somatic cells while TAF4 overexpression facilitated iPSCs formation (Pijnappel et al., 2013). These findings evidence a positive feedback circuit between TAF4 and the pluripotency. Namely, enforced expression of TAF4 activates expression of the pluripotency factors, which in turn enable to maintain high levels of TAF4 expression.

TAF4 has been shown to control cell differentiation. Targeted proteolysis of Taf4 is observed in differentiating mouse F9 embryonal carcinoma cells (Harris & Childs, 2002) and during differentiation of C2C12 myoblasts into myotubes (Perletti et al., 1999; Deato & Tjian, 2008). In contrast, enhanced expression of Taf4 impairs endodermal differentiation with appearance of atypical elongated cAMP-resistant cells, whereas reinforced expression of CRII domain had no effects in this differentiation process in F9 cells (Fadloun et al., 2008). It is interesting to note that enforced expression of TAFH domain alone in F9 cells blocked differentiation towards the early endoderm. These results showed for the first time that regulated degradation of TAF4 is required for differentiation into selected cell lineages.

TAF4 activity is vital for various cellular physiological processes. One of these is the control of epidermal development and homeostasis. Selective loss of Taf4 in the mouse fetal epidermis results in skin aberrancies, enhanced water loss and early post-natal death, suggesting defective skin barrier function (Fadloun et al., 2007). In adult mouse epidermis, Taf4 participates in normal hair cycle, as *Taf4* deficiency results in fur loss. In addition, *Taf4* inactivation induces epidermal hyperplasia and aberrant differentiation of mouse adult basal keratinocytes. Moreover, *Taf4* inactivation significantly alters cell adhesion, cell communication and induces the expression of markers correlating with

oncogenic transformation. These changes stimulate tumour formation by enhancing malignant transformation. Upon histological analysis, the tumour cells exhibit melanocyte-like phenotype with high expression of the genes involved in melanocyte signalling. However, it is worth noting that a set of genes affected by the loss of Taf4 in mouse keratinocytes is different from that seen in the embryonic fibroblasts or foetal epidermis, suggesting the involvement of different regulatory pathways. In fibroblasts, the TGF β pathway is activated, whereas in keratinocytes the EGF signalling is enhanced. Other studies connect Taf4 inactivation in MEFs with the formation of fibrospheres and activated expression of pro-oncogenic Collagen 6A3 (Martianov et al., 2014). The specific mechanism involves repression of Hippo signalling and activation of the Wnt pathway. Interestingly, treatment of MEFs by ATRA restores TAF4-abolished effects.

Thus, implicated in the majority of vital cellular processes, TAF4 as the component of the general transcriptional machinery is a valuable target for controlling cell functions.

THE AIMS OF THIS RESEARCH

The aims of this study were to characterize alternative splicing of human *TAF4* and study the function of protein isoforms generated from alternative transcripts of *TAF4* in cell differentiation and in cancer development.

For that purposes the current tasks were carried out:

- 1. Characterization of expression patterns of alternatively spliced transcripts of *TAF4* in human cells and tissues.
- 2. Study the function of TAF4 protein isoforms by using different experimental models.
- 3. Assess the impacts of *TAF4* ASVs expression on cancer.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The following methods were used during the study:

- Bioinformatics, sequence alignment, searches against biological databases, and other
- DNA sequencing
- Cultures of primary and immortalized mammalian cells
- *In vitro* differentiation along adipogenic, osteogenic, chondrogenic and neural lineages
- siRNA and DNA transfection of cells
- RNA isolation, reverse transcription
- RT-PCR and RT-qPCR
- Subcellular fractionation
- Preparation of cell lysates and Western blotting
- Flow cytometry
- Immunofluorescence microscopy
- Cytochemical staining
- WST-1 cell proliferation assay
- Cell senescence-associated assay
- Melanin content assay
- Transwell cell migration and invasion assays
- Statistical analysis

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

1.1 Analysis of alternative splicing regulated *TAF4* expression in human cells and tissues (Publications I–IV)

The previous analysis of the tissue-specific expression of Taf4 in mice evidenced multiple and complex patterns of alternative splicing (Brunkhorst et al., 2004). In order to describe the role of alternative splicing in transcription of TAF4, we designed gene-specific primers to different exons of TAF4 and performed RT-PCR analysis of different human tissues and cells. As confirmed by sequence analysis of PCR products, a significant number of alternatively spliced TAF4 mRNAs have preserved ORF and could possess therefore functionally different properties. Depending on the cell type, a different balance of expression between the full-length and the rest of the TAF4 alternative splice variants was observed. Some of the ASVs of TAF4 were invariantly expressed across tissues, while others exhibited patterns of cell-type-specific expression.

As identified, the most prone to the alternative splicing are exons of TAF4 encoding the functional co-activator-binding hTAF4-TAFH domain (Fig. 3). Vertebrate TAF4-TAFH possesses a five-helix structure that is responsible for protein-protein interactions and recognizes a hydrophobic $D\Psi\Psi\zeta\zeta\Psi\Phi$ motif (similar to LxxLL) of TAF4 interaction partners (Wang et al., 2007). Thus, cellspecific splicing, targeting the structural integrity of hTAF4-TAFH, presumably affects its interaction properties with consequences on cell function. To study the role of specific splice variants in the cell context, we affected TAF4 alternative splicing by siRNA, targeting the sequences encoding the hTAF4-TAFH domain. Our data show that in response to TAFH RNAi treatments, cells start to express alternatively spliced variants of TAF4, such as TAF4 v2, TAF4 v4 or TAF4 v5 mRNAs that encode protein isoforms with only two helixes out of five preserved from the canonical structure of hTAF4-TAFH. Alternative splicing of exons VI and VII alters the flat and wide binding surface of hTAF4-TAFH domain, making it more similar to that of the ETO-TAFH domain. ETO-TAFH-dependent interactions with LxxLL-carrying proteins, including LZIP, E-proteins, nuclear hormone receptors, and subunits of Mediator complex, have been suggested to affect the whole PIC composition and activity (Plevin et al., 2005). Thus, splicing of exons encoding the hTAF4-TAFH domain ultimately contribute to the changes in target gene expression, perhaps allowing the fine-tuning of transcriptional response to activators that is important during the development.

As mentioned above, TAF4 is one of the structural components of TFIID complex and affects its stability. Therefore, alternative splicing of *TAF4* has the most severe consequences on the integrity and functional activity of TFIID, as well as that of PIC as a whole. Consistent with this, some of its alternative

transcripts generate alternative protein isoforms with functions that differ from canonical TAF4 functions; otherwise, certain alternative mRNAs of *TAF4* could function as long non-coding RNAs. The latter remains to be proven.

Analyses of *TAF4* alternative splicing of cells with differentiation potential, such as mesenchymal stem cells, dermal fibroblasts, and neural progenitor cells, revealed the dominant expression of ASVs with intact hTAF4-TAFH domain. However, on the protein level, the canonical form of TAF4 corresponding to $TAF4_vI$ is expressed at relatively low levels.



Figure 3. Alternative splicing of human *TAF4* (*NM_003185.3*) leads to a variety of protein isoforms. *TAF4* gene structure and major TAF4 isoforms with deletions in the co-activator-binding hTAF4–TAFH domain are outlined. Some isoforms of TAF4, for example TAF4 ASV_v2, differ in their *C*-terminus. Functionally important TAFH (hTAF4–TAFH, orange) and HFD (Histone-fold, blue) domains are highlighted. Boundaries of hTAF4–TAFH domain are shown by amino acid residue numbers above the structures and correspond to their position in the canonical form of TAF4, where the * symbol represents deletion of the amino acids 628–658 in the TAFH domain.
1.2 The balanced expression of *TAF4* ASVs affects cellular differentiation (Publications I, II, and IV)

Analysis of *TAF4* ASVs expression of hMSCs differentiated into adipocytes, osteoblasts, and chondrocytes detected high levels of expression of mRNAs with skipped exons encoding hTAF4-TAFH domain. Notably, the most abundantly upon differentiation expressed mRNA was *TAF4_v2*, with no intact hTAF4-TAFH domain. These data indicated that alternative splicing of *TAF4* is involved in cell differentiation.

To elucidate the role of TAF4 alternative splicing on cell differentiation, we manipulated with the balance of TAF4 ASVs by using RNAi or transient overexpression approaches. We designed two different siRNAs targeting different exons encoding hTAF4-TAFH. Our data demonstrated that TAFH RNAi was effective and led to the appearance of new ASVs in hMSCs, NHNPs, and dermal fibroblasts. These changes were accompanied with downregulation of canonical TAF4 vl and upregulation of alternative transcripts encoding partially or entirely lost hTAF4-TAFH. Directed differentiation of TAFH siRNA-treated cells revealed lineage-specific effects of changed TAF4 ASV patterns on cell differentiation (Kazantseva et al., 2013). The progression and efficiency of each differentiation programme were checked by dynamic analyses of respective molecular marker genes on RNA and protein levels together with specific histological staining analysis. Namely, in human adiposederived MSCs, silencing of canonical TAF4 activity contributed to the repression of adipogenic and osteogenic programmes, while promoted chondrogenesis (Kazantseva et al., 2013). Similarly, TAFH RNAi induced expression of ASVs and stimulated neural (glial and neuronal) differentiation of NHNPs (Kazantseva et al., 2014). Adding support to the hypothesis that sustained expression of TAF4 impairs cell differentiation, TAFH RNAi induced spontaneous differentiation of facial dermal fibroblasts into melanocyte-like cells (Kazantseva et al., manuscript). Phenotypic features of the melanocyte-like conversion of TAF4-deficient fibroblasts included darkening of the cell pellets due to melanin secretion and high levels of expression of melanogenic-specific transcription factor MITF and its target genes TYR and TYRP1. Interestingly, deregulation of hTAF4-TAFH domain by TAFH-specific siRNAs in human dermal fibroblasts is comparable with total TAF4 disruption by a mixed pool of three distinctive siRNAs designed against different from hTAF4-TAFH parts of the gene (data not shown). This observation emphasizes the importance of the hTAF4-TAFH functional domain for the entire protein activity.

Next, we asked whether high expression of canonical TAF4 has opposite effects on cell differentiation. Indeed, enforced expression of full-length *TAF4* contributed to increased levels of expression of *SOX2*, an important marker of the neural stem-cell state, and decreased expression of specific glial and neuronal genes.

Altogether, these data evidence that *TAF4* ASVs can switch the balance between proliferation and differentiation. Suppression of hTAF4-TAFH activity accelerates differentiation of stem and progenitor cells, while predominant expression of the canonical form of TAF4 keeps stem-like cells in an undifferentiated state.

1.3 Silencing of hTAF4-TAFH activity results in activation of p53 and non-canonical WNT signalling (Publications I and II)

Amongst detected outcomes, the influence of TAF4 siRNAs on hMSCs was decreased cell proliferation and changed cell cycle. A 6-h treatment of hMSCs and NHNPs with TAFH siRNAs already resulted in the upregulation of *CDKN1A* and *CDK2* levels. Western blot analysis revealed that opposite changes in the expression of $TAF4_vI$ and cell cycle regulators *CDKN1A* and *CDK2* mRNAs led to a marked decrease in the expression of the canonical TAF4 protein and significantly increased CDKN1A levels. The exact mechanisms are currently unclear, although our initial findings revealed the involvement of p53 signalling pathways, as we detected accumulation of *TP53* expression and hyperphoshporylated TP53^{Ser15} in all cells in response to TAFH RNAi. Recently, TAF4 was detected in a TP53-binding site on the *CDKN1A/P21* promoter and this interaction was enhanced in response to UV irradiation (Li et al., 2007). Interestingly, in hTAF4-TAFH-depleted MSCs, increased levels of TP53 induced cell cycle arrest without any signs of apoptosis or cell senescence (Kazantseva et al., 2013).

Additionally, our data show switching from canonical to non-canonical WNT pathways in response to TAFH RNAi in hMSCs and NHNPs (Kazantseva et al., 2013). Previous works demonstrated that WNT signalling promotes activation of WNT target genes by targeting Pygopus-TAFH interactions in Drosophila (Wright & Tjian, 2009; Marr, 2009). Our data show that TAFHspecific RNAi results in downregulation of β-catenin expression and upregulation of DKK1 and WNT5A, indicating to the enforced switching between canonical and non-canonical WNT pathway activation. It is interesting to note that other studies have found that suppression of canonical WNT signalling supports chondrogenesis, contributes to cell migration (Topol et al., 2003), and affects bone formation and limb development (Niehrs, 2006). In neural progenitors, both canonical and non-canonical WNT signalling has been found to control neuronal differentiation in a developmental stage-specific manner (Montcouquiol et al., 2006; Davis et al., 2008; Munji et al., 2011). Thus, the switch from canonical to non-canonical WNT signalling could be one of the regulative mechanisms in TAF4 activity-deficient progenitor cells. To further confirm the interplay of TP53 and WNT signalling that was observed in TAFH siRNA treated cells, previous studies have shown that TP53 and its target miR-34 suppress canonical WNT signalling (Kim et al., 2011). Next, a genome-wide screening study has revealed that the WNT signalling pathway is one of the major targets of TP53 activity (Lee et al., 2010). Furthermore, p53 signalling appears also to play a role in differentiation of TAF4-deficient mesenchymal stem cells: several recent studies link TP53 activity to cell differentiation (Armstrong et al., 1995), in addition to its well-established role in apoptosis.

Overall, our findings are in good agreement with the previous studies and strengthen the notion that *TAF4* ASVs encoding TAF4 isoforms with altered hTAF4-TAFH activity control cell differentiation through synergistic activation of TP53 and WNT pathways, although the detailed mechanisms have yet to be established.

1.4 Imbalanced expression of *TAF4* ASVs affects migration of facial dermal fibroblasts and melanoma cells (Publication IV)

Differentiation during development is often accompanied by increased cell motility that is necessary for cell homing. Therefore, we specifically analysed the effects of TAFH RNAi on migration of fibroblasts. We observed that inhibition of TAF4 activity strongly enhances cell migration. Increased cellular motility was accompanied by events reminiscent of the epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition, as *TAF4* silencing inversely correlated with cadherin switch: downregulation of TAF4 in the dermal fibroblasts suppressed E-cadherin and supported N-cadherin expression. It is known from other data that cadherin switch contributes to cancer progression and emergence of cells with stem-like characteristics (Mani et al., 2008).

In association with these findings, we used TAFH RNAi approach in melanoma cells. As a result, TAFH siRNA treatments suppressed the expression of TAF4 vl and altered the patterns of expression of TAF4 ASVs, thereby shifting the balance of TAF4 expression towards alternative transcripts encoding dysfunctional hTAF4-TAFH domain. Furthermore, TAFH RNAi stimulated the invasion of melanoma cells and, similarly to TAFH RNAi-treated fibroblasts, demonstrated the downregulation of E-cadherin and upregulation of N-cadherin expression that was followed by increased expression of MMP3 and decreased expression of epithelial marker KRT14. All these molecular alterations provide the cells with a potential to segregate from the tissue (neighbourhood) and metastasize. In contrast, enforced expression of canonical TAF4 in melanomas shifted expression of the respective marker genes towards reduced invasiveness compared with the control treatments. Thus, alteration in hTAF4-TAFH activity significantly affects the migration potential of melanoma cells and also affects their ability to invade through the extracellular matrix components, thereby controlling the tumour initiation and progression.

1.5 Cancer stem cell properties of melanoma are controlled by *TAF4* ASVs (Publication IV)

Cells that are prone to multi-lineage differentiation, such as fibroblasts and mesenchymal stem cells, express canonical TAF4 at low levels compared with the remarkable expression of ASVs encoding TAF4 isoforms. At the same time, high expression of full-length TAF4 keeps cells in the pluripotent state (Pijnappel et al., 2013). In contrast, cancer cells such as melanomas express both canonical and other isoforms of TAF4 at high levels, thereby raising the question of the differentiation potential of tumour cells. Overall, highly plastic and heterogeneous melanoma cells fit well to the model of being cancer stem cell derived. Melanoma cells express pluripotent and differentiation-associated genes and differentiate into a wide range of cell types (Na et al., 2009). On the other hand, TAF4 as a pluripotency-associated stem-cell factor has been shown to facilitate the reprogramming of fibroblasts into the pluripotent stem cells (Piinappel et al., 2013). The notion that fully differentiated cells have low levels of TAF4 activity is further supported by the findings that either canonical TAF4 is barely detected in differentiated cells or its functional activity is lost due to the directed proteolysis (Deato & Tjian, 2007; Goodrich & Tjian, 2010; Perletti et al., 2001).

Our data revealed that shifting patterns of TAF4 ASV expression either towards the full-length mRNAs or towards transcripts with skipped exons encoding hTAF4-TAFH might govern self-renewal and differentiation mechanisms also in melanomas. By analogy with human neural progenitor cells (Kazantseva et al., 2014) and MSCs (Kazantseva et al., 2013), downregulation of TAF4 activity promotes melanoma cells to differentiate. Our results showed that TAFH RNAi treatment of melanoma cells resulted in downregulation of KLF4, OCT4, and NANOG expression, and simultaneous downregulation of the expression of melanocyte-specific genes such as MITF and TYR. Furthermore, expression of genes that are characteristic for differentiation towards chondrogenic, adipogenic, and neural lineages was increased in hTAF4-TAFH -silenced melanoma cells when compared to cells treated with control siRNAs. In contrast, in case of high TAF4 activity, melanoma cells activate multipotency programmes similarly to non-malignant precursor cells (Kazantseva et al., 2014; Pijnappel et al., 2013). Thus, upon enforced expression of canonical TAF4, the increased expression of stem cell markers such as KLF4, NANOG, and OCT4 was observed in melanoma cells, evidently contributing to their multipotent characteristics.

Altogether, our data using *TAF4* gain- and loss-of function studies allow us to conclude that melanomas have properties of stem cells and exhibit multi-lineage differentiation potential (Kazantseva et al., manuscript).

1.6 Disturbances in *TAF4* **alternative splicing as a cause of melanoma initiation and progression (Publication IV)**

Primary melanomas and cultured melanoma cells share similar patterns of expression with high levels of expression of both, full-length $TAF4_v1$ and $TAF4_ASVs$ with almost completely (such as $TAF4_v2$) or partially skipped ($TAF4_v4$ and $TAF4_v6$) exons encoding for hTAF4-TAFH domain. In comparison, fibroblasts possess similar patterns of $TAF4_ASV$ expression as mature melanocytes. Analogous findings were received from protein analysis data confirming that different to the multipotent stem-like cells, such as hMSCs, NHNPs, and fibroblasts that express low levels of canonical TAF4, melanoma cells co-express the canonical form of TAF4 protein together with alternative isoforms with incomplete hTAF4-TAFH domains at equal or higher levels. Thus, TAF4 alternative splicing is distinctly regulated in melanoma cells by combining splicing patterns of multipotent and differentiated cells. In our understanding, impairments in the alternative splicing patterns of TAF4 by external or environmental stimuli could affect cell fate during normal cellular homeostasis and contribute to carcinogenic transformation.

Genetic and biochemical studies have established the role of TAF4 in carcinogenesis by targeted inactivation of Taf4 in mouse basal keratinocytes (Fadloun et al., 2007). Absence of Taf4 led to ectopic expression of melanocytespecific melan-A, melanoma-associated antigen 9 (MAGEA9), tyrosinase (TYR), tyrosinase-related protein 1 (TYRP1), and dopachrome tautomerase (DCT) in the adult mouse epidermis, apparently affecting melanocyte-specific signalling pathways and ultimately fostering development of melanomas. It is interesting to note that the loss of Taf4 in the mouse epidermis altered skin morphology and histology (Fadloun et al., 2007). In our work, in response to TAFH siRNA-treatments of facial dermal fibroblasts, we detected the appearance of melanocyte-like cells with enhanced migration potential. Additionally, unbalanced and ectopic expression of TAF4 ASVs led to heightened invasion of melanoma in transwell migration assay. All these data indicated that alternative splicing of TAF4 is apparently driving stem cell properties in melanoma cells, thereby proposing it to be the first or a key step in the progression of malignant transformation of the dermis.

1.7 Concluding remarks (Publication III)

Herein we show that regulation of TAF4 activity by alternative splicing is an example of the fast adaptation of the cellular machinery to vital needs. In differentiated cells, the balance of *TAF4* ASV expression is shifted towards generation of isoforms with impaired hTAF4-TAF4 domain, while dominant expression of the canonical TAF4 form is necessary for maintenance of the pluripotent state of the cell. Instead, drastic alterations of *TAF4* ASV

equilibrium could initiate tumorigenesis. Thus, melanoma cells expressing both canonical and alternative *TAF4* transcripts at equal levels exhibit both, multipotency and inclination to differentiate. By affecting this balance, it is possible to manage these processes more effectively. Thus, normal and cancer cells control their fate by using one gene in its different manifestations, e.g. changing levels of *TAF4* ASV expression.

Targeting the self-renewal and differentiation potential of stem cells for clinical use is worthless if the migration of cells to target tissues cannot be appropriately controlled. Migration of stem cells to different organs and target niches requires active guidance, a process termed homing. Homing is necessary for tissue transplantation and for seeding stem progenitors during development. Being better understood and studied for hematopoietic stem cells, it is also applicable to mesenchymal and cancer stem cells (Pittenger & Martin, 2004). Furthermore, considering that cancer is often a stem-cell-retaining disease, it is important to understand the different features of homing and migration of cancer and normal stem cells. Our data demonstrate that reduced expression of full-length *TAF4* by RNAi leads to the enhanced motility of normal dermal fibroblasts and malignant melanoma cells (Kazantseva et al., manuscript). In contrast, transient overexpression of canonical TAF4 diminishes the invasion potential of the melanoma cells. Observed changes are accompanied by molecular switches in the cell matrix.



Figure 4. A model describing the cross-talk between canonical TAF4 and its alternative isoforms in pluripotent (stem cells) and differentiated cells, and their relation to migration. High levels of canonical TAF4 (*blue arrow from left to right*) are a characteristic to normal stem cells and cancer cells. In contrast, differentiated cells maintain high expression of TAF4 isoforms with deletions in hTAF4-TAFH domain (*blue arrow from right to left*). Functional balance between canonical and alternative isoforms of TAF4 is crucial for cell migration. Consistent with this, cells with low expression of canonical TAF4 are prone to migration contrasting with low motility of cells with high levels of TAF4 activity.

Altogether, our studies identify TAF4 as a critical modulator of cell differentiation and metastatic spread of cancer (Fig. 4). As a whole, the regulated expression of canonical and other TAF4 isoforms reveals a remarkable conservation in different cell systems, and supports cell state transitions (between pluripotency and differentiation) and migration. Loss of hTAF4-TAFH activity by regulated alternative splicing affects the cell homeostasis of normal and cancer cells. By affecting the equilibrium of TAF4 alternative mRNAs encoding functionally different protein isoforms, it is possible to direct cell status either towards pluripotency or differentiation. This finding is reinforced by the observation that the motility of normal and malignant cells and the expression of full-length TAF4 are inversely correlated, thereby combining the concepts of cell migration in development and disease progression.

CONCLUSIONS

- 1. Patterns of TAF4 ASV expression in human cells and tissues are complex and diverse. Human TAF4 ASVs are expressed ubiquitously but not with equal distribution across tissues. The part of TAF4 gene most prone to the alternative splicing is encoding its co-activator-binding hTAF4-TAFH domain.
- **2.** Silencing of hTAF4-TAFH activity in hMSCs suppresses proliferation, and has no effects on apoptosis or cell senescence.
- **3.** The predominant expression of *TAF4* transcripts encoding isoforms with impaired hTAF4-TAFH domain a) accelerates differentiation towards chondrogenic lineages but inhibits adipo- and osteogenesis of human MSCs; b) facilitates neural differentiation of neural progenitor cells; and c) leads to spontaneous conversion of facial dermal fibroblasts into melanocyte-like cells.
- 4. Downregulation of the canonical TAF4 activity at the expense of that of alternative TAF4 isoforms enhances the motility of human dermal fibroblasts and melanoma cells. Conversely, cells with increased expression of canonical TAF4 possess reduced migration and invasion potential.
- **5.** TAF4-dependent signalling mechanisms involve switching between the canonical and non-canonical WNT pathways, TP53 signalling activation, and shifting in E- and N-cadherin expression.
- 6. The balance between the expression of the full-length and ASVs of TAF4 controls the pluripotency or differentiation status of the cells. Cells with high levels of canonical TAF4 are predominantly pluripotent, while preferable expression of non-canonical isoforms of TAF4 directs cells to differentiate.
- 7. Melanoma cells express canonical and alternative TAF4 transcripts at equal levels, thereby possessing both, multipotency and differentiation potential in their arsenal. By shifting this equilibrium, it is possible to get melanoma populations with high multipotent properties or direct cells to differentiate.

REFERENCES

- Akiyama H, Kanno T, Ito H, Terry A, Neil J, Ito Y, et al. (1999) Positive and negative regulation of chondrogenesis by splice variants of PEBP2alphaA/CBFalpha1 in clonal mouse EC cells, ATDC5. J Cell Physiol 181: 169-78.
- Alhadlaq A, Mao JJ (2004) Mesenchymal stem cells: isolation and therapeutics. Stem Cells Dev 13: 436-48.
- Alló M, Buggiano V, Fededa JP, Petrillo E, Schor I, de la Mata M, et al. (2009) Control of alternative splicing through siRNA-mediated transcriptional gene silencing. Nat Struct Mol Biol 16: 717-24.
- Armstrong JF, Kaufman MH, Harrison DJ, Clarke AR (1995) High-frequency developmental abnormalities in p53-deficient mice. Curr Biol 5: 931-6.
- Arnone MI, Davidson EH (1997) The hardwiring of development: organization and function of genomic regulatory systems. Development 124: 1851-64.
- Auboeuf D, Hönig A, Berget SM, O'Malley BW (2002) Coordinate regulation of transcription and splicing by steroid receptor coregulators. Science 298: 416-9.
- Baumann K (2013) Stem cells: TFIID promotes pluripotency. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 14: 264.
- Baumann M, Pontiller J, Ernst W (2010) Structure and basal transcription complex of RNA polymerase II core promoters in the mammalian genome: an overview. Mol Biotechnol 45: 241-7.
- Bell B, Scheer E, Tora L (2001) Identification of hTAF(II)80 delta links apoptotic signaling pathways to transcription factor TFIID function. Mol Cell 8: 591-600.
- Bentley NJ, Eisen T, Goding CR (1994) Melanocyte-specific expression of the human tyrosinase promoter: activation by the microphthalmia gene product and role of the initiator. Mol Cell Biol 14: 7996-8006.
- Bieniossek C, Papai G, Schaffitzel C, Garzoni F, Chaillet M, Scheer E, et al. (2013) The architecture of human general transcription factor TFIID core complex. Nature 493: 699-702.
- Bonnet D, Dick JE (1997) Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. Nat Med 3: 730-7.
- Boyer LA, Lee TI, Cole MF, Johnstone SE, Levine SS, Zucker JP, et al. (2005) Core transcriptional regulatory circuitry in human embryonic stem cells. Cell 122: 947-56.

- Brunkhorst A, Karlén M, Shi J, Mikolajczyk M, Nelson MA, Metsis M, et al. (2005) A specific role for the TFIID subunit TAF4 and RanBPM in neural progenitor differentiation. Mol Cell Neurosci 29: 250-8.
- Brunkhorst A, Neuman T, Hall A, Arenas E, Bartfai T, Hermanson O, et al. (2004) Novel isoforms of the TFIID subunit TAF4 modulate nuclear receptor-mediated transcriptional activity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 325: 574-9.
- Burley SK, Roeder RG (1996) Biochemistry and structural biology of transcription factor IID (TFIID). Annu Rev Biochem 65: 769-99.
- Buschmann T, Lin Y, Aithmitti N, Fuchs SY, Lu H, Resnick-Silverman L, et al. (2001) Stabilization and activation of p53 by the coactivator protein TAFII31. J Biol Chem 276: 13852-7.
- Butnariu-Ephrat M, Robinson D, Mendes DG, Halperin N, Nevo Z (1996) Resurfacing of goat articular cartilage by chondrocytes derived from bone marrow. Clin Orthop Relat Res: 234-43.
- Béjar J, Hong Y, Schartl M (2003) Mitf expression is sufficient to direct differentiation of medaka blastula derived stem cells to melanocytes. Development 130: 6545-53.
- Carette JE, Pruszak J, Varadarajan M, Blomen VA, Gokhale S, Camargo FD, et al. (2010) Generation of iPSCs from cultured human malignant cells. Blood 115: 4039-42.
- Castle JC, Zhang C, Shah JK, Kulkarni AV, Kalsotra A, Cooper TA, et al. (2008) Expression of 24,426 human alternative splicing events and predicted cis regulation in 48 tissues and cell lines. Nat Genet 40: 1416-25.
- Centeno F, Ramírez-Salazar E, García-Villa E, Gariglio P, Garrido E (2008) TAF1 interacts with and modulates human papillomavirus 16 E2-dependent transcriptional regulation. Intervirology 51: 137-43.
- Chambers I, Tomlinson SR (2009) The transcriptional foundation of pluripotency. Development 136: 2311-22.
- Chen W, Zhang J, Geng H, Du Z, Nakadai T, Roeder RG (2013) A TAF4 coactivator function for E proteins that involves enhanced TFIID binding. Genes Dev 27: 1596-609.
- Chen X, Xu H, Yuan P, Fang F, Huss M, Vega VB, et al. (2008) Integration of external signaling pathways with the core transcriptional network in embryonic stem cells. Cell 133: 1106-17.
- Cheng Y, Buffone MG, Kouadio M, Goodheart M, Page DC, Gerton GL, et al. (2007) Abnormal sperm in mice lacking the Taf7l gene. Mol Cell Biol 27: 2582-9.

- Chin L (2003) The genetics of malignant melanoma: lessons from mouse and man. Nat Rev Cancer 3: 559-70.
- Chin L, Garraway LA, Fisher DE (2006) Malignant melanoma: genetics and therapeutics in the genomic era. Genes Dev 20: 2149-82.
- Choi YS, Im MW, Kim CS, Lee MH, Noh SE, Lim SM, et al. (2008) Chondrogenic differentiation of human umbilical cord blood-derived multilineage progenitor cells in atelocollagen. Cytotherapy 10: 165-73.
- Cianfrocco MA, Kassavetis GA, Grob P, Fang J, Juven-Gershon T, Kadonaga JT, et al. (2013) Human TFIID binds to core promoter DNA in a reorganized structural state. Cell 152: 120-31.
- Clark F, Thanaraj TA (2002) Categorization and characterization of transcriptconfirmed constitutively and alternatively spliced introns and exons from human. Hum Mol Genet 11: 451-64.
- Cramer P, Pesce CG, Baralle FE, Kornblihtt AR (1997) Functional association between promoter structure and transcript alternative splicing. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94: 11456-60.
- Crowley TE, Hoey T, Liu JK, Jan YN, Jan LY, Tjian R (1993) A new factor related to TATA-binding protein has highly restricted expression patterns in Drosophila. Nature 361: 557-61.
- Cáceres JF, Kornblihtt AR (2002) Alternative splicing: multiple control mechanisms and involvement in human disease. Trends Genet 18: 186-93.
- D'Alessio JA, Wright KJ, Tjian R (2009) Shifting players and paradigms in cellspecific transcription. Mol Cell 36: 924-31.
- Dantonel JC, Quintin S, Lakatos L, Labouesse M, Tora L (2000) TBP-like factor is required for embryonic RNA polymerase II transcription in C. elegans. Mol Cell 6: 715-22.
- Davidson I, Kobi D, Fadloun A, Mengus G (2005) New insights into TAFs as regulators of cell cycle and signaling pathways. Cell Cycle 4: 1486-90.39.
 Davies H, Bignell GR, Cox C, Stephens P, Edkins S, Clegg S, et al. (2002) Mutations of the BRAF gene in human cancer. Nature 417: 949-54.
- Deato MDE, Marr MT, Sottero T, Inouye C, Hu P, Tjian R (2008) MyoD targets TAF3/TRF3 to activate myogenin transcription. Mol Cell 32: 96-105.
- Deato MDE, Tjian R (2008) An unexpected role of TAFs and TRFs in skeletal muscle differentiation: switching core promoter complexes. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 73: 217-25.
- Deato MDE, Tjian R (2007) Switching of the core transcription machinery during myogenesis. Genes Dev 21: 2137-49.

- Demény MA, Soutoglou E, Nagy Z, Scheer E, Jànoshàzi A, Richardot M, et al. (2007) Identification of a small TAF complex and its role in the assembly of TAF-containing complexes. PLoS One 2: e316.
- Dikstein R, Zhou S, Tjian R (1996) Human TAFII 105 is a cell type-specific TFIID subunit related to hTAFII130. Cell 87: 137-46.
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, et al. (2006) Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 8: 315-7.
- Dorsky RI, Moon RT, Raible DW (1998) Control of neural crest cell fate by the Wnt signalling pathway. Nature 396: 370-3.
- Dorsky RI, Raible DW, Moon RT (2000) Direct regulation of nacre, a zebrafish MITF homolog required for pigment cell formation, by the Wnt pathway. Genes Dev 14: 158-62.
- Dynlacht BD, Hoey T, Tjian R (1991) Isolation of coactivators associated with the TATA-binding protein that mediate transcriptional activation. Cell 66: 563-76.
- Dürr K, Holzschuh J, Filippi A, Ettl A, Ryu S, Shepherd IT, et al. (2006) Differential roles of transcriptional mediator complex subunits Crsp34/Med27, Crsp150/Med14 and Trap100/Med24 during zebrafish retinal development. Genetics 174: 693-705.
- Fadloun A, Kobi D, Delacroix L, Dembélé D, Michel I, Lardenois A, et al. (2008) Retinoic acid induces TGFbeta-dependent autocrine fibroblast growth. Oncogene 27: 477-89.
- Fadloun A, Kobi D, Pointud J, Indra AK, Teletin M, Bole-Feysot C, et al. (2007) The TFIID subunit TAF4 regulates keratinocyte proliferation and has cell-autonomous and non-cell-autonomous tumour suppressor activity in mouse epidermis. Development 134: 2947-58.
- Falender AE, Freiman RN, Geles KG, Lo KC, Hwang K, Lamb DJ, et al. (2005) Maintenance of spermatogenesis requires TAF4b, a gonad-specific subunit of TFIID. Genes Dev 19: 794-803.
- Falender AE, Shimada M, Lo YK, Richards JS (2005) TAF4b, a TBP associated factor, is required for oocyte development and function. Dev Biol 288: 405-19.
- Fang D, Nguyen TK, Leishear K, Finko R, Kulp AN, Hotz S, et al. (2005) A tumorigenic subpopulation with stem cell properties in melanomas. Cancer Res 65: 9328-37.
- Farmer G, Colgan J, Nakatani Y, Manley JL, Prives C (1996) Functional interaction between p53, the TATA-binding protein (TBP), andTBP-associated factors in vivo. Mol Cell Biol 16: 4295-304.

- Fedor-Chaiken M, Hein PW, Stewart JC, Brackenbury R, Kinch MS (2003) Ecadherin binding modulates EGF receptor activation. Cell Commun Adhes 10: 105-18.
- Ferg M, Sanges R, Gehrig J, Kiss J, Bauer M, Lovas A, et al. (2007) The TATA-binding protein regulates maternal mRNA degradation and differential zygotic transcription in zebrafish. EMBO J 26: 3945-56.
- Ferreri K, Gill G, Montminy M (1994) The cAMP-regulated transcription factor CREB interacts with a component of the TFIID complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91: 1210-3.
- Freiman RN (2009) Specific variants of general transcription factors regulate germ cell development in diverse organisms. Biochim Biophys Acta 1789: 161-6.
- Freiman RN, Albright SR, Chu LE, Zheng S, Liang H, Sha WC, et al. (2002) Redundant role of tissue-selective TAF(II)105 in B lymphocytes. Mol Cell Biol 22: 6564-72.
- Fuchs E (2007) Scratching the surface of skin development. Nature 445: 834-42.
- Fukuchi J, Hiipakka RA, Kokontis JM, Nishimura K, Igarashi K, Liao S (2004) TATA-binding protein-associated factor 7 regulates polyamine transport activity and polyamine analog-induced apoptosis. J Biol Chem 279: 29921-9.
- Fuse N, Yasumoto K, Suzuki H, Takahashi K, Shibahara S (1996) Identification of a melanocyte-type promoter of the microphthalmia-associated transcription factor gene. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 219: 702-7.
- Gazdag E, Rajkovic A, Torres-Padilla ME, Tora L (2007) Analysis of TATAbinding protein 2 (TBP2) and TBP expression suggests different roles for the two proteins in regulation of gene expression during oogenesis and early mouse development. Reproduction 134: 51-62.
- Gazit K, Moshonov S, Elfakess R, Sharon M, Mengus G, Davidson I, et al. (2009) TAF4/4b x TAF12 displays a unique mode of DNA binding and is required for core promoter function of a subset of genes. J Biol Chem 284: 26286-96.
- Germann S, Gratadou L, Dutertre M, Auboeuf D (2012) Splicing programs and cancer. J Nucleic Acids 2012: 269570.
- Gnesutta N, Nardini M, Mantovani R (2013) The H2A/H2B-like histone-fold domain proteins at the crossroad between chromatin and different DNA metabolisms. Transcription 4.
- Goldberg MS, Sharp PA (2012) Pyruvate kinase M2-specific siRNA induces apoptosis and tumor regression. J Exp Med 209: 217-24.

- Goodrich JA, Tjian R (2010) Unexpected roles for core promoter recognition factors in cell-type-specific transcription and gene regulation. Nat Rev Genet 11: 549-58.
- Goodson ML, Mengeling BJ, Jonas BA, Privalsky ML (2011) Alternative mRNA splicing of corepressors generates variants that play opposing roles in adipocyte differentiation. J Biol Chem 286: 44988-99.
- Grant PA, Schieltz D, Pray-Grant MG, Steger DJ, Reese JC, Yates JR 3rd, et al. (1998) A subset of TAF(II)s are integral components of the SAGA complex required for nucleosome acetylation and transcriptional stimulation. Cell 94: 45-53.
- Gu J, Lu Y, Qiao L, Ran D, Li N, Cao H, et al. (2013) Mouse p63 variants and chondrogenesis. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 6: 2872-9.
- Guermah M, Ge K, Chiang CM, Roeder RG (2003) The TBN protein, which is essential for early embryonic mouse development, is an inducible TAFII implicated in adipogenesis. Mol Cell 12: 991-1001.
- Guven-Ozkan T, Nishi Y, Robertson SM, Lin R (2008) Global transcriptional repression in C. elegans germline precursors by regulated sequestration of TAF-4. Cell 135: 149-60.
- Haass NK, Smalley KSM, Li L, Herlyn M (2005) Adhesion, migration and communication in melanocytes and melanoma. Pigment Cell Res 18: 150-9.
- Hager GL, McNally JG, Misteli T (2009) Transcription dynamics. Mol Cell 35: 741-53.
- Hampsey M (1998) Molecular genetics of the RNA polymerase II general transcriptional machinery. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 62: 465-503.
- Hansen SK, Takada S, Jacobson RH, Lis JT, Tjian R (1997) Transcription properties of a cell type-specific TATA-binding protein, TRF. Cell 91: 71-83.
- Hao L, Ha JR, Kuzel P, Garcia E, Persad S (2012) Cadherin switch from E- to N-cadherin in melanoma progression is regulated by the PI3K/PTEN pathway through Twist and Snail. Br J Dermatol 166: 1184-97.
- Hardy S, Brand M, Mittler G, Yanagisawa J, Kato S, Meisterernst M, et al. (2002) TATA-binding protein-free TAF-containing complex (TFTC) and p300 are both required for efficient transcriptional activation. J Biol Chem 277: 32875-82.
- Harris TM, Childs G (2002) Global gene expression patterns during differentiation of F9 embryonal carcinoma cells into parietal endoderm. Funct Integr Genomics 2: 105-19.

- Hart DO, Raha T, Lawson ND, Green MR (2007) Initiation of zebrafish haematopoiesis by the TATA-box-binding protein-related factor Trf3. Nature 450: 1082-5.
- Hart DO, Santra MK, Raha T, Green MR (2009) Selective interaction between Trf3 and Taf3 required for early development and hematopoiesis. Dev Dyn 238: 2540-9.
- Hemesath TJ, Steingrímsson E, McGill G, Hansen MJ, Vaught J, Hodgkinson CA, et al. (1994) microphthalmia, a critical factor in melanocyte development, defines a discrete transcription factor family. Genes Dev 8: 2770-80.
- Hernandez N (1993) TBP, a universal eukaryotic transcription factor?. Genes Dev 7: 1291-308.
- Hershey CL, Fisher DE (2005) Genomic analysis of the Microphthalmia locus and identification of the MITF-J/Mitf-J isoform. Gene 347: 73-82.
- Hiller MA, Lin TY, Wood C, Fuller MT (2001) Developmental regulation of transcription by a tissue-specific TAF homolog. Genes Dev 15: 1021-30.
- Ho L, Crabtree GR (2010) Chromatin remodelling during development. Nature 463: 474-84.
- Ho L, Ronan JL, Wu J, Staahl BT, Chen L, Kuo A, et al. (2009) An embryonic stem cell chromatin remodeling complex, esBAF, is essential for embryonic stem cell self-renewal and pluripotency. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106: 5181-6.
- Hochheimer A, Tjian R (2003) Diversified transcription initiation complexes expand promoter selectivity and tissue-specific gene expression. Genes Dev 17: 1309-20.
- Hoey T, Weinzierl RO, Gill G, Chen JL, Dynlacht BD, Tjian R (1993) Molecular cloning and functional analysis of Drosophila TAF110 reveal properties expected of coactivators. Cell 72: 247-60.
- Hoffmann A, Oelgeschläger T, Roeder RG (1997) Considerations of transcriptional control mechanisms: do TFIID-core promoter complexes recapitulate nucleosome-like functions?. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94: 8928-35.
- Hussein MR (2005) Ultraviolet radiation and skin cancer: molecular mechanisms. J Cutan Pathol 32: 191-205.
- Iwata J, Hosokawa R, Sanchez-Lara PA, Urata M, Slavkin H, Chai Y (2010) Transforming growth factor-beta regulates basal transcriptional regulatory machinery to control cell proliferation and differentiation in cranial neural crest-derived osteoprogenitor cells. J Biol Chem 285: 4975-82.

- Jabbur JR, Tabor AD, Cheng X, Wang H, Uesugi M, Lozano G, et al. (2002) Mdm-2 binding and TAF(II)31 recruitment is regulated by hydrogen bond disruption between the p53 residues Thr18 and Asp21. Oncogene 21: 7100-13.
- Jallow Z, Jacobi UG, Weeks DL, Dawid IB, Veenstra GJC (2004) Specialized and redundant roles of TBP and a vertebrate-specific TBP paralog in embryonic gene regulation in Xenopus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 13525-30.
- Jamora C, DasGupta R, Kocieniewski P, Fuchs E (2003) Links between signal transduction, transcription and adhesion in epithelial bud development. Nature 422: 317-22.
- Johnson SAS, Dubeau L, Kawalek M, Dervan A, Schönthal AH, Dang CV, et al. (2003) Increased expression of TATA-binding protein, the central transcription factor, can contribute to oncogenesis. Mol Cell Biol 23: 3043-51.
- Jurica MS, Moore MJ (2003) Pre-mRNA splicing: awash in a sea of proteins. Mol Cell 12: 5-14.
- Kalogeropoulou M, Voulgari A, Kostourou V, Sandaltzopoulos R, Dikstein R, Davidson I, et al. (2010) TAF4b and Jun/activating protein-1 collaborate to regulate the expression of integrin alpha6 and cancer cell migration properties. Mol Cancer Res 8: 554-68.
- Kan NG, Stemmler MP, Junghans D, Kanzler B, de Vries WN, Dominis M, et al. (2007) Gene replacement reveals a specific role for E-cadherin in the formation of a functional trophectoderm. Development 134: 31-41.
- Kang SK, Shin IS, Ko MS, Jo JY, Ra JC (2012) Journey of mesenchymal stem cells for homing: strategies to enhance efficacy and safety of stem cell therapy. Stem Cells Int 2012: 342968.
- Kapranov P, Willingham AT, Gingeras TR (2007) Genome-wide transcription and the implications for genomic organization. Nat Rev Genet 8: 413-23.
- Katzenberger RJ, Marengo MS, Wassarman DA (2006) ATM and ATR pathways signal alternative splicing of Drosophila TAF1 pre-mRNA in response to DNA damage. Mol Cell Biol 26: 9256-67.
- Katzenberger RJ, Marengo MS, Wassarman DA (2009) Control of alternative splicing by signal-dependent degradation of splicing-regulatory proteins. J Biol Chem 284: 10737-46.
- Kazantseva A, Sepp M, Kazantseva J, Sadam H, Pruunsild P, Timmusk T, Neuman T, Palm K (2009) N-terminally truncated BAF57 isoforms contribute to the diversity of SWI/SNF complexes in neurons. Journal of Neurochemistry 109: 807-818.

- Kazantseva J, Kivil A, Tints K, Kazantseva A, Neuman T, Palm K (2013) Alternative splicing targeting the hTAF4-TAFH domain of TAF4 represses proliferation and accelerates chondrogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. PLoS One 8: e74799.
- Kazantseva J, Tints K, Neuman T, Palm K (2014) TAF4 Controls Differentiation of Human Neural Progenitor Cells Through hTAF4-TAFH Activity. J Mol Neurosci.
- Kim NH, Kim HS, Kim N, Lee I, Choi H, Li X, et al. (2011) p53 and microRNA-34 are suppressors of canonical Wnt signaling. Sci Signal 4: ra71.
- Kimura J, Nguyen ST, Liu H, Taira N, Miki Y, Yoshida K (2008) A functional genome-wide RNAi screen identifies TAF1 as a regulator for apoptosis in response to genotoxic stress. Nucleic Acids Res 36: 5250-9.
- Kisielow M, Kleiner S, Nagasawa M, Faisal A, Nagamine Y (2002) Isoformspecific knockdown and expression of adaptor protein ShcA using small interfering RNA. Biochem J 363: 1-5.
- Kornberg R (2007) The molecular basis of eukaryotic transcription (Nobel Lecture). Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 46: 6956-65.
- Kornblihtt AR (2006) Chromatin, transcript elongation and alternative splicing. Nat Struct Mol Biol 13: 5-7.
- Kornblihtt AR (2007) Coupling transcription and alternative splicing. Adv Exp Med Biol 623: 175-89.
- Kornblihtt AR, de la Mata M, Fededa JP, Munoz MJ, Nogues G (2004) Multiple links between transcription and splicing. RNA 10: 1489-98.
- Krasteva V, Buscarlet M, Diaz-Tellez A, Bernard M, Crabtree GR, Lessard JA (2012) The BAF53a subunit of SWI/SNF-like BAF complexes is essential for hemopoietic stem cell function. Blood 120: 4720-32.
- Ku M, Jaffe JD, Koche RP, Rheinbay E, Endoh M, Koseki H, et al. (2012) H2A.Z landscapes and dual modifications in pluripotent and multipotent stem cells underlie complex genome regulatory functions. Genome Biol 13: R85.
- Kuras L, Struhl K (1999) Binding of TBP to promoters in vivo is stimulated by activators and requires Pol II holoenzyme. Nature 399: 609-13.
- Lang SE, McMahon SB, Cole MD, Hearing P (2001) E2F transcriptional activation requires TRRAP and GCN5 cofactors. J Biol Chem 276: 32627-34.
- Larue L, Antos C, Butz S, Huber O, Delmas V, Dominis M, et al. (1996) A role for cadherins in tissue formation. Development 122: 3185-94.

- Layer JH, Weil PA (2013) Direct TFIIA-TFIID protein contacts drive budding yeast ribosomal protein gene transcription. J Biol Chem 288: 23273-94.
- Lee OK, Kuo TK, Chen W, Lee K, Hsieh S, Chen T (2004) Isolation of multipotent mesenchymal stem cells from umbilical cord blood. Blood 103: 1669-75.
- Leichter M, Marko M, Ganou V, Patrinou-Georgoula M, Tora L, Guialis A (2011) A fraction of the transcription factor TAF15 participates in interactions with a subset of the spliceosomal U1 snRNP complex. Biochim Biophys Acta 1814: 1812-24.
- Levine M, Cattoglio C, Tjian R (2014) Looping Back to Leap Forward: Transcription Enters a New Era. Cell 157: 13-25.
- Lewis BP, Green RE, Brenner SE (2003) Evidence for the widespread coupling of alternative splicing and nonsense-mediated mRNA decay in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100: 189-92.
- Li AG, Piluso LG, Cai X, Gadd BJ, Ladurner AG, Liu X (2007) An acetylation switch in p53 mediates holo-TFIID recruitment. Mol Cell 28: 408-21.
- Li G, Satyamoorthy K, Herlyn M (2002) Dynamics of cell interactions and communications during melanoma development. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med 13: 62-70.
- Lin S, Chang DC, Chang-Lin S, Lin C, Wu DTS, Chen DT, et al. (2008) Mir-302 reprograms human skin cancer cells into a pluripotent ES-cell-like state. RNA 14: 2115-24.
- Liu W, Coleman RA, Grob P, King DS, Florens L, Washburn MP, et al. (2008) Structural changes in TAF4b-TFIID correlate with promoter selectivity. Mol Cell 29: 81-91.
- Liu X, Bushnell DA, Silva D, Huang X, Kornberg RD (2011) Initiation complex structure and promoter proofreading. Science 333: 633-7.
- Liu Z, Scannell DR, Eisen MB, Tjian R (2011) Control of embryonic stem cell lineage commitment by core promoter factor, TAF3. Cell 146: 720-31.
- Lorincz MC, Dickerson DR, Schmitt M, Groudine M (2004) Intragenic DNA methylation alters chromatin structure and elongation efficiency in mammalian cells. Nat Struct Mol Biol 11: 1068-75.
- Lu H, Levine AJ (1995) Human TAFII31 protein is a transcriptional coactivator of the p53 protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92: 5154-8.
- Maldonado E (1999) Transcriptional functions of a new mammalian TATAbinding protein-related factor. J Biol Chem 274: 12963-6.
- Malkowska M, Kokoszynska K, Rychlewski L, Wyrwicz L (2013) Structural bioinformatics of the general transcription factor TFIID. Biochimie 95: 680-91.

- Mani SA, Guo W, Liao M, Eaton EN, Ayyanan A, Zhou AY, et al. (2008) The epithelial-mesenchymal transition generates cells with properties of stem cells. Cell 133: 704-15.
- Marr MT 2nd (2009) TAF4 takes flight. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106: 1295-6.
- Martianov I, Cler E, Duluc I, Vicaire S, Philipps M, Freund J, et al. (2014) TAF4 Inactivation Reveals the 3 Dimensional Growth Promoting Activities of Collagen 6A3. PLoS One 9: e87365.
- Meier F, Schittek B, Busch S, Garbe C, Smalley K, Satyamoorthy K, et al. (2005) The RAS/RAF/MEK/ERK and PI3K/AKT signaling pathways present molecular targets for the effective treatment of advanced melanoma. Front Biosci 10: 2986-3001.
- Mengus G, Fadloun A, Kobi D, Thibault C, Perletti L, Michel I, et al. (2005) TAF4 inactivation in embryonic fibroblasts activates TGF beta signalling and autocrine growth. EMBO J 24: 2753-67.
- Mengus G, May M, Carré L, Chambon P, Davidson I (1997) Human TAF(II)135 potentiates transcriptional activation by the AF-2s of the retinoic acid, vitamin D3, and thyroid hormone receptors in mammalian cells. Genes Dev 11: 1381-95.
- Metsis M, Brunkhorst A, Neuman T (2001) Cell-type-specific expression of the TFIID component TAF(II)135 in the nervous system. Exp Cell Res 269: 214-21.
- Modrek B, Lee C (2002) A genomic view of alternative splicing. Nat Genet 30: 13-9.
- Mohan WS Jr, Scheer E, Wendling O, Metzger D, Tora L (2003) TAF10 (TAF(II)30) is necessary for TFIID stability and early embryogenesis in mice. Mol Cell Biol 23: 4307-18.
- Müller F, Demény MA, Tora L (2007) New problems in RNA polymerase II transcription initiation: matching the diversity of core promoters with a variety of promoter recognition factors. J Biol Chem 282: 14685-9.
- Müller F, Tora L (2009) TBP2 is a general transcription factor specialized for female germ cells. J Biol 8: 97.
- Müller F, Zaucker A, Tora L (2010) Developmental regulation of transcription initiation: more than just changing the actors. Curr Opin Genet Dev 20: 533-40.
- Na YR, Seok SH, Kim DJ, Han JH, Kim TH, Jung H, et al. (2009) Isolation and characterization of spheroid cells from human malignant melanoma cell line WM-266-4. Tumour Biol 30: 300-9.

- Nagy Z, Tora L (2007) Distinct GCN5/PCAF-containing complexes function as co-activators and are involved in transcription factor and global histone acetylation. Oncogene 26: 5341-57.
- Nelson WJ, Nusse R (2004) Convergence of Wnt, beta-catenin, and cadherin pathways. Science 303: 1483-7.
- Niehrs C (2006) Function and biological roles of the Dickkopf family of Wnt modulators. Oncogene 25: 7469-81.
- Nikolov DB, Burley SK (1997) RNA polymerase II transcription initiation: a structural view. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94: 15-22.
- Nikolov DB, Hu SH, Lin J, Gasch A, Hoffmann A, Horikoshi M, et al. (1992) Crystal structure of TFIID TATA-box binding protein. Nature 360: 40-6.
- Nishimura EK, Jordan SA, Oshima H, Yoshida H, Osawa M, Moriyama M, et al. (2002) Dominant role of the niche in melanocyte stem-cell fate determination. Nature 416: 854-60.
- Nogues G, Kadener S, Cramer P, Bentley D, Kornblihtt AR (2002) Transcriptional activators differ in their abilities to control alternative splicing. J Biol Chem 277: 43110-4.
- Nollet F, Kools P, van Roy F (2000) Phylogenetic analysis of the cadherin superfamily allows identification of six major subfamilies besides several solitary members. J Mol Biol 299: 551-72.
- Ohtsuki S, Levine M, Cai HN (1998) Different core promoters possess distinct regulatory activities in the Drosophila embryo. Genes Dev 12: 547-56.
- Peinado H, Portillo F, Cano A (2004) Transcriptional regulation of cadherins during development and carcinogenesis. Int J Dev Biol 48: 365-75.
- Perletti L, Dantonel JC, Davidson I (1999) The TATA-binding protein and its associated factors are differentially expressed in adult mouse tissues. J Biol Chem 274: 15301-4.
- Perletti L, Kopf E, Carré L, Davidson I (2001) Coordinate regulation of RARgamma2, TBP, and TAFII135 by targeted proteolysis during retinoic acid-induced differentiation of F9 embryonal carcinoma cells. BMC Mol Biol 2: 4.
- Pietsch J, Delalande J, Jakaitis B, Stensby JD, Dohle S, Talbot WS, et al. (2006) lessen encodes a zebrafish trap100 required for enteric nervous system development. Development 133: 395-406.
- Pijnappel WP, Kolkman A, Baltissen MP, Heck A Jr, Timmers HM (2009) Quantitative mass spectrometry of TATA binding protein-containing complexes and subunit phosphorylations during the cell cycle. Proteome Sci 7: 46.

- Pijnappel WWMP, Esch D, Baltissen MPA, Wu G, Mischerikow N, Bergsma AJ, et al. (2013) A central role for TFIID in the pluripotent transcription circuitry. Nature 495: 516-9.
- Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, et al. (1999) Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science 284: 143-7.
- Pittenger MF, Martin BJ (2004) Mesenchymal stem cells and their potential as cardiac therapeutics. Circ Res 95: 9-20.
- Plevin MJ, Mills MM, Ikura M (2005) The LxxLL motif: a multifunctional binding sequence in transcriptional regulation. Trends Biochem Sci 30: 66-9.
- Pointud J, Mengus G, Brancorsini S, Monaco L, Parvinen M, Sassone-Corsi P, et al. (2003) The intracellular localisation of TAF7L, a paralogue of transcription factor TFIID subunit TAF7, is developmentally regulated during male germ-cell differentiation. J Cell Sci 116: 1847-58.
- Price ER, Horstmann MA, Wells AG, Weilbaecher KN, Takemoto CM, Landis MW, et al. (1998) alpha-Melanocyte-stimulating hormone signaling regulates expression of microphthalmia, a gene deficient in Waardenburg syndrome. J Biol Chem 273: 33042-7.
- Prinos P, Garneau D, Lucier J, Gendron D, Couture S, Boivin M, et al. (2011) Alternative splicing of SYK regulates mitosis and cell survival. Nat Struct Mol Biol 18: 673-9.
- Proudfoot NJ, Furger A, Dye MJ (2002) Integrating mRNA processing with transcription. Cell 108: 501-12.
- Ptashne M, Gann A (1997) Transcriptional activation by recruitment. Nature 386: 569-77.
- Rabenstein MD, Zhou S, Lis JT, Tjian R (1999) TATA box-binding protein (TBP)-related factor 2 (TRF2), a third member of the TBP family. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96: 4791-6.
- Rachez C, Freedman LP (2001) Mediator complexes and transcription. Curr Opin Cell Biol 13: 274-80.
- Rappsilber J, Ryder U, Lamond AI, Mann M (2002) Large-scale proteomic analysis of the human spliceosome. Genome Res 12: 1231-45.
- Rau MJ, Fischer S, Neumann CJ (2006) Zebrafish Trap230/Med12 is required as a coactivator for Sox9-dependent neural crest, cartilage and ear development. Dev Biol 296: 83-93.
- Reid SJ, Whittaker DJ, Greenwood D, Snell RG (2009) A splice variant of the TATA-box binding protein encoding the polyglutamine-containing N-

terminal domain that accumulates in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res 1268: 190-9.

- Resch A, Xing Y, Modrek B, Gorlick M, Riley R, Lee C (2004) Assessing the impact of alternative splicing on domain interactions in the human proteome. J Proteome Res 3: 76-83.
- Ribeiro JR, Lovasco LA, Vanderhyden BC, Freiman RN (2014) Targeting TBP-Associated Factors in Ovarian Cancer. Front Oncol 4: 45.
- Ricci-Vitiani L, Pallini R, Larocca LM, Lombardi DG, Signore M, Pierconti F, et al. (2008) Mesenchymal differentiation of glioblastoma stem cells. Cell Death Differ 15: 1491-8.
- Romero PR, Zaidi S, Fang YY, Uversky VN, Radivojac P, Oldfield CJ, et al. (2006) Alternative splicing in concert with protein intrinsic disorder enables increased functional diversity in multicellular organisms. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103: 8390-5.
- Schatton T, Frank MH (2008) Cancer stem cells and human malignant melanoma. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res 21: 39-55.
- Schiltz RL, Mizzen CA, Vassilev A, Cook RG, Allis CD, Nakatani Y (1999) Overlapping but distinct patterns of histone acetylation by the human coactivators p300 and PCAF within nucleosomal substrates. J Biol Chem 274: 1189-92.
- Schmucker D, Clemens JC, Shu H, Worby CA, Xiao J, Muda M, et al. (2000) Drosophila Dscam is an axon guidance receptor exhibiting extraordinary molecular diversity. Cell 101: 671-84.
- Shake JG, Gruber PJ, Baumgartner WA, Senechal G, Meyers J, Redmond JM, et al. (2002) Mesenchymal stem cell implantation in a swine myocardial infarct model: engraftment and functional effects. Ann Thorac Surg 73: 1919-25; discussion 1926.
- Shandilya J, Roberts SGE (2012) The transcription cycle in eukaryotes: from productive initiation to RNA polymerase II recycling. Biochim Biophys Acta 1819: 391-400.
- Shimojo M, Shudo Y, Ikeda M, Kobashi T, Ito S (2013) The small cell lung cancer-specific isoform of RE1-silencing transcription factor (REST) is regulated by neural-specific Ser/Arg repeat-related protein of 100 kDa (nSR100). Mol Cancer Res 11: 1258-68.
- Siderakis M, Tarsounas M (2007) Telomere regulation and function during meiosis. Chromosome Res 15: 667-79.
- Siegert JL, Robbins PD (1999) Rb inhibits the intrinsic kinase activity of TATA-binding protein-associated factor TAFII250. Mol Cell Biol 19: 846-54.

- Singh SK, Clarke ID, Terasaki M, Bonn VE, Hawkins C, Squire J, et al. (2003) Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumors. Cancer Res 63: 5821-8.
- Steingrímsson E, Copeland NG, Jenkins NA (2004) Melanocytes and the microphthalmia transcription factor network. Annu Rev Genet 38: 365-411.
- Stemmler MP (2008) Cadherins in development and cancer. Mol Biosyst 4: 835-50.
- Sugiura S, Kashiwabara S, Iwase S, Baba T (2003) Expression of a testisspecific form of TBP-related factor 2 (TRF2) mRNA during mouse spermatogenesis. J Reprod Dev 49: 107-11.
- Suyama K, Shapiro I, Guttman M, Hazan RB (2002) A signaling pathway leading to metastasis is controlled by N-cadherin and the FGF receptor. Cancer Cell 2: 301-14.
- Taatjes DJ, Marr MT, Tjian R (2004) Regulatory diversity among metazoan coactivator complexes. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 5: 403-10.
- Tachibana M, Takeda K, Nobukuni Y, Urabe K, Long JE, Meyers KA, et al. (1996) Ectopic expression of MITF, a gene for Waardenburg syndrome type 2, converts fibroblasts to cells with melanocyte characteristics. Nat Genet 14: 50-4.
- Tadros W, Lipshitz HD (2009) The maternal-to-zygotic transition: a play in two acts. Development 136: 3033-42.
- Takata M, Goto Y, Ichii N, Yamaura M, Murata H, Koga H, et al. (2005) Constitutive activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway in acral melanomas. J Invest Dermatol 125: 318-22.
- Takeichi M (1991) Cadherin cell adhesion receptors as a morphogenetic regulator. Science 251: 1451-5.
- Talavera D, Orozco M, de la Cruz X (2009) Alternative splicing of transcription factors' genes: beyond the increase of proteome diversity. Comp Funct Genomics: 905894.
- Taneri B, Snyder B, Novoradovsky A, Gaasterland T (2004) Alternative splicing of mouse transcription factors affects their DNA-binding domain architecture and is tissue specific. Genome Biol 5: R75.
- Tang H, Sun X, Reinberg D, Ebright RH (1996) Protein-protein interactions in eukaryotic transcription initiation: structure of the preinitiation complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93: 1119-24.
- Tatarakis A, Margaritis T, Martinez-Jimenez CP, Kouskouti A, Mohan WS 2nd, Haroniti A, et al. (2008) Dominant and redundant functions of TFIID involved in the regulation of hepatic genes. Mol Cell 31: 531-43.

- Theodorou E, Dalembert G, Heffelfinger C, White E, Weissman S, Corcoran L, et al. (2009) A high throughput embryonic stem cell screen identifies Oct-2 as a bifunctional regulator of neuronal differentiation. Genes Dev 23: 575-88.
- Thomas MC, Chiang C (2006) The general transcription machinery and general cofactors. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol 41: 105-78.
- Thompson A, Ravid K (1999) Repression of A TAF(II)32 isoform as part of a program of genes regulated during mpl ligand-induced megakaryocyte differentiation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 262: 55-9.
- Thuault S, Gangloff Y, Kirchner J, Sanders S, Werten S, Romier C, et al. (2002) Functional analysis of the TFIID-specific yeast TAF4 (yTAF(II)48) reveals an unexpected organization of its histone-fold domain. J Biol Chem 277: 45510-7.
- Timmers HT, Sharp PA (1991) The mammalian TFIID protein is present in two functionally distinct complexes. Genes Dev 5: 1946-56.
- Topol L, Jiang X, Choi H, Garrett-Beal L, Carolan PJ, Yang Y (2003) Wnt-5a inhibits the canonical Wnt pathway by promoting GSK-3-independent beta-catenin degradation. J Cell Biol 162: 899-908.
- Vassallo MF, Tanese N (2002) Isoform-specific interaction of HP1 with human TAFII130. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99: 5919-24.
- Vermeulen L, Todaro M, de Sousa Mello F, Sprick MR, Kemper K, Perez Alea M, et al. (2008) Single-cell cloning of colon cancer stem cells reveals a multi-lineage differentiation capacity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105: 13427-32.
- Verrijzer CP, Chen JL, Yokomori K, Tjian R (1995) Binding of TAFs to core elements directs promoter selectivity by RNA polymerase II. Cell 81: 1115-25.
- Voronina E, Lovasco LA, Gyuris A, Baumgartner RA, Parlow AF, Freiman RN (2007) Ovarian granulosa cell survival and proliferation requires the gonadselective TFIID subunit TAF4b. Dev Biol 303: 715-26.
- Voulgari A, Voskou S, Tora L, Davidson I, Sasazuki T, Shirasawa S, et al. (2008) TATA box-binding protein-associated factor 12 is important for RAS-induced transformation properties of colorectal cancer cells. Mol Cancer Res 6: 1071-83.
- Wagers AJ, Weissman IL (2004) Plasticity of adult stem cells. Cell 116: 639-48.
- Walker AK, Rothman JH, Shi Y, Blackwell TK (2001) Distinct requirements for C.elegans TAF(II)s in early embryonic transcription. EMBO J 20: 5269-79.

- Wang ET, Sandberg R, Luo S, Khrebtukova I, Zhang L, Mayr C, et al. (2008) Alternative isoform regulation in human tissue transcriptomes. Nature 456: 470-6.
- Wang Q, Kumar S, Slevin M, Kumar P (2006) Functional analysis of alternative isoforms of the transcription factor PAX3 in melanocytes in vitro. Cancer Res 66: 8574-80.
- Wang S, Dibenedetto AJ, Pittman RN (1997) Genes induced in programmed cell death of neuronal PC12 cells and developing sympathetic neurons in vivo. Dev Biol 188: 322-36.
- Wang X, Truckses DM, Takada S, Matsumura T, Tanese N, Jacobson RH (2007) Conserved region I of human coactivator TAF4 binds to a short hydrophobic motif present in transcriptional regulators. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104: 7839-44.
- Wang Y, Faiola F, Xu M, Pan S, Martinez E (2008) Human ATAC Is a GCN5/PCAF-containing acetylase complex with a novel NC2-like histone fold module that interacts with the TATA-binding protein. J Biol Chem 283: 33808-15.
- Wang Z, Zhai W, Richardson JA, Olson EN, Meneses JJ, Firpo MT, et al. (2004) Polybromo protein BAF180 functions in mammalian cardiac chamber maturation. Genes Dev 18: 3106-16.
- Weeraratna AT, Jiang Y, Hostetter G, Rosenblatt K, Duray P, Bittner M, et al. (2002) Wnt5a signaling directly affects cell motility and invasion of metastatic melanoma. Cancer Cell 1: 279-88.
- Wei Y, Liu S, Lausen J, Woodrell C, Cho S, Biris N, et al. (2007) A TAF4homology domain from the corepressor ETO is a docking platform for positive and negative regulators of transcription. Nat Struct Mol Biol 14: 653-61.
- Werten S, Mitschler A, Romier C, Gangloff Y, Thuault S, Davidson I, et al. (2002) Crystal structure of a subcomplex of human transcription factor TFIID formed by TATA binding protein-associated factors hTAF4 (hTAF(II)135) and hTAF12 (hTAF(II)20). J Biol Chem 277: 45502-9.
- Wheelock MJ, Shintani Y, Maeda M, Fukumoto Y, Johnson KR (2008) Cadherin switching. J Cell Sci 121: 727-35.
- Widlund HR, Horstmann MA, Price ER, Cui J, Lessnick SL, Wu M, et al. (2002) Beta-catenin-induced melanoma growth requires the downstream target Microphthalmia-associated transcription factor. J Cell Biol 158: 1079-87.
- Wieczorek E, Brand M, Jacq X, Tora L (1998) Function of TAF(II)-containing complex without TBP in transcription by RNA polymerase II. Nature 393: 187-91.

- Wilhelm E, Kornete M, Targat B, Vigneault-Edwards J, Frontini M, Tora L, et al. (2010) TAF6delta orchestrates an apoptotic transcriptome profile and interacts functionally with p53. BMC Mol Biol 11: 10.
- Wilhelm E, Pellay F, Benecke A, Bell B (2008) TAF6delta controls apoptosis and gene expression in the absence of p53. PLoS One 3: e2721.
- Wilusz JE, Sunwoo H, Spector DL (2009) Long noncoding RNAs: functional surprises from the RNA world. Genes Dev 23: 1494-504.
- Wright KJ, Marr MT 2nd, Tjian R (2006) TAF4 nucleates a core subcomplex of TFIID and mediates activated transcription from a TATA-less promoter. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103: 12347-52.
- Wright KJ, Tjian R (2009) Wnt signaling targets ETO coactivation domain of TAF4/TFIID in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106: 55-60.
- Yan Z, Wang Z, Sharova L, Sharov AA, Ling C, Piao Y, et al. (2008) BAF250B-associated SWI/SNF chromatin-remodeling complex is required to maintain undifferentiated mouse embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells 26: 1155-65.
- Yazarloo F, Shirkoohi R, Mobasheri MB, Emami A, Modarressi MH (2013) Expression analysis of four testis-specific genes AURKC, OIP5, PIWIL2 and TAF7L in acute myeloid leukemia: a gender-dependent expression pattern. Med Oncol 30: 368.
- Yu Y, Eriksson P, Bhoite LT, Stillman DJ (2003) Regulation of TATA-binding protein binding by the SAGA complex and the Nhp6 high-mobility group protein. Mol Cell Biol 23: 1910-21.
- Yuan CX, Ito M, Fondell JD, Fu ZY, Roeder RG (1998) The TRAP220 component of a thyroid hormone receptor- associated protein (TRAP) coactivator complex interacts directly with nuclear receptors in a ligand-dependent fashion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95: 7939-44.
- Zeisberg M, Neilson EG (2009) Biomarkers for epithelial-mesenchymal transitions. J Clin Invest 119: 1429-37.
- Zeng C, Berget SM (2000) Participation of the C-terminal domain of RNA polymerase II in exon definition during pre-mRNA splicing. Mol Cell Biol 20: 8290-301.
- Zhang Z, Lin H, Shi M, Xu R, Fu J, Lv J, et al. (2012) Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells improve liver function and ascites in decompensated liver cirrhosis patients. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 27 Suppl 2: 112-20.
- Zhang Z, Zhou Y, Qian H, Shao G, Lu X, Chen Q, et al. (2013) Stemness and inducing differentiation of small cell lung cancer NCI-H446 cells. Cell Death Dis 4: e633.

- Zheng K, Yang F, Wang PJ (2010) Regulation of male fertility by X-linked genes. J Androl 31: 79-85.
- Zhou H, Kaplan T, Li Y, Grubisic I, Zhang Z, Wang PJ, et al. (2013) Dual functions of TAF7L in adipocyte differentiation. Elife 2: e00170.
- Zuk PA, Zhu M, Ashjian P, De Ugarte DA, Huang JI, Mizuno H, et al. (2002) Human adipose tissue is a source of multipotent stem cells. Mol Biol Cell 13: 4279-95.
- van Nuland R, Schram AW, van Schaik FMA, Jansen PWTC, Vermeulen M, Marc Timmers HT (2013) Multivalent engagement of TFIID to nucleosomes. PLoS One 8: e73495.
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network (2011) Integrated genomic analyses of ovarian carcinoma. Nature 474: 609-15.
- ENCODE Project Consortium, Birney E, Stamatoyannopoulos JA, Dutta A, Guigó R, Gingeras TR, et al. (2007) Identification and analysis of functional elements in 1% of the human genome by the ENCODE pilot project. Nature 447: 799-816.
- International Human Genome Sequencing Consortium (2004) Finishing the euchromatic sequence of the human genome. Nature 431: 931-45.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

These studies have been financed and carried out at Protobios LLC, FibroTx LLC and Cellin Technologies LLC, Estonia. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Kaia Palm, the CEO of Protobios LLC and my supervisor, for making it all happen. Her enormous competence in various branches of molecular and cellular biology, original ideas and valuable discussions gave me the possibilities for self-perfection and studying new methods and techniques; she drove me to pick up textbooks once again and learn more and more about exciting field of science – molecular biology. Thanks for the opportunity to work independently and for respect of my research. I learned from her much more than she realizes.

I am thankful to Toomas Neuman for providing me the chance to work in his companies, for his interest, valuable advices and readiness to help. His global understanding of key issues of cell biology and inexhaustible optimism supported me all the time.

I am very grateful to Erkki Truve. He employed me at Department of Gene Technology at Tallinn University of Technology and was the first supervisor here, in Tallinn. During my adaptation period, he and his colleagues from Laboratory of Plant Molecular Biology supported and taught me a lot. Thank you all – Cecilia Sarmiento, Lenne Nigul, Eve-Ly Ojangu, Heiti Paves, Merike Sõmera and others. All of you were my first family in the lab. It was pleasure to share working and free time with you.

I would also like to thank Peep Palumaa, his past and present group members for giving me the opportunity to work on their projects. It was nice time to work with all of you – Julia Smirnova, Kairit Zovo, Olga Blazhevitch – thank you very much!

Many thanks to my colleagues from Protobios: Helle Sadam for critical thinking, valuable discussions, sharp mind and pleasant atmosphere in our room; Ave Laas for help and optimism; Kersti Jääger for understanding, readiness to listen and discuss different aspects of molecular biology and life in whole; Alla Piirsoo for friendship and acceptance of all my thoughts, scientific discussions, sharing experience and willingness to help. You gave me a lot! My warmest thanks to Anri Kivil, Kairit Tints, Jelena Arshavskaja, Marina Arik, Kadri Orro, Anželika Sarapuu, Susan Pihelgas, Ave Kris Lend and others! I was happy to work with you. Particular thanks go to Rita Zobel. Your energy, positive smile and creation of special atmosphere at work are invaluable. I am thankful to Epp Väli and Maila Rähn for excellent technical support.

Special thanks and sincere gratitude to my friend and past colleague Anastassia Voronova. In the critical moments of life she was always ready to help me with advice, proofreading of my manuscripts or just to share free time and good mood with me. I miss you here, in Tallinn!

I also wish to thank my colleagues from Department of Gene Technology at Tallinn University of Technology for help and sharing their experience: Mari Sepp, Indrek Koppel, Priit Pruunsild, Lagle Kasak, Marko Piirsoo – thank you for everything.

I am grateful to Andres Veske, Anu Aaspõllu and Marko Piirsoo for incredible help in the final stages of my PhD study. Your support was enormous.

My warmest gratitude goes to my family, to my parents and sister Anna for unconditional belief in me and support in any time and all circumstances. Your love and care supported me throughout my life. I am thankful to my husband Mikhail for understanding and love. It gave me the new strength to go on. My very special thanks go to my daughters – Ksenia and Anna-Maria. Your contribution in my life and work is endless; I am learning a lot from you and with you; you are my best inspiration, motivation and meaning of life.

SUMMARY

Development is a highly controlled process of cell proliferation and differentiation driven by mechanisms of dynamic gene regulation. For establishing cell- and tissue-specific transcriptional programmes, the function of distinct DNA-binding factors has been analyzed in different cell and animal models. However, much less is known about the role of "general transcription machinery" during normal development and in pathologies. Together with transcription, alternative splicing is a key regulatory mechanism for generating proteomic complexity and promoting phenotypic diversity of eukaryotes.

In this work, we focus on the role of TATA-box protein associated factor 4 (TAF4) and its functional isoforms generated by alternative splicing. The aims of the thesis were (i) to characterize the patterns of alternative splicing of TAF4 in various human cells and across tissues; (ii) to study the cellular functions of TAF4 isoforms, and (iii) to assess the impact of differential splicing patterns of *TAF4* on cancer progression.

The current study demonstrates that different human cells and tissues have distinct alternative splicing patterns of TAF4. Some alternative transcripts are abundant, while others are expressed at low level and in cell-type specific manner. Interestingly, the most prone to alternative splicing regulation is the coactivator-binding hTAF4-TAFH domain. Affecting splicing of exons encoding hTAF4-TAFH domain, the TAF4 activity drastically changes. Applying RNA interference (RNAi) approach, suppression of hTAF4-TAFH function enhanced chondrogenic, but not adipo- and osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). In addition, hTAF4-TAFH RNAi resulted in accelerated differentiation of neural progenitor cells and spontaneous melanocyte-like differentiation of facial dermal fibroblasts. Conversely, transient overexpression of canonical TAF4 in neural progenitor cells yielded in decreased expression of neural-specific genes and increased expression of major transcription factors regulating pluripotency. Along with this, melanoma cells express complex patterns of TAF4 mRNAs. Shifting of these patterns by hTAF4-TAFH RNAi resulted in dominant expression of hTAF4-TAFH-impaired ASVs and effective initiation of neuronal and chondrogenic differentiation programs in melanoma cells. In contrast, high levels of canonical TAF4 activity in melanoma cells increased the expression of the core pluripotency factors. Finally, changes in the expression of TAF4 alternative splice variants (ASVs) had severe consequences on cell motility as assessed by using transwell migration assays. Fibroblasts and melanoma cells with enforced predominant expression of full-length TAF4 have decreased motility, while impairment of hTAF4-TAFH function promoted cellular migration via E-/N-cadherin switching. Altogether, these findings suggested the key role of TAF4 ASVs in the malignant transformation of dermis.

In conclusion, the work done in this thesis provides novel insights to the role of alternative splicing of TAF4 in multipotency maintenance and cancer progression. These results provide new prospect for cellular therapies and could help in searching of new effective anti-cancer strategies.

KOKKUVÕTE

Organismi areng on rakkude jagunemisel ja diferentseerumisel põhinev hästi kontrollitud protsess, mille aluseks on geeni regulatsioonimehanismide dünaamika. Raku- ja koespetsiifilise transkriptsiooni mõistmiseks on põhjalikult uuritud erinevate DNA-ga seonduvate transkriptsiooni faktorite aktiivsust nii rakukui loomkatsetes. Ometi on oluliselt vähem teada "üldise transkriptsioonimasinavärgi" rollist normaalses arengus ja haiguse patogeneesis. Koos transkriptsiooniga omab alternatiivne splaising võtmerolli eükarüootses geeniregulatsioonis kindlustades rakkude fenotüübiliseks mitmekesisuseks vajaliku proteoomi komplekssuse.

Käesolevas töös keskendusime TATA-box- elemendiga seonduva valguga assotseeritud faktori 4 (TAF4) uurimisele ja selle alternatiivsest splaisingust tulenevate isovormide funktsiooni kirjeldamisele. Doktoritöö eesmärkideks oli (i) iseloomustada TAF4 alternatiivse splaisingu mustreid erinevates inimese rakutüüpides ja kudedes; (ii) uurida TAF4 isovormide rakulisi funktsioone, ja (iii) hinnata TAF4 erinevate splaisingumustrite mõju vähi tekkele ja progressioonile.

Antud uurimus näitab, et erinevad inimese rakud ja koed omavad erinevaid TAF4 splaisingumustreid. Samal ajal kui mõned alternatiivsed transkriptid on ulatuslikult ekspresseeritud, on teised madalal tasemel või rakutüübispetsiifiliselt avaldunud. Huvitaval kombel on alternatiivse splaisingu regulatsioonist kõige enim mõjutatud ko-aktivaatoriga seonduv hTAF4-TAFH domään. Mõjutades hTAF4-TAFH domääni kodeerivate eksonite splaisingut muutub järsult TAF4 aktiivsus. Rakendades RNA interferentsi (RNAi) meetodit suurendas hTAF4-TAFH funktsiooni mahasurumine mesenhümaalsete tüvirakkude diferentseerumist kõhre-, kuid mitte rasv- ja luukoe suunas. Lisaks põhjustas hTAF4-TAFH RNAi neuraalsete tüvirakkude varast diferentseerumist ning näo piirkonna fibroblastide spontaanset diferentseerumist melanotsüüdisarnasteks rakkudeks. Vastupidiselt, kanoonilise TAF4 kõrgendatud tase neuraalsetes tüvirakkudes viis neuronspetsiifiliste geenide ekspressiooni vähenemisele. samas tõstes peamiste pluripotentsust reguleerivate transkriptsioonifaktorite taset. TAF4 mRNAde mustri muutmine hTAF4-TAFH RNAi abil soodustas melanoomi rakkudes efektiivset neuraalset ja kõhrelist diferentseerumist. Samal ajal, kanoonilise TAF4 aktiivsuse tõus tõi kaasa melanoomi rakkudes peamiste pluripotentsuse faktorite ekspressiooni tasemetes olulise tõusu. Lisaks olid muutustel TAF4 ASV ekspressioonis tõsised tagajärjed rakkude liikuvusele, mis tuvastati kasutades transwell migratsiooni meetodit. Eelistatult kanoonilist TAF4 isovormi ekspresseerivad fibroblastid ja melanotsüüdid on vähese liikuvusega, samal ajal kui hTAF4-TAFH aktiivsuse vaigistamine soodustas E-/N-kadheriinide lülitusmehanismi industeerimise abil olulist tõusu rakkude liikuvuses. Kokkuvõtvalt võib antud tulemuste põhjal

järeldada, et *TAF4* ASV-d omavad üliolulist rolli naharakkude haiguslikes protsessides.

Kokkuvõtteks, käesoleva doktoritöö raames tehtud uurimus annab uudse käsitluse *TAF4* alternatiivse splaisingu rollile rakkude multipotentsuse hoidmisel ja vähi tekkes. Antud tulemused pakuvad uusi väljavaateid rakuteraapilisteks rakendusteks ja võivad kaasa aidata uute efektiivsete vähivastaste ravimite arendamisel.

PUBLICATION I

Kazantseva, J., Kivil, A., Tints, K., Kazantseva, A., Neuman, T., Palm, K. (2013) Alternative splicing targeting the hTAF4-TAFH domain of TAF4 represses proliferation and accelerates chondrogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. PLoS One. 2013 Oct 2; 8(10):e74799.
Alternative Splicing Targeting the hTAF4-TAFH Domain of TAF4 Represses Proliferation and Accelerates Chondrogenic Differentiation of Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Jekaterina Kazantseva¹, Anri Kivil^{1,2}, Kairit Tints¹, Anna Kazantseva^{1,2}, Toomas Neuman¹, Kaia Palm^{1,2}*

1 Protobios LLC, Tallinn, Estonia, 2 The Department of Gene Technology, Tallinn University of Technology, Tallinn, Estonia

Abstract

Transcription factor IID (TFIID) activity can be regulated by cellular signals to specifically alter transcription of particular subsets of genes. Alternative splicing of TFIID subunits is often the result of external stimulation of upstream signaling pathways. We studied tissue distribution and cellular expression of different splice variants of TFIID subunit *TAF4* mRNA and biochemical properties of its isoforms in human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) to reveal the role of different isoforms of TAF4 in the regulation of proliferation and differentiation. Expression of *TAF4* transcripts with exons VI or VII deleted, which results in a structurally modified hTAF4-TAFH domain, increases during early differentiation of hMSCs into osteoblasts, adipocytes and chondrocytes. Functional analysis data reveals that TAF4 isoforms with the deleted hTAF4-TAFH domain repress proliferation at the expense of other developmental pathways. This study also provides initial data showing possible cross-talks between TAF4 and TP53 activity and switching between canonical and non-canonical WNT signaling in the processes of proliferation and differentiation of hMSCs. We propose that TAF4 isoforms generated by the alternative splicing participate in the conversion of the cellular transcriptional programs from the maintenance of stem cell state to differentiation, particularly differentiation along the chondrogenic pathways.

Citation: Kazantseva J, Kivil A, Tints K, Kazantseva A, Neuman T, et al. (2013) Alternative Splicing Targeting the hTAF4-TAFH Domain of TAF4 Represses Proliferation and Accelerates Chondrogenic Differentiation of Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells. PLoS ONE 8(10): e74799. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0074799

Editor: Huating Wang, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, China

Received April 3, 2013; Accepted August 6, 2013; Published October 2, 2013

Copyright: © 2013 Kazantseva et al. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Funding: This study was supported by Protobios's grants from the Enterprise of Estonia and baseline financing from Estonian Ministry of Education and Research. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing Interests: This study was supported by Protobios's grants from the Enterprise of Estonia. All authors are employed by Protobios LLC. There are no patents, products in development or marketed products to declare. This does not alter the authors' adherence to all the PLOS ONE policies on sharing data and materials, as detailed on-line in the guide for authors.

* E-mail: kaia@protobios.com

Introduction

Transcription initiation by RNA polymerase II requires assembly of general transcription factors (GTFs) to form a functional preinitiation complex (PIC). Recent data shows that the composition of the general transcriptional machinery is not static but spatio-temporally regulated during development of different tissues [1]. Genetic, functional and biochemical studies using different cell types and model organisms have revealed the existence of the alternative initiation complexes [2].

Transcription factor complex TFIID is one of the main components of the general transcriptional machinery. It consists of TATA binding protein (TBP) and up to 14 TBP-associated factors (TAFs) [3]. TFIID is essential for promoter recognition and interactions with transactivators [4]. Most recently, it was established that the human TFIID core complex contains two copies each of TAF4, TAF5, TAF6, TAF9 and TAF12 [5]. TBP and TAFs are highly regulated [6,7], whereas modified forms of TFIID selectively act on specific transcriptional networks. For example, TAF4b in cooperation with c-Jun drives tissue-specific programs of gene expression [8], whereas TAF10 is essential for the expression of a subset of genes required for cell cycle progression [9]. The loss of a specific TAF function always affects a defined subset of genes [10] indicating that each TAF has a different and distinct role in transcription of certain but not all genes.

TAF4 plays a critical role in maintaining TFIID complex structural stability [11]. Metazoan TAF4 protein has conserved the N-terminal glutamine-rich domain followed by the coactivator TAF4-homology ETO-TAFH/CRI/NHR1 (TAFH) domain in the central part of the protein and C-terminal histone-like (CRII) domain [12]. The four glutamine-rich domains of human TAF4 have been shown to mediate interactions with activators CREB [13] and Sp1 [14-16]. The interactions of TAFH domain with N-CoR and its repressive activity on transcription through its interaction with E-proteins have been reported [17]. However, the human TAF4 TAFH domain (hTAF4-TAFH) represents a five-helix structure that is characteristic to vertebrates only and therefore has a distinct although related interaction specificity from that of the other TAFH domains [18]. The role of HDACs, methyltransferases, and the PBX family of transcription factors as interaction partners of hTAF4-TAFH has been postulated [18]. The importance of TAFH domain in WNT signaling in Drosophila has been established [19], suggesting the role of hTAF4-TAFH in development, cell fate determination and differentiation.

Structural and functional diversity of cell-specific GTFs and complex molecular mechanisms regulating their activity during development and differentiation are well described. Data on the impact of individual TFIID subunits on cell differentiation are controversial [20–22]. In *C. elegans*, TAF4 in cooperation with zinc finger proteins OMA-1/2 drives global repression of transcription and regulates oogenesis [23]. Undifferentiated embryonic stem cells express only a subset of canonical TAFs, lacking TAF4 [24]. Regulated TAF4 degradation has been reported to be essential for male germ-cell differentiation [25]. TAF4b, a TAF4 paralog, is required for oocyte development [26] and participates in the proper maintenance of spermatogenesis in the mammalian testis [27]. No data on TAF4 developmental expression patterns and the functional effects of directed silencing and deregulation of the hTFA4-TAFH domain have been available up to now.

During developmental signaling, alternative splicing resulting in distinct protein isoforms with specific biochemical properties are a prevalent mechanism in modulating the function of many transcription factors. Alternatively spliced mRNAs are identified for all TAF subunits [28]. Nevertheless, only a few studies have addressed the role of TAF protein isoforms in a cell and tissue specific context. In humans, TAF68 isoform, in opposed to major TAF6a isoform, triggers apoptosis [7]. In Drosophila, two isoforms, TAF1-1 and TAF1-2, differ in their DNA binding activities and contribution to gene-specific transcription [29]. Currently, five alternatively spliced murine Taf4 mRNAs have been described [30]. These splice variants encode protein isoforms that differ in the structure of their TAFH and CRII domains and affinity for different nuclear receptors. Some are expressed in a cell-type specific manner and exhibit dominant negative effects on nuclear receptor-mediated TAF4 transcription.

Here we describe functional consequences of alternative splicing of TAF4 affecting the integrity of the hTAF4-TAFH domain on human mesenchymal stem cell proliferation and differentiation. Our data suggests that alternative splicing of TAF4 is one of the key processes influencing stem cell differentiation and reprogramming.

Materials and Methods

Ethics Statement

Experiments using human material were approved by the Ethics Committee of the National Institute for Health Development, Tallinn, Estonia (Approval No 2234 from Dec 09, 2010) and written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

Cell culture

Human MSCs were obtained from freshly isolated subcutaneous adipose tissue as previously reported [31] and published by Kauts et al. [32]. Description of the donors and the use of human cells in different studies are provided in Table S1. The cells were expanded in a medium consisting of low glucose Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium with glutamine (DMEM-LG) (PAA Laboratories, Austria) supplemented with 1% penicillin/streptomycin (PAA Laboratories) and 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (PAA Laboratories) in a humidified atmosphere at $37\,^{\circ}$ C and 5%CO₂. The first plating of the cells after the isolation was designated as passage 0 (P0), and each splitting of confluent cells was considered as the next passage. The cells from passages between P2 and P5 were used in the functional assays in the present study.

siRNA transfection

Small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) targeting exons V and VI of TAF4 were designed as 5'-GGUUAUACCGAGAACUUAA-dTdT-3' and 5'- CAGCUAAUGUGAAAGAGCU-dTdT-3' respectively. Silence[®] Select TAF4 siRNAs and Negative Control #2 synthetic scrambled siRNAs were purchased from Ambion, Invitrogen (UK). hMSCs were trypsinized 24 h before transfection and treated with 50 nM of each siRNA using Lipofectamin RNAiMAX reagent (Invitrogen, UK) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Normal growth medium was added 24 h after transfection and changed every three days. All experiments were done using siRNAs targeting exons V and VI of TAF4, whereas results generated using siRNAs targeting exon VI of TAF4 were used for data presentation.

Differentiation Procedures

Approximately 90% confluent hMSCs at passages P2 to P5 were transfected with TAF4 or control siRNAs and 24 h later treated with adipogenic, chondrogenic or osteogenic type of differentiation media for up to 7 days. Adipogenic differentiation medium consisted of DMEM/F-12 (Gibco, Invitrogen, UK) supplemented with 5% heat-inactivated FBS, 10 µg/ml insulin (Sigma, USA), 0.5 mM IBMX (Sigma, USA), 0.1 mM indomethacin (Sigma, USA) and 1 µM dexamethasone (Sigma, USA). Osteogenic differentiation medium consisted of DMEM-F12 supplemented with 5% heat-inactivated FBS, 10 nM BMP6 (PeproTech, USA), 10 nM dexamethasone, 10 mM and βglycerolphosphate (Sigma, USA). Chondrogenic differentiation medium consisted of DMEM-High Glucose (PAA Laboratories) supplemented with 10 nM TGF-B1 (PeproTech, USA), 0,1 µM dexamethasone, 1 mM ascorbic acid-2-phosphate (Sigma, USA), 1 mM sodium pyruvate (Gibco, Invitrogen, UK) and 1% insulintransferrin-selenium-X (Gibco, Invitrogen, UK). Lipid-rich vacuoles were visualized using Oil-Red-O (Sigma, USA) staining performed as described [33]. Osteogenic differentiation was assessed using alkaline phosphatase substrate NBT/BCIP (Pierce Biotechnology Rockford, IL, USA) as described [34]. Chondrogenic differentiation was assessed by immunofluorescence staining.

Immunofluorescence

hMSCs were grown on 22-mm 2 glass slides to about 70% confluency, treated with control or TAF4 siRNAs and induced with differentiation supporting media for chondrogenic differentiation for 5 days. Cells were washed once with 1xPBS, fixed using 4% paraformaldehyde (Scharlau, Germany) in 1xPBS for 20 min at RT, washed 3 times with 1xPBS and blocked in 1xTBS containing 0.05% Tween20 (TBS-T) and 2% of bovine serum albumin (BSA) for 2 h at RT. Primary antibodies against COL2A1 (Millipore, MAB1330, 1:100) and SOX9 (Millipore, AB5535, 1:500) were diluted in 1xTBS containing 0.01% Tween20 and 0.2% BSA. Cells were incubated with primary antibodies for 2 h at RT, washed three times with TBS-T and incubated with anti-rabbit Alexa Flour 546 or anti-mouse Alexa Flour 488 secondary antibodies (Molecular Probes, Invitrogen, UK) for 1 h at RT in the dark. Cells were washed three times with TBS-T and mounted using ProLong Gold antifade reagent (Invitrogen, UK). Images were obtained using a Nikon Eclipse 80i fluorescence microscope (Nikon Instruments Inc., USA).

RNA isolation, RT-PCR and Real-Time PCR

A normal human tissue RNA panel was purchased from BioChain Institute Inc. (CA, USA). Total RNA was purified using Trizol reagent (Invitrogen, UK) following the manufacturer's recommendations. The RNA concentration was determined using a NanoDrop ND-1000 instrument (Thermo Scientific, USA). cDNA was synthesized from DNase-treated (Ambion, Invitrogen, UK) RNA with Superscript III (Invitrogen, UK) and mixture of oligo dT and random hexamers, according to the manufacturer's recommendations. RT-PCR was carried out using HOT FIRE-pol® Master Mix (Solis Biodyne, Estonia). Real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) was performed in triplicate using Platinum® SYBR® Green qPCR SuperMix-UDG (Invitrogen, UK) and the LightCycler® 480 Real-Time PCR System (Roche Applied Science). The fold of change was calculated relative to the control siRNAs after normalization to *GAPDH* expression. Primer sequences are listed in Table S2.

Protein extraction and immunoblot

TAF4 or control siRNA-treated cells were collected by trypsin-EDTA (PAA Laboratories) and washed once with ice-cold 1xPBS. Cell fractionation was carried out according to modified Dignam protocol [35] using 0.2% Nonidet P-40 in the lysis buffer as described by Kazantseva et al. [36]. Total protein concentration of nuclear lysates or whole cell extracts was measured using a BCA Protein Assay kit (Pierce Biotechnology Rockford, IL, USA). Equal amounts of total protein in a nuclear lysate or a whole cell extract were separated on 10% polyacrylamide gel and blotted to PVDF membrane (GE Healthcare). The membrane was treated as described [37] using a non-blocking technique. The following antibodies were used: TAF4 (BD Biosciences, 612054), CDKN1A (Santa Cruz, sc-756), TP53^{Scr15} (Cell Signaling, 9284), ADIPOO (Chemicon, MAB3604), PPARG2 (Chemicon, MAB3872), RUNX2 (Abcam, ab76956), OPN (Santa Cruz, sc-10591), COL21A (Millipore, MAB1330), MMP13 (Biomol, SA-371), SOX9 (Millipore, AB5535), ß-catenin (Santa Cruz, sc-7963) and GAPDH (Sigma, G8795) antibodies. Secondary HRP-conjugated antibodies were purchased from Abcam (UK). Proteins were visualized using SuperSignal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate (Pierce Biotechnology Rockford, IL, USA).

WST-1 Cell Proliferation Assay

hMSCs were grown in 96-well flat bottom tissue culture plates to 80% confluency and treated with *TAF4* or control siRNA. WST-1 reagent (Roche Applied Science) was added following the manufacturer's instructions and plates were returned to 37°C for 2 h. Dye conversion was measured using SPECTRAmax 340 PC Microplate Reader (Molecular Devises LLC, USA) and the data were analyzed using Softmax Pro 3.12 software. Cell viability was evaluated every 24 h, up to 96 h post-treatment.

Cell cycle analysis

hMSCs after siRNA treatments were harvested by trypsinization, washed with 1xPBS and counted using a NucleoCounter NC-100 (Chemometec, Denmark). Approximately 4×10^5 cells were resuspended in 1 ml of 1xPBS containing 2% FBS and fixed with ice-cold ethanol (70% v/v) overnight at -20°C. Cell pellets were exposed to 100 µg/ml of RNaseA (Fermentas, Thermo Scientific) and 40 µg/ml of Propidium Iodide (AppliChem GmbH) in 1xPBS for 30 min at RT in the dark. Cell cycle distribution was assessed using Accuri C6 flow cytometer (BD Biosciences). For each sample, 10 000 individual events were collected.

Senescence-associated ß-galactosidase assay

Senescence-associated β -galactosidase (SA- β -gal) activity was examined as previously described [38]. Cells treated with 1 μ M 4-NQO (Sigma) were used as a positive control. SA- β -gal activity was analyzed 48 h after siRNA treatment.

Results

Tissue- specific alternative splicing of human TAF4 targeting TAFH domain

To identify tissue-specific expression patterns of human TAF4 mRNA splice variants, RT-PCR method with subsequent sequencing analyses of PCR fragments was used. Sequence analysis of the RT-PCR products revealed a variety of tissuespecific splice variants preserving the reading frame (Figure 1). However, a significant number of TAF4 alternatively spliced mRNAs contained a premature termination codon, indicating that these splice variants are subject to nonsense-mediated RNA decay (data not shown). Tissue-restricted splicing patterns of TAF4 containing in-frame splicing events encoding protein isoforms are shown in Fig. 1A. Schematic presentation of ten different TAF4 isoforms encoded by different splice variants is shown in Figure 1B. Interestingly, alternative splicing frequently targets exons VI and VII encoding the hTAF4-TAFH domain (Fig. 1B). As shown in Figure 1, the structure of the hTAF4-TAFH domain is apparently different in all isoforms except TAF4_v1 and TAF4_v3, as evidenced by sequence analysis of identified TAF4 mRNA alternative splice variants (ASVs) containing exonal deletions (TAF4_v2, TAF4_v4-9) or extensions (TAF4_v10) with ORF preservation. Transcripts TAF4_v3 and TAF4_v8 differ also in their N-terminal part.

In many tissues examined, certain alternatively spliced TAF4 mRNAs were expressed approximately at the same levels. Two TAF4 ASVs, TAF4_v1 and TAF4_v2, were the most abundant and the most broadly expressed splice variants detected in all tissues analyzed (Fig. 1A). TAF4_v1 corresponds to the longest transcript (GenBank NM_003185.3). Alternatively spliced TAF4 mRNAs with altered hTAF4-TAFH domains exhibit distinct patterns of tissue-specific expression. Alternatively spliced TAF4_v2 mRNAs containing simultaneously a deletion of exons VI - IX and an inframe stop codon in the exon X encode TAF4 protein isoforms with the entire hTAF4-TAFH domain deleted. The ratio and levels of TAF4_v1 and TAF4_v2 expression varied across tissues with TAF4_v2 dominating in bone marrow, kidney, ovary, placenta, prostate, testis and thymus and barely detectable in colon, skin and spleen. Other alternative mRNA splice variants of TAF4 were highly tissue-specific. TAF4_v4 mRNAs lacking exon VII that encodes a part of the hTAF4-TAFH domain were identified only in ovary, placenta, stomach, testis and thymus (Fig. 1A). Expression of TAF4_v5 mRNAs with deleted exon VI encoding the major part of the hTAF4-TAFH domain overlapped with expression of TAF4_v4 in all tissues except for ovary (Fig. 1A).

Differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells to adipocytes, osteoblasts and chondrocytes is associated with expression of *TAF4* transcripts with the deleted hTAF4-TAFH domain

Analysis of expression of TAF4 splice variants revealed dominant expression of $TAF4_v1$ in proliferating hMSCs (**Fig. 2A**). Splice variant $TAF4_v2$, which encodes a protein isoform with the entire hTAF4-TAFH removed, showed different expression in hMSCs isolated from different individuals. It was



В



Figure 1. Expression analysis of *TAF4* alternative splice variants in human tissues. (A) RT-PCR analysis of human tissues using *TAF4* transcript-specific primers. Primers for the full-length *TAF4_v1* amplify all splice variants, whereas ASV-specific primers generate predominantly one PCR product. The numbers of PCR cycles and exposure times of the images for each set of primers vary and cannot be directly compared. The arrow indicates the canonical *TAF4_v1* ASV. (B) Schematic representation of the human *TAF4* gene structure and its alternative splice variants drawn in scale. The regions encoding the respective domains are indicated above the gene structure. Filled boxes represent the coding regions of the ASVs. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0074799.g001

detected at a low level only in a few hMSC isolates, indicating that $TAF4_v2$ is a rare transcript (**Fig. 2A**). Alternative splice variants of TAF4 encoding for proteins with a structurally altered hTAF4-TAFH domain become more abundant in the course of differentiation of hMSCs into adipocytes, osteoblasts and chondrocytes (**Fig. 2B**). Expression of $TAF4_v2$ ASV was observed in all differentiated hMSCs together with $TAF4_v1$ and other splice variants (**Fig. 2B**). The data clearly shows that hMSC differentiation along adipo-, osteo- and chondrogenic lineages was accompanied by changes in the expression of $TAF4_r4F4$ mRNA splice variants with a structurally altered hTAF4-TAFH domain.

RNAi analysis was carried out using two structurally different siRNAs targeting exons V or VI in N-terminal half of the hTAF4-TAFH domain of *TAF4* to evaluate the role of the hTAF4-TAFH domain in differentiation of hMSCs (**Fig. 2C**). We verified, using semi-quantitative RT-PCR and Western blot analysis, that the siRNAs silenced their corresponding exon-containing transcripts

efficiently (Fig. 2C, D). Both, TAF4_ex5_siRNA and TAF4_ex6_siRNA resulted in a significant down-regulation of their transcriptional target, TAF4_v1, at the mRNA and protein levels as compared to cells transfected with control siRNAs only (Fig. 2C, D and data not shown). As both siRNAs had similar effects on transcriptional silencing of TAF4_v1, we further refer to TA-F4_ex5_siRNA or TAF4_ex6_siRNA as TAF4 siRNA. Intriguingly, silencing of TAF4_v1 resulted in the up-regulation of alternatively spliced TAF4 v2 and TAF4 v5 mRNAs and decreased expression of TAF4_v4 mRNA levels (Fig. 2C) suggesting a feedback loop in controlling alternative splicing of TAF4. Prolonged treatments of hMSCs with TAF4 siRNAs resulted in the induced expression of TAF4_v5 mRNAs and significantly reduced expression of TAF4_v4 mRNAs. However, this alternative splice profile is individualspecific and each donor has its own TAF4 ASVs composition. Western blot analysis data revealed that hMSCs expressed the canonical form of TAF4 protein at relatively low levels, whereas



Figure 2. Expression of TAF4 splice variants and isoforms in human MSCs differentiated into adipocytes, osteoblasts or chondrocytes and treated with *TAF4* RNAi. (A) RT-PCR analysis of different individual hMSCs clones (hMSCs 1–5) using *TAF4_v1a* (full length) specific primers (see Table S2). Expression of *GAPDH* mRNA is shown at the bottom. (**B**) Expression of *TAF4* ASVs encoding proteins with compromised hTAF4-TAFH domain is dominant in differentiated hMSCs. RT-PCR analysis using *TAF4* ASV-specific primers was performed 7 days after induction of differentiation of hMSCs towards adipo-, osteo- and chondrogenic lineages. *GAPDH* mRNA expression was used for the normalization. (**C**) Expression of *TAF4* ASVs following treatment of human MSCs with control and hTAF4-TAFH-domain targeting *TAF4* siRNAs. Cells were treated with *TAF4* or control siRNAs at the indicated time points and RT-PCR analysis performed using *TAF4* ASV-specific primers. Analysis of *GAPDH* mRNA expression was used for normalization. (**D**) siRNA-mediated silencing targeting *TAF4* exons V or VI induces changes in the expression of TAF4 protein isoforms as detected at 48 h post-treatment using Western blot analysis. The asterisk indicates the canonical form of TAF4 protein with the molecular weight of 135 kDa, two asterisks indicate TAF4_v2 isoform with a calculated molecular weight of about 73 kDa. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0074799.g002

upon RNAi targeting of the hTAF4-TAFH domain the pattern of TAF4 isoforms changed significantly (**Fig. 2D**). As evidenced in **Figure 2D**, the RNAi induced changes could involve the most abundant isoform TAF4_v2 with the calculated molecular weight of 73 kDa. Given that TAF4 isoforms (TAF4_v1, _v4, _v5, _v6, _v7, _v9) have relatively similar calculated molecular weights, the Western blot resolution was insufficient to make conclusive identification of these isoforms upon RNAi. Accordingly, siRNAs targeting exons V and VI shifted *TAF4* mRNA splicing patterns in human MSCs towards the generation of mRNAs encoding protein isoforms with an altered hTAF4-TAFH domain.

hTAF4-TAFH controls proliferation and cell cycle exit via TP53 activation and switch from canonical to noncanonical WNT signaling

Next, we analyzed the effect of the hTAF4-TAFH domaintargeting RNAi on the proliferation and cell cycle of hMSCs (Fig. 3). Silencing of alternative splice variants encoding a structurally intact hTAF4-TAFH domain in hMSCs resulted in growth inhibition as analyzed using WST-1 proliferation assay (Fig. 3A). Already 6 h treatment of hMSCs with TAF4 siRNAs resulted in the upregulation of CDKN1A and CDK2 levels (Fig. 3B). Western blot analysis revealed that changes in TAF4 v1 and CDKN1A mRNA levels were accompanied by a marked decrease in the expression of the canonical form of TAF4 protein and significant increase of CDKN1A protein levels. Also, we detected accumulation of hyperphoshporylated $\mathrm{TP53}^{\mathrm{Ser15}}$ in hMSCs following 24 h treatment (Fig. 3C). At 48 h post-treatment of hMSCs with TAF4 siRNAs, increased TP53 transcription was observed (Fig. 3C). These findings demonstrate that depletion of the canonical hTAF4-TAFH activity in hMSC correlates with the cell cycle exit.

Further, we examined whether the observed cell-growth retardation was related to induction of apoptosis. Flow cytometry analysis data clearly showed that the proportion of apoptotic cells in TAF4 siRNA treated hMSCs was insignificant (Fig. 3D). Propidium iodide staining analysis using the NucleoCounter (data not shown) confirmed these data. To exclude that TAF4 siRNA triggers TP53-dependent senescence in the human MSCs, quantitative senescence-associated ß-galactosidase assay was performed. Assay results clearly show no increased ß-galactosidase activity in TAF4 siRNA treated hMSCs compared to control siRNAs at 48 h post-treatments (Fig. 3E). Also, no changes in hMSC morphology were observed following TAF4 siRNA treatments (data not shown). These results suggest that observed suppression of cell proliferation is associated with cell cycle arrest and not with the induction of cell senescence or apoptosis. Obtained results support the hypothesis of TP53 involvement in TAF4-driven differentiation of hMSC.

Since TP53 activates WNT pathway signaling in mouse embryonic stem cells [39] and the hTAF4-TAFH domain is the direct target of WNT signaling in *Drosophila* [19], we examined the possibility that the WNT pathway is also involved in hTAF4-TAFH governed hMSC proliferation and differentiation. We found that *TAF4* siRNA treatment significantly down-regulated the major player in canonical WNT signaling, B-catenin, while the expression levels of non-canonical WNT signaling activator *WNT5A* and the inhibitor of the WNT pathway *DKK1* were significantly increased (**Fig. 3F**). Taken together, these findings provide the first cues that TAF4 protein isoforms with a deleted hTAF4-TAFH domain may function as direct co-activators in the non-canonical WNT signaling pathway that is mediated by JNK, PKC, Ca (2+) or Rho [40].



Figure 3. TAF4 siRNA treatment of human MSCs induces TP53-dependent cell-cycle arrest and switching from canonical to noncanonical WNT signaling. (A) Effects of TAF4 siRNA treatments on hMSC proliferation at different time points as compared to negative control siRNA, hMSCs were transfected with 50 nM of TAF4 or control siRNAs and analyzed at the indicated time points by WST-1 proliferation assay. Experiments were done in triplicate and a comparison was made to control siRNA treatments (++ indicates significant differences between control and TAF4 siRNA groups with P<0.01). (B) Down-regulation of the canonical form of TAF4 affects the expression of cell cycle regulators. hMSCs were transfected with 50 nM TAF4-specific (ex5 or ex6 TAF4 siRNAs) or control siRNAs. Relative expression of cell cycle regulators CDKN1A and CDK2 as compared to control siRNAs transfected cells was analyzed using real-time RT-PCR at 6 h post-treatment. Observed differences were statistically significant (Student's t-test) with *** P<0.001. (C) TAF4 siRNA-mediated RNAi affects expression of cell cycle regulator proteins. Western blot analysis of cell cycle regulators TP53 and CDKN1A/P21 24 h following transfection of hMSCs with control or both, ex5_ and ex6_TAF4-specific siRNAs. Expression of TAF4 and GAPDH was analyzed to ensure effective silencing and equal loading (left). Time-dependent expression of TP53 was analyzed by real-time PCR and compared to the mRNA levels in TAF4 and control siRNA treated hMSCs (right). (D) Down-regulation of the canonical form of TÁF4 does not induce apoptosis. FACS analysis of the cell cycle progression of hMSCs treated with TAF4 siRNAs. (E) TAF4 siRNA treatment doesn't cause senescence of hMSCs. Quantitative SA-B-gal assay. hMSC extracts were prepared from TAF4 and control sIRNA transfected cells 48 h posttreatment. 1 µM 4-NQO was added to hMSCs for 1 h and used as positive senescence control. Fluorescence intensity of 4-MU hydrolysis was normalized to total protein. Error bars in experiments represent the standard deviations of three independent experiments (P<0.005) (F) RNAi of hTAF4-TAFH switches from canonical to non-canonical WNT signaling. 20 µg of control or TAF4 siRNA-treated whole cell lysates were analyzed by Western blot analysis for the expression of ß-catenin (CTNNB1) and GAPDH as loading control (left). Real-time PCR shows increased expression of noncanonical markers of WNT signaling in TAF4 siRNA treated hMSCs as compared to control siRNA treated cells. Differences are statistically significant with P<0.001 (right).

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0074799.g003

hTAF4-TAFH domain integrity supports adipo- and osteogenic and blocks chondrogenic differentiation of hMSCs

hMSCs were differentiated along adipo-, osteo- and chondrogenic lineages upon treatments with TAF4 siRNAs or control siRNAs following analysis of expression of appropriate lineagespecific markers using Western blot and quantitative RT-PCR to analyze the effects of hTAF4-TAFH on the differentiation potential of hMSCs. Effective downregulation of the canonical form of TAF4 protein along with the hyperphoshporylation of TP53^{Ser15} was observed in siRNA treated cells (**Fig 4 A–C**). In addition, RNAi treatments followed by differentiation resulted in the induction of expression of *TAF4* splice variants encoding protein isoforms with a modified hTAF4-TAFH domain (**Fig 4 A–C**).

On day 6 of adipogenic differentiation, specific Oil-Red-O staining revealed intensely reactive lipid droplets in control vehicle-treated cells (**Fig. 4A**), indicating adipogenic differentia-



Figure 4. TAFH domain disruption by TAF4 siRNA attenuates adipogenesis and osteogenesis and accelerates chondrogenesis in human MSCs. (A) TAF4 down-regulation slows down adipogenesis in hMSCs. Oil-Red-O staining of lipid droplets of TAF4 or control siRNA treated and adipogenesis stimulated hMSCs at day 6 post-induction. siRNAs were transfected 24 h prior to the stimulation of differentiation of hMSCs. Scale bar, 40 µm (top left). Western blot analysis reveals reduced expression of adipogenic markers, namely PPARG and ADIPOQ at day 5 after induction of differentiation of TAF4 siRNA treated hMSCs along adipocyte pathway (right panel). Real-time PCR analysis of the expression of adipocyte markers in hMSCs at different time points of post-transfection and differentiation. The expression is normalized to control siRNA treatments (middle panel). RT-PCR analysis of TAF4 ASVs expression using TAF4_v1b specific primers in TAF4 or control siRNA transfected and towards adipogenesis stimulated hMSCs at day 5 post-transfection. GAPDH mRNA was analyzed for gel loading normalization (left bottom). (B) RNAi of hTAF4-TAFH inhibits osteogenic differentiation of hMSCs. Alkaline phosphatase staining of TAF4 or control siRNA exposed and osteogenesis stimulated hMSCs at day 6 postinduction. SiRNAs were transfected 24 h prior to the stimulation of hMSC differentiation. Scale bar, 40 µm (top left). Western blot analysis reveals reduced expression of osteogenic markers RUNX2 and OPN (right panel). Real-time PCR analysis of the expression of osteogenic markers in hMSCs at different time points post-transfection and differentiation. The expression is normalized to negative control siRNA treatment (middle panel). RT-PCR analysis of TAF4 ASVs expression using TAF4_v1b specific primers in TAF4 or control siRNA treated and stimulated to osteogenic differentiation hMSCs at day 5 post-transfection. GAPDH mRNA was analyzed for gel loading normalization (left bottom). (C) RNAi of hTAF4-TAFH accelerates chondrogenic differentiation of hMSCs. Immunofluorescence staining analysis of TAF4 or control siRNA treated hMSCs upon chondrogenic stimulation at day 6 post-treatment reveals induced expression of COL2A1 and SOX9. siRNAs were transfected 24 h prior to stimulation of differentiation of hMSCs. Scale bar, 40 µm (top left). Western blot analysis shows increased expression of chondrogenic marker genes in TAF4 siRNA treated hMSCs. COL2A1 expression was upregulated at day 2 post-differentiation; SOX9 and MMP13 level of expression were increased at 8 days after siRNA treatments (right panel). Real-time PCR analysis of the expression of chondrogenic markers in hMSCs at different time points post-transfection and differentiation. The

PLOS ONE | www.plosone.org

expression is normalized to control siRNA treatment (*middle panel*). RT-PCR analysis of *TAF4* ASV expression using *TAF4_v1b* specific primers in *TAF4* or control siRNA treated hMSCs upon stimulation to chondrogenic differentiation at day 5 post-transfection. *GAPDH* mRNA was analyzed for gel loading normalization (*left bottom*). Effects of RNAi of hTAF4-TAFH on activation of TP53^{Ser15} were observed in each differentiation study using immunoblot analysis. Real-time PCR differences were found to be statistically significant with P<0.005. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0074799.g004

tion, whereas far less intensive staining was observed in TAF4 siRNA transfected hMSCs. Analysis of expression of adiposespecific PPARG and ADIPOQ at protein and RNA levels indicated a significantly delayed adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs exposed to TAF4 siRNAs targeting hTAF4-TAFH (**Fig. 4A**). These findings show that RNAi silencing of hTAF4-TAFH activity blocks adipogenesis in hMSCs.

To assess the effect of hTAF4 RNAi on osteogenic differentiation, hMSCs were treated with TAF4 or control siRNAs and cultured in osteogenic differentiation medium for 5 days. Alkaline phosphatase (AP) staining confirmed effective osteogenic differentiation in control siRNA-treated cells, whereas much less AP + cells were observed in TAF4 siRNA treated hMSCs upon differentiation (Fig. 4B). Also, immunoblot analysis using anti-RUNX2 and anti-OPN antibodies showed decreased levels of expression of these osteogenic markers in TAF4 siRNA transfected hMSCs upon differentiation (Fig. 4B). Surprisingly, the expression of RUNX2 and BGLAP mRNAs that initially (24 h posttreatment) decreased significantly, reached the control level by day 5 of differentiation. Substantially decreased levels of OSAD expression were detectable only 48 h post-differentiation (Fig. 4B). All the data evidenced severely delayed osteogenesis in hMSC cells with low hTAF4-TAFH activity.

Next, we examined the role of hTAF4-TAFH in chondrogenic differentiation. Immunofluorescence analysis of TAF4 and control siRNA-treated hMSCs that were subjected to chondrogenic differentiation for 6 days showed intense staining with anti-COL2A1 and anti-SOX9 antibodies in TAF4-depleted hMSCs, indicating enhanced chondrogenic differentiation in these cells (Fig. 4C). In close agreement with these results, immunoblot analysis data further confirmed the up-regulation of COL2A1 protein expression by day 1, SOX9 expression by day 2 and MMP13 expression by day 5 (Fig. 4C), supporting the evidence of accelerated chondrogenesis. To analyze the expression of chondrogenic markers upon TAF4 siRNA treatments, a real-time RT-PCR analysis was performed using a set of gene-specific primers. Increased levels of SOX9 mRNA, with a peak at day 2, rapid upregulation of NKX3.2 and COL2A1 mRNAs by day 1, gradually rising levels of expression of NCAM, VEFGA, RUNX2 mRNAs and the appearance of MMP13 mRNA later in the differentiation process were observed in TAF4 siRNA treated cells compared with that of the control vehicle treated hMSCs upon chondrogenic differentiation (Fig. 4C). Thus, based on the immunofluorescence and gene expression analysis data it was concluded that the activity of the canonical hTAF4-TAFH suppresses chondrogenesis.

Notably, the levels of $TAF4_v1$ mRNA decreased substantially whereas those of TAF4 mRNAs encoding protein isoforms with a modified hTAF4-TAFH domain ($TAF4_v2$, $TAF4_v4$, $TAF4_v10$, and other rare transcripts (data not shown)) accumulated upon TAF4 RNAi treatments and during the further course of differentiation of hMSCs (**Fig. 4A–C**). The data is in close agreement with data on the expression of TAF4 splice variants in the differentiated hMSCs (**Fig. 2B**), which altogether strongly support the herein described findings that hTAF4-TAFH domain integrity is required for adipo- and osteogenic differentiation and controls chondrogenic differentiation.

Discussion

Here, we present the first description of alternatively spliced *TAF4* mRNAs carrying deletions of exons encoding the hTAF4-TAFH domain. We describe the functional consequences of the structural integrity of the hTAF4-TAFH domain on cellular differentiation. Our data reveals that differentiation of hMSCs along adipo-, osteo- and chondrogenic lineages is, at least in part, regulated by hTAF4-TAFH domain activity, with possible crosstalks to the early activity of TP53 and switching of WNT signaling from a canonical to a non-canonical pathway.

Variety of hTAF4 AS variants

Our data, along with published findings [30], shows a broad distribution of alternative splice variants across cells and tissues of TAF4 alternative mRNAs. Here, we show that across the TAF4 gene, alternative splicing predominantly targets exons VI and VII. These exons encode the hTAF4-TAFH domain, a five-helix structure that is responsible for protein-protein interactions and recognizes a hydrophobic $D\Psi\Psi\zeta\zeta\Psi\Phi$ motif (similar to LxxLL) of TAF4 interaction partners [18]. Alternative splicing of exons VI and VII alters the flat and wide binding surface in the hTAF4-TAFH domain, making it more similar to that of the ETO-TAFH domain. ETO-TAFH-dependent interactions with LxxLL-carrying proteins, including LZIP, E-proteins, nuclear hormone receptors and subunits of Mediator complex have been suggested to affect the whole PIC composition and activity [41]. Thus, splicing events in the exons coding the hTAF4-TAFH domain ultimately contribute to the changes in target specificity, perhaps allowing the fine-tuning of a transcriptional response to activators that are important during development. Close support for this assumption stems from our data showing that in response to TAF4 RNAi treatments, hMSCs start to express alternative splice variants of TAF4, namely TAF4_v2, TAF4_v4 or TAF4_v5 mRNAs that encode protein isoforms with only 2 helixes out of five preserved from the canonical hTAF4-TAFH structure. It is highly likely that changed coactivator properties of the hTAF4-TAFH domain may influence overall TFIID complex stability, PIC assembly and the basal transcription, having functional consequences in the selection of developmental pathways in human cells.

It requires further clarification, whether TAF4 alternative splice variants with ORF preservation will encode functional proteins or could act as lncRNAs. In both cases, TAF4 ASVs impact the ability of TAF4 to promote the cell cycle and control differentiation. ASVs retaining canonical ORF are co-expressed although at different levels than TAF4 ASVs encoding protein isoforms with altered hTAF4-TAFH activity. For example, the expression levels of TAF4_v1 mRNA encoding the canonical form of the protein with intact hTAF4-TAFH are comparable with the sum of other ASVs in differentiated hMSCs. Therefore, it is likely that the relative levels of TAF4 ASVs and mutual cross-talk (cooperation or competition) will influence the final biological outcome. The expression of some TAF4 ASVs is ubiquitous while of the others are tissue-specific (our data). Differences in the levels of expression of TAF4 ASVs were observed in all individuals analyzed (Fig. 2A) and distinguished by every hMSC donor [42]. In addition, differences in silencing or activation of various TAF4 ASVs were also observed throughout the study (Fig. 2A, 4). These individualTherefore apparently, the numerous *TAF4* ASVs with altered hTAF4-TAFH activity may permit a differential regulation of TAF4 functions during cell differentiation. Yet, this hypothesis awaits further clarification.

Molecular mechanisms of hTAF4-TAFH-activity-mediated differentiation

hMSCs that were differentiated into adipo-, osteo- or chondrocytes showed complex expression patterns of *TAF4* ASVs encoding proteins with altered hTAF4-TAFH. Recently, using modified versions of TAF4 protein it was shown that ETO-TAFH domain of TAF4 is targeted by WNT signaling in *Drosophila* [44], [19]. In addition to global gene silencing that has been evidenced to occur during ES cell differentiation [45], proteasome-dependent TAF4 degradation was observed in F9 embryonic carcinoma cells in response to retinoic acid-induced differentiation [46]. As these processes are related to cell fate determination and control of stem cell proliferation, this prompted us to investigate the consequences of hTAF4-TAFH inactivation on hMSCs proliferation and differentiation.

RNAi targeting of exons V and VI of TAF4 resulted in cell cycle arrest and accumulation of hyperphosphorylated TP53^{Ser15} protein in hMSCs. TP53 activation via phosphorylation is associated with the induction of apoptotic cell death or irreversible cell-cycle exit, commonly termed cellular senescence [47]. Both of these processes are linked to cellular differentiation. Depending on the state and cellular environment, TP53 exerts a regulatory role on various differentiation programs [48-54]. Induction of TP53 expression represses cell proliferation and through miR-34a and miR-145 activation downregulates pluripotent stem cell factors, such as OCT4, KLF4, LIN28A, and SOX2 thereby affecting differentiation and human cell state [55]. Our data on the interrelations of TP53 and TAF4 are in close agreement with published data related to TFIID complex subunits. The detailed mechanism of TAF4-TP53 interaction remains to be established, but our data allows for suggesting the involvement of TP53 in TAF4-dependent differentiation of hMSCs. Indeed, TAF4 was detected on a TP53-binding site on a CDKN1A/P21 promoter and its binding to the promoter increased in response to UV irradiation [56]. TAF9 has been shown to regulate the stability and activity of TP53 by binding to its Nterminally located transcription activation domain [57,58]. Functional interactions between TP53 and TAF3 [59], TAF1 [60], TAF6 [61] and TBP [62] have been reported. Altogether, the data suggests that while TAF4 may be involved in the stimulation of cell differentiation by alternative splicing generating protein isoforms with varying hTAF4-TAFH, the down-stream activation of p53 pathways executing this differentiation process are likely to play an important role.

WNT signaling promotes activation of WNT target genes by targeting Pygopus-TAFH interactions in *Drosophila* [44]. Active canonical WNT signaling stimulates osteogenesis in certain cellular contexts [63,64]. However, interplay between canonical β-catenindependent and a variety of non-canonical pathways has been evidenced to guide cells to differentiate along defined pathways and also directs cell fate decisions of hMSCs [40]. Several members of the WNT family have been shown to block osteogenesis and adipogenesis. For example, a non-canonical ligand WNT5A inhibits the ability of PPARG to activate its target genes and ultimately thus prevents adipogenesis [65]. The positive impact of

WNT inhibitor DKK1 on early chondrogenesis has also previously been documented [66]. Furthermore, to confirm the interplay of TP53 and WNT signaling that was observed by us in TAF4 siRNA treated cells, previous studies have shown that TP53 and its target miR-34 suppress canonical WNT signaling [67]. Our data showing reduced levels of B-catenin in response to decreased expression of TAF4 v1 with hTAF4-TAFH intact are in close agreement with the findings described above. Taken together, we suggest that abrogation of hTAF4-TAFH activity by expression of TAF4 protein isoforms with an hTAF4-TAFH altered structure has severe consequences on the co-activator function of TAF4 in canonical WNT signaling. In order to counter-balance the inhibition of the canonical WNT pathway, compensation by activation of the noncanonical pathway by WNT5A takes place and acts as a mediator of the induction of chondrogenesis in hMSCs upon differentiation. Similar findings have been described by Bradley et al [68].

RNAi targeting of hTAF4-TAFH activity results in downregulation of *TAF4_v1* and promotes chondrogenesis by inhibiting or delaying osteo- and adipogenesis of human adipose derived hMSCs. Differentiation along osteo- and adipogenic lineages verified by using expression analysis of appropriate markers was delayed but not completely inhibited upon RNAi targeting of hTAF4-TAFH activity. Since close interplay between osteogenesis and chondrogenesis is regulating the early development of bone, and RUNX2 modulates both of these differentiation programs, it is also possible that downregulation of hTAF4-TAFH activity in hMSCs influences *RUNX2* turnover in osteogenesis. Also, TP53 deficiency has been shown to enhance osteogenesis via SMAD1 signaling in mice [69], thereby providing a strong possibility that low levels of hTAF4-TAFH activity promote a chondrogenic switch in mesenchymal cells with activated TP53.

Depletion of hTAF4-TAFH is necessary for normal development

Inactivation of individual TAFs in Drosophila and mammalian cells have demonstrated that TAFs are not essential for the transcription of all RNA pol II-dependent genes and in fact, there is a great variation in target genes of individual TAFs [28], [70-72]. For example, myoblasts shed most of the subunits of TFIID complex, apart from TAF3 and a TBP homolog TRF3, in the process of differentiation to myotubes [73,74]. Expression of several TAF subunits, with the exception of TAF8, was observed to be downregulated upon differentiation of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes into adipocytes [75]. Inactivation of TAF10 affects liver development and stability of the TFIID complex as a whole [76]. Furthermore, TAF7 has recently been shown to be necessary for mouse embryonic development but not for the survival and differentiation of mature T cells [21]. In Drosophila, targeting of TAF4 activity by RNAi yields in the reduced levels of TBP, TAF6, and TAF9 along with a severe loss in TAF1 and TAF5 protein expression without affecting their mRNA levels [77]. Reduction of TAF4 activity has been shown to have the most dramatic effects on transcription as compared with other subunits of TFIID in C.elegans [23]. All the data, along with our findings on TAF4 function, are consistent with the suggestion that regulated degradation of defined TFIID subunits or controlling their activity via alternative splicing, as in case of TAF4 demonstrated here, is required for directing the normal cellular differentiation process.

In conclusion, altered splicing and regulated expression of *TAF4* alternative mRNAs encoding protein isoforms with altered hTAF4-TAFH activity govern the cell-cycle progression in hMSCs through expression of cell cycle inhibitors and TP53 activation that support realization of specific differentiation programs. Our data also reveals the potential role of TAF4 isoforms in delaying

adipogenic differentiation of hMSCs and thus contributes to the understanding of the mechanisms of obesity. In adipose-derived hTAF4-TAFH-depleted hMSCs, chondrogenesis is the most preferable differentiation program. Cellular mechanisms leading to such transitions are currently not clear and should be clarified with future studies, but our research suggests the role of TP53 along with the switching of WNT signaling from a canonical to a non-canonical pathway in response to predominant expression of TAF4 ASVs with abrogated hTAF4-TAFH activity in human mesenchymal stem cells.

Supporting Information

References

- Müller F, Zaucker A, Tora L (2010) Developmental regulation of transcription initiation: more than just changing the actors. Curr Opin Genet Dev 20: 533– 40.
- D'Alessio JA, Wright KJ, Tjian R (2009) Shifting players and paradigms in cellspecific transcription. Mol Cell 36: 924–31.
 Burley, SK, Roeder RG, (1996). Biochemistry, and structural biology of
- Burley SK, Roeder RG (1996) Biochemistry and structural biology of transcription factor IID (TFIID). Annu Rev Biochem 65: 769–99.
- Papai G, Weil PA, Schultz P (2011) New insights into the function of transcription factor TFIID from recent structural studies. Curr Opin Genet Dev 21: 219–24.
- 5. Bieniossek C, Papai G, Schaffitzel C, Garzoni F, Chaillet M, et al. (2013) The architecture of human general transcription factor TFIID core complex. Nature.
- Boyer-Guittaut M, Birsoy K, Potel C, Elliott G, Jaffray E, et al. (2005) SUMO-1 modification of human transcription factor (TF) IID complex subunits: inhibition of TFIID promoter-binding activity through SUMO-1 modification of hsTAF5. J Biol Chem 280: 9937–45.
- Bell B, Scheer E, Tora L (2001) Identification of hTAF(II)80 delta links apoptotic signaling pathways to transcription factor TFIID function. Mol Cell 8: 591–600.
- Geles KG, Freiman RN, Liu W, Zheng S, Voronina E, et al. (2006) Cell-typeselective induction of c-jun by TAF4b directs ovarian-specific transcription networks. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103: 2594–9.
- Metzger D, Scheer E, Soldatov A, Tora L (1999) Mammalian TAF(II)30 is required for cell cycle progression and specific cellular differentiation programmes. EMBO J 18: 4823–34.
- Shen W, Bhaumik SR, Causton HC, Simon I, Zhu X, et al. (2003) Systematic analysis of essential yeast TAFs in genome-wide transcription and preinitiation complex assembly. EMBO J 22: 3395–402.
- Wright KJ, Marr MT 2nd, Tjian R (2006) TAF4 nucleates a core subcomplex of TFID and mediates activated transcription from a TATA-less promoter. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103: 12347–52.
- Tanese N, Saluja D, Vassallo MF, Chen JL, Admon A (1996) Molecular cloning and analysis of two subunits of the human TFIID complex: hTAFII130 and hTAFII100. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93: 13611–6.
- Ferreri K, Gill G, Montminy M (1994) The cAMP-regulated transcription factor CREB interacts with a component of the TFIID complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91: 1210–3.
- 14. Gill G, Pascal E, Tseng ZH, Tjian R (1994) A glutamine-rich hydrophobic patch in transcription factor Sp1 contacts the dTAFII110 component of the Drosophila TFIID complex and mediates transcriptional activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91: 192–6.
- Naar AM, Beaurang PA, Robinson KM, Oliner JD, Avizonis D, et al. (1998) Chromatin, TAFs, and a novel multiprotein coactivator are required for syncrigistic activation by Sp1 and SREBP-1a in vitro. Genes Dev 12: 3020–31.
- Liu W, Coleman RA, Ma E, Grob P, Yang JL, et al. (2009) Structures of three distinct activator-TFIID complexes. Genes Dev 23: 1510–21.
 Wei Y, Liu S, Lausen J, Woodrell C, Cho S, et al. (2007) A TAF4-homology
- Wei Y, Lu S, Lausen J, Woodrell C, Cho S, et al. (2007) A TAF4-homology domain from the corepressor ETO is a docking platform for positive and negative regulators of transcription. Nat Struct Mol Biol 14: 653–61.
 Wang X, Truckses DM, Takada S, Matsumura T, Tanese N, et al. (2007)
- Wang X, Truckses DM, Takada S, Matsumura T, Tanese N, et al. (2007) Conserved region I of human coactivator TAF4 binds to a short hydrophobic motif present in transcriptional regulators. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104: 7839– 44.
- Wright KJ, Tjian R (2009) Wnt signaling targets ETO coactivation domain of TAF4/TFIID in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106: 55–60.
- D'Alessio JA, Ng R, Willenbring H, Tjian R (2011) Core promoter recognition complex changes accompany liver development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108: 3906–11.
- Gegonne A, Tai X, Zhang J, Wu G, Zhu J, et al. (2012) The general transcription factor TAF7 is essential for embryonic development but not essential for the survival or differentiation of mature T cells. Mol Cell Biol 32: 1984–97.

Table S2List of primers used in the study.(DOCX)

Acknowledgments

We thank Maila Rähn and Epp Väli for their excellent technical assistance, and Kersti Jääger and Alla Piirsoo for their valuable comments and critical review of the manuscript.

Author Contributions

Conceived and designed the experiments: JK TN KP. Performed the experiments: JK ANK AK KT. Analyzed the data: JK KP. Wrote the paper: JK KP.

- Liu Z, Scannell DR, Eisen MB, Tjian R (2011) Control of embryonic stem cell lineage commitment by core promoter factor, TAF3. Cell 146: 720–31.
- Guven-Ozkan T, Nishi Y, Robertson SM, Lin R (2008) Global transcriptional repression in C. elegans germline precursors by regulated sequestration of TAF-4. Cell 135: 149–60.
- Maston GA, Zhu I,J, Chamberlain L, Lin L, Fang M, et al. (2012) Noncanonical TAF complexes regulate active promoters in human embryonic stem cells. elife 1: e00068.
- Pointud J, Mengus G, Brancorsini S, Monaco L, Parvinen M, et al. (2003) The intracellular localisation of TAF7L, a paralogue of transcription factor TFIID subunit TAF7, is developmentally regulated during male germ-cell differentiation. J Cell Sci 116: 1847–58.
- Voronina E, Lovasco LA, Gyuris A, Baumgartner RA, Parlow AF, et al. (2007) Ovarian granulosa cell survival and proliferation requires the gonad-selective TFIID subunit TAF4b. Dev Biol 303: 715–26.
- Falender AE, Freiman RN, Geles KG, Lo KC, Hwang K, et al. (2005) Maintenance of spermatogenesis requires TAF4b, a gonad-specific subunit of TFIID. Genes Dev 19: 794–803.
- Freiman RN (2009) Specific variants of general transcription factors regulate germ cell development in diverse organisms. Biochim Biophys Acta 1789: 161–6.
 Metcalf CE, Wassarman DA (2006) DNA binding properties of TAF1 isoforms
- Metcall CE, Wassarman DA (2006) DNA binding properties of TAP1 isotorms with two AT-hooks. J Biol Chem 281: 30015–23.
- Brunkhorst A, Neuman T, Hall A, Arenas E, Bartfai T, et al. (2004) Novel isoforms of the TFIID subunit TAF4 modulate nuclear receptor-mediated transcriptional activity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 325: 574–9.
- Lin TM, Chang HW, Wang KH, Kao AP, Chang CC, et al. (2007) Isolation and identification of mesenchymal stem cells from human lipoma tissue. Biochim Biophys Acta 361: 883–889.
- Kauts ML, Pihelgas S, Orro K, Neuman T, Pürsoo A (2013) CCL5/CCR1 axis regulates multipotency of human adipose tissue derived stromal cells. Stem Cell Res 10(2): 166–78.
- Koopman R, Schaart G, Hesselink MK (2001) Optimisation of oil red O staining permits combination with immunofluorescence and automated quantification of lipids. Histochem Cell Biol 116: 63–8.
- Stuyver IJ, Whitaker T, McBrayer TR, Hernandez-Santiago BI, Lostia S, et al. (2003) Ribonucleoside analogue that blocks replication of bovine viral diarrhea and hepatitis C viruses in culture. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 47: 244–54.
 Dienam ID, Leboviz RM, Roeder RG (1983) Accurate transcription initiation
- Dignam JD, Leboviz RM, Roeder RG (1983) Accurate transcription initiation by RNA polymerase II in a soluble extract from isolated mammalian nuclei. Nucleic Acids Res 11: 1475–89.
- Kazantseva A, Sepp M, Kazantseva J, Sadam H, Pruunsild P, et al. (2009) Nterminally truncated BAF57 isoforms contribute to the diversity of SWI/SNF complexes in neurons. J Neurochem 109: 807–18.
- Sadra A, Cinek T, Imboden JB (2000) Multiple probing of an immunoblot membrane using a non-block technique: advantages in speed and sensitivity. Anal Biochem 278: 235–7.
- Gary RK, Kindell SM (2005) Quantitative assay of senescence-associated betagalactosidase activity in mammalian cell extracts. Anal Biochem 343: 329–34.
 Lee K, Li M, Michalowski AM, Zhang X, Liao H, et al. (2010) A genomewide
- Lee K, Li M, Michałowski AM, Zhang X, Liao H, et al. (2010) A genomewide study identifies the Wnt signaling pathway as a major target of p53 in murine embryonic stem cells. Proc Nal Acad Sci U S A 107: 69–74.
- Ling L, Nurcombe V, Cool SM (2009) Wht signaling controls the fate of mesenchymal stem cells. Gene 433: 1–7.
- Plevin MJ, Mills MM, Ikura M (2005) The LxxLL motif: a multifunctional binding sequence in transcriptional regulation. Trends Biochem Sci 30: 66–9.
- 42. Palm K, Salin-Nordström T, Levesque MF, Neuman T (2000) Fetal and adult human CNS stem cells have similar molecular characteristics and developmental potential. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 78(1–2): 192–5.
- Allo M, Buggiano V, Fededa JP, Petrillo E, et al. (2009) Control of alternative splicing through siRNA-mediated transcriptional gene silencing. Nature Structural and Molecular Biology 16: 717–724.

October 2013 | Volume 8 | Issue 10 | e74799

TAF4 Splicing Targeting hTAF4-TAFH

- 44. Marr MT 2nd (2009) TAF4 takes flight. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106: 1295–6.
- Efroni S, Duttagupta R, Cheng J, Dehghani H, Hoeppner DJ, et al. (2008) Global transcription in pluripotent embryonic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 2: 437– 47.
- Perletti L, Kopf E, Carré L, Davidson I (2001) Coordinate regulation of RARgamma2, TBP, and TAFII135 by targeted proteolysis during retinoic acidinduced differentiation of F9 embryonal carcinoma cells. BMC Mol Biol 2: 4.
- Itahana K, Dinri G, Campisi J (2001) Regulation of cellular senescence by p53. Eur J Biochem 268: 2784–91.
 Stiewer T (2007) The n53 family in differentiation and tumorigenesis. Nat Rev.
- Stiewe T (2007) The p53 family in differentiation and tumorigenesis. Nat Rev Cancer 7: 165–8.
 Molchadsky A, Shats I, Goldfinger N, Pevsner-Fischer M, Olson M, et al. (2008)
- 43. Molchausky A, Shais I, Golumiger X, reventer rischer M, Olson M, et al. (2006) p53 plays a role in mesenchymal differentiation programs, in a cell fate dependent manner. PLoS One 3: e3707.
- Molchadsky A, Rivlin N, Brosh R, Sarig RR (2010) p53 is balancing development, differentiation and de-differentiation to assure cancer prevention. Carcinogenesis 31: 1501–1508.
- Eizenberg O, Faber-Elman A, Gottlieb E, Oren M, Rotter V, et al. (1996) p53 plays a regulatory role in differentiation and apoptosis of central nervous systemassociated cells. Mol Cell Biol 16: 5178–85.
- Armesilla-Diaz A, Elvira G, Silva A (2009) p53 regulates the proliferation, differentiation and spontaneous transformation of mesenchymal stem cells. Exp Cell Res 315: 3598–610.
- Cheng H, Qiu L, Ma J, Zhang H, Cheng M, et al. (2011) Replicative senescence of human bone marrow and umbilical cord derived mesenchymal stem cells and their differentiation to adipocytes and osteoblasts. Mol Biol Rep 38: 5161–8.
 Tataria M, Quarto N, Longaker MT, Sylvester KG (2006) Absence of the p53
- Iataria M, Quarto N, Longaker M1, Sylvester KG (2006) Absence of the p53 tumor suppressor gene promotes osteogenesis in mesenchymal stem cells. J Pediatr Surg 41: 624–32; discussion 624–32.
 Jain AK, Allton K, Iacovino M, Mahen E, Milczarek RJ, et al. (2012) p53
- Jain AK, Allton K, Iacovino M, Mahen E, Milczarek RJ, et al. (2012) p53 regulates cell cycle and microRNAs to promote differentiation of human embryonic stem cells. PLoS Biol 10: e1001268.
 Li AG, Piluso LG, Cai X, Gadd BJ, Ladurner AG, et al. (2007) An acetylation
- Li AG, Piluso LG, Cai X, Gadd BJ, Ladurner AG, et al. (2007) An acetylation switch in p53 mediates holo-TFIID recruitment. Mol Cell 28: 408–21.
- Buschmann T, Lin Y, Aithmitti N, Fuchs SY, Lu H, et al. (2001) Stabilization and activation of p53 by the coactivator protein TAFII31. J Biol Chem 276: 13852–7.
- Frontini M, Soutoglou E, Argentini M, Bole-Feysot C, Jost B, et al. (2005) TAF9b (formerly TAF9L) is a bona file TAF that has unique and overlapping roles with TAF9. Mol Cell Biol. 25: 4638–39.
- Bereczki O, Ujfaludi Z, Pardi N, Nagy Z, Tora L, et al. (2008) TATA binding protein associated factor 3 (TAF3) interacts with p53 and inhibits its function. BMC Mol Biol 9: 57.
- Li H-H, Sheppard HM, Liu X (2004) Phosphorylation on Thr-55 by TAF1 Mediates Degradation of p53: A Role for TAF1 in Cell G1 Progression. Mol Cell 13: 867–878.

- Thut CJ, Chen JL, Klemm R, Tjian R (1995) p53 transcriptional activation mediated by coactivators TAFII40 and TAFII60. Science 267: 100–104.
- Chang J, Kim DH, Lee SW, Choi KY, Sung YC (1995) Transactivation ability of p53 transcriptional activation domain is directly related to the binding affinity to TATA-binding protein. J Biol Chem 270: 25514–9.
- Bennett CN, Longo KA, Wright WS, Suva LJ, Lane TF, et al. (2005) Regulation of osteoblastogenesis and bone mass by Wnt10b. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102: 3324–9.
- Gaur T, Lengner CJ, Hovhannisyan H, Bhat RA, Bodine PVN, et al. (2005) Canonical WNT signaling promotes oscogenesis by directly stimulating Runx2 gene expression. J Biol Chem 280: 33132–40.
- Gristanding of adipocyte differentiation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 12: 722–34.
 Im G, Quan Z (2010) The effects of Wnt inhibitors on the chondrogenesis of
- Im G, Quan Z (2010) The effects of Wnt inhibitors on the chondrogenesis of human mesenchymal stem cells. Tissue Eng Part A 16: 2405–13.
- Kim NH, Kim HS, Kim N, Lee I, Choi H, et al. (2011) p53 and microRNA-34 are suppressors of canonical Wnt signaling. Sci Signal 4: ra71.
- Bradley EW, Drissi MH (2010) WNT5A regulates chondrocyte differentiation through differential use of the CaN/NFAT and IKK/NF-kappaB pathways. Mol Endocrinol 24: 1581–93.
- Ma G, Li L, Hu Y, Chau JFL, Au BJ, et al. (2012) Atypical Atm-p53 genetic interaction in osteogenesis is mediated by Smadl signaling. J Mol Cell Biol 4: 118–20.
- Aoyagi N, Wassarman DA (2000) Genes encoding Drosophila melanogaster RNA polymerase II general transcription factors: diversity in TFIIA and TFIID components contributes to gene-specific transcriptional regulation. J Cell Biol 150: F45–50.
- Ohler U, Wassarman DA (2010) Promoting developmental transcription. Development 137: 15–26.
- Goodrich JA, Tjian R (2010) Unexpected roles for core promoter recognition factors in cell-type-specific transcription and gene regulation. Nat Rev Genet 11: 549–58.
- Deato MDE, Tjian R (2007) Switching of the core transcription machinery during myogenesis. Genes Dev 21: 2137–49.
- Deato MDE, Tjian R (2008) An unexpected role of TAFs and TRFs in skeletal muscle differentiation: switching core promoter complexes. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 73: 217–25.
- Guermah M, Ge K, Chiang CM, Roeder RG (2003) The TBN protein, which is essential for early embryonic mouse development, is an inducible TAFII implicated in adipogenesis. Mol Cell 12: 991–1001.
 Tatarakis A, Margaritis T, Martinez-Jimenez CP, Kouskouti A, Mohan WS
- Tatarakis A, Margaritis T, Martinez-Jimenez CP, Kouskouti A, Mohan WS 2nd, et al. (2008) Dominant and redundant functions of TFIID involved in the regulation of hepatic genes. Mol Cell 31: 531–43.
- Marr MT 2nd, Isogai Y, Wright KJ, Tjian R (2006) Coactivator cross-talk specifies transcriptional output. Genes Dev 20: 1458–69.

PUBLICATION II

Kazantseva, J., Tints, K., Neuman, T., Palm, K. (2014) TAF4 controls differentiation of human neural progenitor cells through hTAF4-TAFH activity. J. Mol. Neurosci. 2014 Apr 4.

TAF4 Controls Differentiation of Human Neural Progenitor Cells Through hTAF4-TAFH Activity

Jekaterina Kazantseva • Kairit Tints • Toomas Neuman • Kaia Palm

Received: 20 January 2014 / Accepted: 23 March 2014 © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2014

Abstract Expression of general transcription factor and coactivator TAF4 varies during development and in the processes of cell differentiation with suggested connection to neurodegenerative diseases. Here, we show that expression of TAF4 alternative splice variants is different in various regions of the human brain, substantiating the role of alternative splicing of TAF4 in the regulation of neural development and brain function. Most of the described splicing events affect the TAFH homology domain of TAF4 (hTAF4-TAFH). Besides, differentiated towards neural lineages, normal human neural progenitors (NHNPs) lose canonical full-length TAF4 isoform. To study the effects of hTAF4-TAFH splicing on neuronal differentiation, we used RNAi approach to target hTAF4-TAFH-encoding domain in NHNPs. Results show that inactivation of hTAF4-TAFH domain accelerates differentiation of human neural progenitor cells. Conversely, enhanced expression of TAF4 suppresses differentiation and keeps neural progenitor cells in a stem cell-like state. Finally, we provide data on the involvement of TP53 and noncanonical WNT signaling pathways in mediating effects of TAF4 on neuronal differentiation. Overall, our data suggest that specific isoforms of TAF4 may selectively and efficiently control neurogenesis.

J. Kazantseva (⊠) · K. Tints · T. Neuman · K. Palm Protobios LLC, Mäealuse 4, Tallinn 12618, Estonia e-mail: katja@protobios.com

K. Tints e-mail: kairit@protobios.com

T. Neuman e-mail: tom@protobios.com

K. Palm (🖂)

The Department of Gene Technology, Tallinn University of Technology, Akadeemia tee 15, Tallinn 12618, Estonia e-mail: kaia@protobios.com **Keywords** TAF4 · TAFH · Neuronal differentiation · Alternative splicing · Human neural progenitor cells · General transcription factor

Introduction

The diversity of general transcription factor (GTF) protein isoforms generated by alternative splicing ultimately relates to their biological role and reflects the modulation of activity in a spatiotemporal manner (López 1995; Ozer et al. 2000; Upadhyaya et al. 2002; Wang et al. 2006). The complexity and dynamics of transcriptome in the human brain is highly diverse in various brain regions, across development and in pathologies (Dehay and Kennedy 2009). Global changes in alternative splicing have been identified during aging and in case of neuropathologies causing Alzheimer's disease or frontotemporal lobar degeneration (Tollervey et al. 2011). In addition, differentiation of human embryonic stem cells towards neural lineages involves different signaling activities of multiple transcriptional regulators (Erceg et al. 2009) suggesting that diversity of components of transcription regulatory complexes makes the process even more complicated.

The function of TAF4, a basic subunit of TFIID complex and a co-activator of many TFs, is regulated by alternative splicing. TAF4 isoforms exert dominant negative effects on TAF4 activity in nuclear receptor-mediated transcriptional activation (Brunkhorst et al. 2004) and together with RanBPM control neuritogenesis (Brunkhorst et al. 2005). Our recent data show that alternative splicing of hTAF4-TAFH affects lineage differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs), given that TAF4 isoforms with modified hTAF4-TAFH domain induce p53-dependent cell cycle arrest and support chondrogenic differentiation of hMSCs through activation of noncanonical WNT signaling (Kazantseva et al. 2013). Here, we studied the role of hTAF4-TAFH activity during neural differentiation applying RNAi silencing and overexpression techniques. Using normal human neural progenitor cells (NHNPs) as a model, we demonstrate that modification of hTAF4-TAFH activity is critical for neuronal and glial differentiation.

Materials and Methods

Cell Culture

NHNP cells (Lonza Inc., Walkersville, MD, USA) were cultured in suspension as neurospheres in DMEM/F-12 medium supplemented with 2 % B27, 20 ng/ml EGF, 20 ng/ml bFGF, 10 ng/ml LIF, and 5 μ g/ml heparin, 1 % of penicillin/ streptomycin in T-75 flasks in a humidified atmosphere at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂. Every 7 days, the growth medium was switched to a growth medium enriched with 1 % fetal bovine serum (FBS). After nucleofection, cells were plated to poly-D-lysine coated six-well plates in the growth medium containing 1 % FBS. The next day, the growth medium was replaced with the differentiation medium. For neuronal differentiation, the medium consisted of DMEM/F-12 enriched with 20 ng/ml β -NGF or BDNF and 2 % B27 supplement. For glial differentiation, DMEM/F-12 supplemented with 10 % FBS was used.

siRNA Transfection and Overexpression of TAF4

siRNAs targeting hTAF4-TAFH domain were designed and used as previously described (Kazantseva et al. 2013). All experiments were done using two different siRNAs targeting exons V and VI, whereas data of RNAi targeting exon VI is provided for most data illustration. Cells were dissociated into single cell suspension, and 6×10^5 cells were transfected with 50 nM of control or *TAF4* siRNAs, or 1.0 µg of TAF4 ORF cDNA in pcDREAM2.1 (GenScript, Piscataway, NJ, USA), using the Primary Mammalian Neurons Kit (Lonza Cologne AG, Germany), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

RNA Isolation, RT-PCR, and Quantitative PCR

The human brain tissue RNA panel was a kind gift from T. Timmusk's laboratory (Tallinn University of Technology, Estonia). Total RNA from NHNPs was purified using Trizol reagent, following the manufacturer's recommendations. cDNAs were synthesized from DNase-treated RNA using Superscript III (Invitrogen, UK) and a mixture of oligo dT and random hexamers, according to the manufacturer's recommendations. RT-PCR was carried out using HOT FIREpol[®] Master Mix (Solis BioDyne, Estonia). Real-time PCR was performed in triplicate using Platinum[®] SYBR[®] Green qPCR SuperMix-UDG and the LightCycler[®] 480

Real-Time PCR System (Roche Applied Science). The data was calculated relative to the control siRNAs after normalization to GAPDH expression. The following primers were used: TAF4 forward 5'-CTGCCACGGAAA CTATGGAA-3', reverse 5'-GCTAACGCGGTCCTGTAA AG-3'; CDK2 forward 5'-CCTCTGCTCTCACTGGCATT -3', reverse 5'-GGACTCCAAAAGCTCTGGCTA-3'; CDKN1A forward 5'-CACTGTCTTGTACCCTTGTGC-3', reverse 5'-GGATTAGGGCTTCCTCTTGG-3'; TP53 forward 5'-TGGAGGAGCCGCAGTCAGATCC-3', reverse 5'-GGATTAGGGCTTCCTCTTGG-3'; SOX2 forward 5'-GAAGAAGGATAAGTACACGCTGC-3', reverse 5'-GTTCATGTGCGCGTAACTGT-3'; NF-M forward 5'-GAGTGGTTCAAATGCCGCTAC-3', reverse 5'-CTCT AGCTCGATGCTCTTGGA-3'; NTRK2 forward 5'-TGAT GATGACTCTGCCAGCCC-3', reverse 5'-TTGAGCTG ACTGTTGGTGATGCCA-3'; GAD2 forward 5'-GGCT TTTGGTCTTTCGGGTC-3', reverse 5'-TTCTCGGCGT CTCCGTAGAG-3'; GFAP forward 5'-ATCGAGAAGG TTCGCTTCCTG-3', reverse 5'-TGTTGGCGGTGAGT TGATCG-3'; SYP forward 5'-AGTTGGGGGACTACTCC TCGTC-3', reverse 5'-GGCCCTTTGTTATTCTCTCGGT A-3'; DKK1 forward 5'-ATAGCACCTTGGATGGGTAT TCC-3', reverse 5'-CACAGTCTGATGACCGGAGA-3'; WNT5A forward 5'-ATGGCTGGAAGTGCAATGTCT-3', reverse 5'-ATACCTAGCGACCACCAAGAA-3'.

Immunoblotting

Upon RNAi, proliferating NHNP cells (48 h after siRNA treatment) and NHNPs induced to neuronal or glial differentiation for 5 days were lyzed and exposed to Western blotting as previously described (Kazantseva et al. 2013). The following primary antibodies were used: TAF4 (1:250, BD Biosciences, 612054), TP53^{Ser15} (1:1,000, Cell Signaling, 9284), nestin (NES) (1:500, R&D Biosystems, MAB1259), GFAP (1:1,000, R&D Biosystems, MAB2594), TUJ1 (1:2500, Sigma-Aldrich Life Science, T2200), and GAPDH (1:10,000, Sigma-Aldrich Life Science, G8795).

Immunofluorescence

NHNP cells nucleofected with control or TAF4 siRNAs were seeded on poly-D-lysine-coated glass slides at density 5×10^4 cell/cm² and were induced 24 h later towards neuronal or glial differentiation. After 4 days of differentiation, the cells were treated as previously described (Kazantseva et al. 2013) and stained using primary antibodies (GFAP (1:600), TUJ1 (1:600)), and Alexa Flour 546 or Alexa Flour 488-conjugated secondary antibodies (Molecular Probes, Invitrogen). Images were obtained using Nikon Eclipse 80i fluorescence microscope (Nikon Instruments Inc., USA).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using an unpaired Student's t test with a two-tailed p value. Differences were considered significant when the p value was less than 0.05.

Results

In previous work, we have described expression of alternative splice variants of TAF4 in different tissues derived from human mesenchymal stem cells and demonstrated the role of hTAF4-TAFH activity in the lineage commitment decisions (Kazantseva et al. 2013). In order to evaluate the role of hTAF4-TAFH in neural development, we characterized the expression of TAF4 alternatively spliced mRNAs encoding protein isoforms with altered hTAF4-TAFH co-activator domain in different regions of the human brain using RT-PCR followed by sequencing analysis. Our data revealed that TAF4 alternative splice variants (ASVs) with in-frame deletions in the hTAF4-TAFH domain, as well as the canonical form of TAF4, were differentially expressed in various brain regions (Fig. 1a). For example, ASV TAF4 v5 was distinctly expressed in colliculi while TAF4_v4 was predominantly detected in the optic nerve, cerebellar white matter, ventral pons, cerebral pedunculi, substantia nigra, and nucleus ruber (Fig. 1a). Certain ASVs were expressed in a relatively invariant manner across brain sections, similarly to the pattern observed in human nonneuronal tissues (Kazantseva et al. 2013). Alternative splice variants TAF4 v2 and TAF4 v9 were widely expressed in different brain regions (Fig. 1a). Interestingly, ASV TAF4 v2 encoding isoform lacking almost the entire hTAF4-TAFH domain was expressed at high levels in all analyzed brain sections.

Next, we studied the expression of TAF4 in NHNPs directed to differentiation towards glial and neuronal lineages. The levels of expression of the canonical form of TAF4 decreased significantly by day 7 upon neural differentiation of NHNPs as evidenced by Western blot analysis (Fig. 1b). Moreover, along with the downregulation of *TAF4_v1* expression, *TAF4* ASVs encoding isoforms with impaired hTAF4-TAFH domain emerged notably (Fig. 1b).

To examine the functional role of hTAF4-TAFH domain in neural differentiation, we transfected NHNPs with two different siRNAs targeting exons V and VI of *TAF4* encoding the functionally active hTAF4-TAFH domain. Successful silencing of *TAF4_v1* encoding the canonical form of TAF4 was observed with both *TAF4* siRNAs at 50-nM concentration as confirmed by RT-PCR and Western blot analyses (Fig. 1c, d). Concomitantly, we detected a selective switch from the expression of *TAF4_v1* to the expression of ASVs encoding the isoforms with impaired hTAF4-TAFH domain (in particular, *TAF4_v9* and *TAF4_v10* ASVs). Both, *TAF4_v9* and $TAF4_v10$, preserve ORF and have altered hTAF4-TAFH domains (Kazantseva et al. 2013). Expression of $TAF4_v2$ ASV remained unaffected by TAF4 siRNA treatments (data not shown).

Given that effects of TAF4 on differentiation of hMSCs were partly mediated by TP53 activation (Kazantseva et al. 2013), we analyzed the functional conservation of the role of TP53 in governing TAF4 activity in NHNPs. Increased levels of *TP53* mRNA expression accompanied by TP53 Ser15-phosphorylation were observed at 24 h post-siRNA treatment (Fig. 1d). Moreover, elevated levels of cell cycle regulators and direct targets of *TP53*, such as *CDKN1A* and *CDK2*, were detected in NHNPs treated with *TAF4* siRNAs, but not with control siRNAs at 6 h post-treatments. Altogether, these data indicate the conserved role of TP53 in mediating hTAF4-TAFH-dependent cell cycle arrest in NHNPs and hMSCs.

To demonstrate the role of hTAF4-TAFH activity in the process of differentiation of NHNPs, we analyzed neuronal and glial differentiation of cells transfected with TAF4 or control siRNAs. Overall, NHNPs treated with TAF4 siRNAs showed more spontaneous differentiation compared with control siRNA-treated cells. This was evidenced by a significant induction of the expression of a set of neural markers such as NF-M, NTRK2, and GAD2 mRNAs in NHNPs at 24 h posttreatment (Fig. 1e). The levels of expression of DKK1, a WNT signaling inhibitor, and WNT5A, a ligand of the noncanonical WNT pathway, were notably increased in NHNPs post RNAi treatment. Similar phenomenon was observed in hMSCs (Kazantseva et al. 2013), suggesting a conserved switch from canonical to noncanonical WNT signaling mechanism in cells with declined hTAF4-TAFH activity. Furthermore, Western blot analysis confirmed significant downregulation of the expression of intermediate filament protein NES in NHNPs at 48 h post-treatment (Fig. 1f). Upon glial differentiation of TAF4 siRNA-treated NHNPs, the level of GEAP mRNA was substantially elevated by 96 h as compared with control siRNA-treated cells (Fig. 1e). During neuronal differentiation of NHNPs, a significant increase in the expression of neuronspecific markers NTRK2, SYP, and GAD2 was observed by 96 h following TAF4 RNAi (Fig. 1e). Western blot confirmed enhanced expression of GFAP (~3-fold for both, TAF4 ex5 siRNA and TAF4 ex6 siRNAs) and TUJ1 (>2-fold increase for both siRNAs) in NHNP-derived glial or neuronal cells at day 5 post-treatment, respectively (Fig. 1f). Immunofluorescence analysis of the expression of glial-specific GFAP and neuron-specific TUJ1 proteins demonstrated that both control and TAF4 siRNA-treated NHNPs differentiated along glial and neuronal lineages (Fig. 1g). However, accelerated and more robust differentiation of TAF4 siRNA-treated NHNPs towards glial and neuronal lineages was evidenced by earlier morphological changes not yet visible in control cells at the similar time point.

Consistent with these results, overexpression of TAF4 in NHNPs for 24 h, followed by neuronal differentiation for 4 days, led to increased expression of *SOX2* that is critical for maintenance of pluripotency. Marked downregulation of expression of genes associated with neuronal and glial differentiation, including *NTRK2*, *GAD2*, *SYP*, and *GFAP*, was detected (Fig. 1h).

Altogether, these data argue that *TAF4* splice variants affect the balance between proliferation and differentiation. Suppression of hTAF4-TAFH activity and/or expression of *TAF4* splice variants encoding proteins with hTAF4-TAFHimpaired function accelerate neural differentiation of NHNP cells, while predominant expression of the canonical form of TAF4 protein keeps neural progenitor cells in an undifferentiated state. In this work, we provide the first evidence that TAF4 acts as a gatekeeper of early neural differentiation by inhibiting premature activation of TP53 and by switching between WNT pathways.

Discussion

In this study, we evaluated the role of hTAF4-TAFH coactivator binding domain of TAF4 in neurogenesis. We show that the majority of regional variations of alternative splicing events affect exons encoding for hTAF4-TAFH domain in the human brain. How exactly these ASVs contribute to the coactivator function of TAF4 remains largely unknown. *TAF4* ASVs can be translated to functional proteins or, alternatively, they can perform a regulatory function at the RNA level. Herein, we provide evidence that RNAi of hTAF4-TAFH results in premature neural differentiation and that high levels of TAF4 are needed to support stemness in neural progenitor cells. Our findings also show that abolishing of hTAF4-TAFH activity induces the activation of TP53 signaling and switches in WNT pathway leading to accelerated neurogenesis of neural progenitor cells.

Recent studies have revealed that only 6 out of 14 of the canonical TAFs are detected in human embryonic stem cells (hESCs), among which TAF4 is also absent in the TFIID complex of actively transcribed genes (Maston et al. 2012). Altered composition of TFIID complex is reported to result in the aberrant expression of pluripotency-related genes and induction of differentiation. Furthermore, a recent study demonstrated that TAF4 alone is sufficient for generation of induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC) (Pim Pijnappel et al. 2013). In addition, earlier findings have demonstrated that addition or removal even one of the TAF subunits of TFIID complex induces differentiation (Jones 2007; Deato and Tjian 2008; Freiman 2009). Moreover, diversity of alternative splice variants has been found to be the highest in undifferentiated hESCs and drop significantly during differentiation (Wu et al. 2010). Present study is in good agreement with all these Fig. 1 Disruption of hTAF4-TAFH domain activity by TAF4 RNAi leads to enhanced neural differentiation of human neural progenitor cells. a Analysis of expression of TAF4 ASVs in the regions of human brain was performed by RT-PCR using primers that amplify transcripts across exons IV to X. Arrows indicate the positions of TAF4 v1 and TAF4 v2 mRNAs encoding the canonical form of TAF4 and isoform with almost entire hTAF4-TAFH domain deleted. Letters indicate to (a) TAF4 v9. (b) TAF4 v4, and (c) TAF4 v5 mRNAs with partially deleted sequences encoding for the hTAF4-TAFH domain. Equal loading was verified by analysis of GAPDH expression. ASVs with frame-shifts in ORFs are not indicated. b Data of Western blot and RT-PCR analyses of NHNPs directed towards glial and neuronal differentiation for 7 days indicate the absence of expression of canonical TAF4 v1 protein (upper) and increased expression of TAF4 ASVs encoding isoforms with impaired hTAF4-TAFH domain, where letters indicate to alternative transcripts (a) TAF4 v5, (b) TAF4 v4. c RT-PCR analysis of expression of TAF4 v1, TAF4 v9, and TAF4 v10 in control or TAF4 siRNA transfected NHNPs at day 3 post-transfection. TAF4 v9 and TAF4 v10 encode proteins with altered hTAF4-TAFH domains. d Impairment of hTAF4-TAFH activity by RNAi leads to TP53 activation and the expression of cell cycle regulators. NHNPs were transfected with 50 nM of the control or TAF4 specific siRNAs. The results of Western blot analysis show silenced expression of the canonical form of TAF4 and a significant activation of TP53Ser15 in response to TAF4 siRNA treatments. NHNPs were analyzed at 24 h upon TAF4 siRNA transfection (left). Dynamic induction of TP53 expression in NHNPs analyzed by RT-qPCR in response to TAF4 siRNA treatments. Data are presented as changes in expression relative to control siRNA treatments (middle). RT-qPCR analysis of relative expression of cell cycle regulators cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1A (CDKN1A) and cyclin-dependent kinase 2 (CDK2) of NHNPs cells using TAF4 siRNA as compared with expression in cells transfected with control siRNAs at 6 h post-treatments (right). Statistically significant differences are indicated (Student's t test; ***P<0.001, **P<0.01). e RT-qPCR analysis of the expression of glial and neuronal markers in NHNPs at 24 h post-siRNA transfection (NHNPs) and 96 h upon glial and neuronal differentiation of siRNAtreated NHNPs. The fold of mRNA induction of TAF4 siRNA-treated samples represents expression values normalized to the expression of the control siRNA transfected samples. Statistically significant differences of three independent experiments are indicated (Student's t test; ***P<0.001, **P<0.01, *P<0.05). f Western blot analysis evidenced the expression of lineage-specific marker genes in TAF4 siRNA-treated cells as compared with the control siRNA-treated NHNPs at different time points. NES expression was analyzed 48 h after TAF4 siRNA treatment and prior to stimulation of differentiation in respective media. Glial and neuronal differentiated NHNPs were analyzed at day 5 after siRNA transfection and following the induction of differentiation. Precocious expression of GFAP and TUJ1 in the protein lysates of TAF4 RNAi exposed NHNPs indicated to the accelerated differentiation processes. Effective silencing and equal loading were verified analysis of TAF4 and GAPDH expression, respectively. g Immunofluorescence analysis of TAF4 or control siRNA-treated NHNPs. siRNAs were transfected into the NHNPs 24 h prior to stimulation of differentiation and cells were differentiated subsequently for 4 days. Glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) staining was used for identification of glial, and neuronal class III (TUJ1) for neuronal cells. Scale bars, 25 µm. h RT-qPCR analysis of the expression of neural markers in NHNPs transfected with TAF4 expression plasmid and subjected to neuronal differentiation on the following day after transfection and analyzed 4 days after stimulation of differentiation. The fold of mRNA induction of TAF4 in transfected samples represents expression values normalized to the expression in the cell samples transfected with the control vector. Statistically significant differences are marked with ***P<0.001



findings arguing that levels of expressed TAF4 isoforms are tightly regulated by alternative splicing in order to maintain cells in a more immature state. Recent analysis of the human brain transcriptome during brain development linked neural function with discrete splicing patterns (Mazin et al. 2013). In general, neural-specific splicing of transcriptional regulatory factors is widely described in development, neurodegenerative pathologies, and cancer. Neuron-specific splicing of neural repressor REST contributes to the control of neurogenesis and formation of neuroblastoma tumors (Palm et al. 1998, 1999; Raj et al. 2011). The N-terminally truncated isoform of BAF57, a component of SWI/SNF complex, is implicated in neurogenesis (Kazantseva et al. 2009); while the neuron-specific isoform of TAF1 could be related to progressive neurodegeneration in the striatum (Sako et al. 2011; Jambaldorj et al. 2012). Herein, we show that TAF4 ASVs encoding proteins with altered hTAF4-TAFH domain structure are widely expressed across the adult human brain. As the hTAF4-TAFH co-activator domain interacts with a set of transcriptional regulators, it is evident that a modified domain cannot recognize its canonical ligands and becomes suited for noncanonical cellular functions. Similar regulation of the protein activity by alternative splicing is observed for polypyridine tract binding (PTB) protein (Boutz et al. 2007). General ubiquitously expressed isoform of PTB represses spliceosome, thereby altering its assembly and affecting splicing efficiency. In the brain, however, expression of neuron-specific form of PTB with low binding activity contributes to the high levels of alternative splicing events

Present findings provide new evidence that hTAF4-TAFH domain of TAF4 adds to the control of neural differentiation and could be a valuable tool for studying global mechanisms of brain health and disease. We found that impairment of the hTAF4-TAFH activity of TAF4 is accompanied by accelerated neural differentiation of NHNPs. Targeting hTAF4-TAFH activity of TAF4 by RNAi resulted in a significant downregulation of nestin that is predominantly expressed in stem/progenitor cells and spontaneous upregulation of numerous neural markers. Furthermore, TAF4 RNAi-treated NHNPs showed increased expression of glial- or neuronalspecific genes analyzed at 96 h post-differentiation by RTqPCR and at 5 days by Western blot confirming a more rapid conversion to neuronal and glial cells. These molecular alterations were accompanied with hastened changes in cellular morphology. In contrast, high levels of TAF4 supported the pluripotent state of NHNPs by preventing differentiation. Together, our data argue for the role of hTAF4-TAFH activity as critical for timely regulation of neural differentiation.

Here, we also show data of the involvement of TP53 and WNT signaling pathways in TAF4-mediated neural differentiation. Implication of TP53 in various developmental programs is well established (Stiewe 2007; Molchadsky et al. 2008). TP53 has been shown to control neuronal differentiation (Eizenberg et al. 1996). A genome-wide screening study has revealed that the WNT signaling pathway is one of the major targets of TP53 activity (Lee et al. 2010). Interestingly, in neural progenitors, both canonical and noncanonical WNT signaling has been found to control differentiation to various

🖄 Springer

degrees in a stage-specific manner (Montcouquiol et al. 2006; Davis et al. 2008; Munji et al. 2011). Furthermore, the expression of DKK1, an inhibitor of the canonical WNT pathway, is controlled by TP53 activity (Wang et al. 2000). Overall, our findings are well supported by these studies and strengthen the notion that *TAF4* ASVs encoding TAF4 isoforms with altered hTAF4-TAFH activity control neurogenesis through synergistic activation of TP53 and WNT pathways, although the detailed mechanisms have yet to be established.

Acknowledgement We thank Tõnis Timmusk (Tallinn University of Technology, Estonia) for the human brain RNA panel and Kersti Jääger and Alla Piirsoo for valuable comments. This study was supported by Protobios's grants from Enterprise of Estonia and baseline financing from the Estonian Ministry of Education and Research. KP was supported by institutional research grant IUT19-18 from Estonian Research Council.

Conflict of interest The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

References

- Boutz P, Stoilov P, Li Q et al (2007) A post-transcriptional regulatory switch in polypyrimidine tract-binding proteins reprograms alternative splicing in developing neurons. Genes Dev 21:1636–1652
- Brunkhorst A, Neuman T, Hall A et al (2004) Novel isoforms of the TFIID subunit TAF4 modulate nuclear receptor-mediated transcriptional activity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 325:574–579
- Brunkhorst A, Karlén M, Shi J et al (2005) A specific role for the TFIID subunit TAF4 and RanBPM in neural progenitor differentiation. Mol Cell Neurosci 29:250–258
- Davis EK, Zou Y, Ghosh A (2008) WNTs acting through canonical and noncanonical signaling pathways exert opposite effects on hippocampal synapse formation. Neural Dev 3:32
- Deato MDE, Tjian R (2008) An unexpected role of TAFs and TRFs in skeletal muscle differentiation: switching core promoter complexes. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 73:217–225
- Dehay C, Kennedy H (2009) Transcriptional regulation and alternative splicing make for better brains. Neuron 62:455–457
- Eizenberg O, Faber-Elman A, Gottlieb E, Oren M, Rotter V, Schwartz M (1996) p53 plays a regulatory role in differentiation and apoptosis of central nervous system-associated cells. Mol Cell Biol 16:5178– 5185
- Erceg S, Ronaghi M, Stojković M (2009) Human embryonic stem cell differentiation toward regional specific neural precursors. Stem Cells 27:78–87
- Freiman RN (2009) Specific variants of general transcription factors regulate germ cell development in diverse organisms. Biochim Biophys Acta 1789:161–166
- Jambaldorj J, Makino S, Munkhbat B, Tamiya G (2012) Sustained expression of a neuron-specific isoform of the Taf1 gene in development stages and aging in mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 425:273–277
- Jones KA (2007) Transcription strategies in terminally differentiated cells: shaken to the core. Genes Dev 21:2113–2117
- Kazantseva A, Sepp M, Kazantseva J et al (2009) N-terminally truncated BAF57 isoforms contribute to the diversity of SWI/SNF complexes in neurons. J Neurochem 109:807–818
- Kazantseva J, Kivil A, Tints K, Kazantseva A, Neuman T, Palm K (2013) Alternative splicing targeting hTAF4-TAFH domain of TAF4

represses proliferation and accelerates chondrogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. PLoS ONE 8:e74799

- Lee K-H, Li M, Michalowski AM et al (2010) A genomewide study identifies the Wnt signaling pathway as a major target of p53 in murine embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:69–74
- López AJ (1995) Developmental role of transcription factor isoforms generated by alternative splicing. Dev Biol 172:396–411
- Maston GA, Zhu LJ, Chamberlain L, Lin L, Fang M, Green MR (2012) Non-canonical TAF complexes regulate active promoters in human embryonic stem cells. Elife 1:e00068
- Mazin P, Xiong J, Liu X et al (2013) Widespread splicing changes in human brain development and aging. Mol Syst Biol 9:633
- Molchadsky A, Shats I, Goldfinger N et al (2008) p53 plays a role in mesenchymal differentiation programs, in a cell fate dependent manner. PLoS ONE 3:e3707
- Montcouquiol M, Crenshaw EB 3rd, Kelley MW (2006) Noncanonical Wnt signaling and neural polarity. Annu Rev Neurosci 29:363–386
- Munji RN, Choe Y, Li G, Siegenthaler JA, Pleasure SJ (2011) Wnt signaling regulates neuronal differentiation of cortical intermediate progenitors. J Neurosci 31:1676–1687
- Ozer J, Moore PA, Lieberman PM (2000) A testis-specific transcription factor IIA (TFIIAtau) stimulates TATA-binding protein-DNA binding and transcription activation. J Biol Chem 275:122–128
- Palm K, Belluardo N, Metsis M, Timmusk T (1998) Neuronal expression of zinc finger transcription factor REST/NRSF/XBR gene. J Neurosci 18:1280–1296
- Palm K, Metsis M, Timmusk T (1999) Neuron-specific splicing of zinc finger transcription factor REST/NRSF/XBR is frequent in neuroblastomas and conserved in human, mouse and rat. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 72:30–39

- Pim Pijnappel WWM, Esch D, Baltissen MPA et al (2013) A central role for TFIID in the pluripotent transcription circuitry. Nature 495:516– 519
- Raj B, O'Hanlon D, Vessey JP et al (2011) Cross-regulation between an alternative splicing activator and a transcription repressor controls neurogenesis. Mol Cell 43:843–850
- Sako W, Morigaki R, Kaji R et al (2011) Identification and localization of a neuron-specific isoform of TAF1 in rat brain: implications for neuropathology of DYT3 dystonia. Neuroscience 189: 100–107
- Stiewe T (2007) The p53 family in differentiation and tumorigenesis. Nat Rev Cancer 7:165–168
- Tollervey JR, Wang Z, Hortobagyi T et al (2011) Analysis of alternative splicing associated with aging and neurodegeneration in the human brain. Genome Res 21:1572–1582
- Upadhyaya AB, Khan M, Mou T-C, Junker M, Gray DM, DeJong J (2002) The germ cell-specific transcription factor ALF. Structural properties and stabilization of the TATA-binding protein (TBP)-DNA complex. J Biol Chem 277:34208–34216
- Wang J, Shou J, Chen X (2000) Dickkopf-1, an inhibitor of the Wnt signaling pathway, is induced by p53. Oncogene 19: 1843–1848
- Wang H, Sartini BL, Millette CF, Kilpatrick DL (2006) A developmental switch in transcription factor isoforms during spermatogenesis controlled by alternative messenger RNA 3'-end formation. Biol Reprod 75:318–323
- Wu JQ, Habegger L, Noisa P et al (2010) Dynamic transcriptomes during neural differentiation of human embryonic stem cells revealed by short, long, and paired-end sequencing. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:5254–5259

PUBLICATION III

Kazantseva, J., Palm, K. (2014) Diversity in TAF proteomics: consequences for cellular differentiation and migration. *Review*. Int. J. Mol. Sci. *15*(9), 16680-16697.

OPEN ACCESS International Journal of Molecular Sciences ISSN 1422-0067 www.mdpi.com/journal/ijms

Review

Diversity in TAF Proteomics: Consequences for Cellular Differentiation and Migration

Jekaterina Kazantseva ^{1,2,†,*} and Kaia Palm ^{1,3,†,*}

- ¹ Protobios LLC, Mäealuse 4, Tallinn 12618, Estonia
- ² Cellin Technology LLC, Mäealuse 4, Tallinn 12618, Estonia
- ³ The Department of Gene Technology, Tallinn University of Technology, Akadeemia tee 15, Tallinn 12618, Estonia
- [†] These authors contributed equally to this work.
- * Authors to whom correspondence should be addressed;
 E-Mails: katja@protobios.com (J.K.); kaia@protobios.com (K.P.);
 Tel.: +372-620-2222 (K.P.)

Received: 30 June 2014; in revised form: 25 August 2014 / Accepted: 27 August 2014 / Published: 19 September 2014

Abstract: Development is a highly controlled process of cell proliferation and differentiation driven by mechanisms of dynamic gene regulation. Specific DNA binding factors for establishing cell- and tissue-specific transcriptional programs have been characterised in different cell and animal models. However, much less is known about the role of "core transcription machinery" during cell differentiation, given that general transcription factors and their spatiotemporally patterned activity govern different aspects of cell function. In this review, we focus on the role of TATA-box associated factor 4 (TAF4) and its functional isoforms generated by alternative splicing in controlling lineage-specific differentiation of normal mesenchymal stem cells and cancer stem cells. In the light of our recent findings, induction, control and maintenance of cell differentiation status implies diversification of the transcription initiation apparatus orchestrated by alternative splicing.

Keywords: TAF4; cell-specific transcription; alternative splicing; cancer stem cells

1. Introduction

Cell-specific differentiation for tissue reconstruction is an extensively studied area of research. Common mechanisms of body development by consequent induction of appropriate paracrine and transcription factors are well characterized. Although tissue- and cell-specific transcription factors are widely studied, the role of general transcription machinery in tissue development and homeostasis is not well understood. Next to the spatiotemporal activity of general transcription factors that governs cell differentiation processes, another core process with significant influence on cell-fate decision is alternative splicing. Besides generating protein diversity, coordinated regulation of a myriad of developmental mechanisms in the body is accomplished through the diverse array of alternative protein isoforms and non-coding RNAs. Herein, we focus on reviewing the role and functional changes in the core transcription factor complex IID (TFIID) in controlling pluripotency and lineage-specific differentiation of normal and cancer stem cells. Being at the top of a hierarchical structure that governs vital cell functions, core transcription complex subunits, including TAF4, present a valuable target in understanding cell differentiation and tissue formation, and for advancing tissue-engineering approaches of the clinic.

2. The Diversity of Transcription Factor Complex IID (TFIID) Complex Subunits in Organism Development

Initiation of transcription is the first critical step in the regulation of gene expression. It requires simultaneous operation of a large cohort of transcriptional players—co-activators, trans-activators and components of the preinitiation complex (PIC), participating in the core promoter recognition [1,2] (Figure 1). However, the general transcription machinery that consists of RNA Pol II and the general transcription factors (GTFs) TFIIA, TFIIB, TFIID, TFIIE, TFIIF and TFIIH is necessary and sufficient for basal (core-promoter mediated) transcription.

TFIID is one of the several general transcription factors that compose PIC. TFIID is a large multi-subunit complex that together with TBP participates in the core promoter recognition [3]. TBP-associated factors (TAFs) were biochemically identified as stably associated with TBP components and originally named according to their electrophoretic mobility values [4]. Besides TBP, TFIID contains up to 14 different TAF subunits. The core composition of TFIID is well conserved from yeast to mammals. Interestingly, in addition to TBP, at least two TAFs bind to core promoters in a sequence-dependent manner [5]. Other components of the TFIID complex recognise multiple regulatory *cis*-elements in various combinations, as well as interact with modified nucleosomes and have enzymatic activities [6,7].

Figure 1. Multi-subunit tissue-specific RNA Pol II preinitiation complex (PIC) at the site of transcription. The main components of basal transcription preinitiation machinery (RNA Pol II (purple), GTFs (green), and Mediator (blue)) are presented. The tentative placement of some TBP-associated factors (TAF subunits) in the canonical TFIID complex (orange) is shown. TAF4 is specifically highlighted in brown. The co-activators/co-repressors (light brown) bridge upstream DNA-bound cell-specific transcription factors (yellow) with transcription machinery. It should be noted that various PIC complexes with different subunit compositions and sequence variation (isoforms) might be present, thus further diversifying PIC architecture beyond the example shown in this figure. TF, transcription factor; TBP, TATA box-binding protein; GTFs, general transcription factors.



Different genes utilize unique composition and structural architecture of TBP and TAF subunits, suggesting mechanisms of cell-type-specific regulation of basal transcription factors [8]. The universality of TBP was questioned when TBP-related factors, including TRF1, TRF2 and TRF3, were discovered [9]. TRF1, which is highly homologous to TBP, represents a subunit of an alternative core promoter complex that in *Drosophila* directs promoter-selective transcription via different polymerases in a subset of tissues, including nervous system and gonads [10,11]. TRF2, although broadly conserved from *Caenorhabditis elegans* to human, does not bind to TATA box sequences and is unable to recruit canonical TFIID complexes [12,13]. TRF2 is required for early embryonic development [14] and is highly expressed in mouse testis [15]. These observations imply that only a limited set of core promoter recognition complex subunits, such as TBP and TRF2, is needed to produce highly varied expression patterns. Although TRF3 (TBP2) is widely expressed in adult mammalian tissues, its role is crucial for oogenesis and in early embryonic development [16]. Developmental studies of *Xenopus* have demonstrated that TRF3 can partially rescue loss of TBP, suggesting different activation mechanisms rather than recruitment of specific transcription complexes [17]. TRF3 is essential for the initiation of hematopoiesis [18] and together with TAF3 is required for differentiation of myotubes [19].

Additionally to core TAFs, TAF paralogs are expressed in different cells and tissues [20]. For example, TAF4b [21] together with TAF7L [22] were initially discovered as B-cell-specific, and are involved in oogenesis and spermatogenesis and share similarities in domain structure with respective TAFs. Association of TAF7L and TBP governs adipogenesis through the binding with PPARG-RXR cofactors and directing adipocyte-specific differentiation [23]. Five homologues of canonical TFIID

subunits are expressed during spermatogenesis in *Drosophila*. Namely, the Cannonball, homologue of TAF5; No hitter, homologue of TAF4; Meiosis I arrest, homologue of TAF6; Spermatocyte arrest, homologue of TAF8; and Ryan express, homologue of TAF12 [24]. As a rule, up-regulation of expression of the paralog leads to the dynamic down-regulation of its core partner with accompanying changes in TAF sub-complex structure and composition.

Despite emerging data on the diverse composition of general transcription complexes and their heterogeneity of components during development, very little is known of the orchestration of the basal transcriptional activity in tissue-specific differentiation.

3. The Dynamics of TFIID Complex Components in Development and Differentiation

Given that the diversity of TFIID complexes in development is vast, their composition and functional dynamics at different stages of development are poorly understood.

At the earliest stage of vertebrate development, in the fertilised egg, two dynamic processes are highly crucial: zygotic gene activation and degradation of maternal mRNAs. Both of these events are regulated by the TBP activity [25]. Up-regulation of nuclear TBP levels promotes zygotic gene activation and the ratio of nuclear to cytoplasmic TBP protein regulates gradual degradation of cytoplasmic maternal mRNAs. Basal transcription complex dynamics in zygotic gene activation of *C. elegans* has been characterised for TAF5, TAF10 and TAF11 subunits [26]. In two-cell stage, TAF5 was identified to be vital for the open-complex formation, whereas TAF10 and TAF11 were detected in four-cell-stage nuclei with no impact on RNA Pol II activation. Similarly, in zebrafish embryos, both TBP and TAFs are highly expressed during early phases of gastrulation and their levels drop sharply at later stages of development [27].

Interaction of the intact basal transcription machinery with a set of tissue-specific transcription factors was previously suggested to be required for embryonic development and differentiation. However, more recent publications argue that lineage-specific differentiation involves the selective loss of some of the common RNA Pol II core complex subunits [9]. In addition, expression of different TFIID subunits is comparatively lower in non-differentiated cells as compared to fast proliferating cells [20]. Whether TFIID subunits are actively degraded or replaced by paralogs is currently not clear. Individual TAFs interact with upstream transcription factors and require specific core complex-specific partners for their functional activity. Consistent with this, canonical TFIID complexes do not contribute to transcription of the majority of genes in terminally differentiated hepatocytes [28]. TRF3-TAF3 complexes drive hematopoiesis and myogenic differentiation [18,29], and are essential for endodermal lineage commitment [30]; TAF4 controls ATRA-dependent differentiation [31], and TAF8 is involved in adipogenesis [32]. On the other hand, different transcription initiation mechanisms co-exist in cells during differentiation. Expression of some genes requires most of the canonical TFIID complex subunits, while others are transcribed by subsets of TFIID components. For example, expression of TAF8 is not detected in preadipocytes but is up-regulated during adipogenic differentiation, when the expression of other TAFs is down-regulated [32]. TAF10 is required for normal liver development [33]. Reduced expression of Taf1 and Taf4b affects proliferation of mouse embryonic maxillary mesenchymal cells and causes aberrant bone formation [34].

Germ cells are the best-characterised model of the transcription machinery adaptation during differentiation [35,36]. So far, the most diverse set of TBP and TAF paralogs is found in germ cells, supporting the concept of specialised TFIID complexes that are distinct from the canonical forms. For example TAF4b, the first identified tissue-specific TAF, is important for ovarian follicle development and function [37]. Male germ cell-specific TAF7L governs male fertility [38]. Expression of meiotic genes in gametes is controlled by TRF2 [39]. Oocyte-specific TRF3 replaces core TBP in these highly specialised cells, and its expression decreases during fertilisation, being substituted by TBP [40].

On the whole, very different models of transcription initiation operate during embryonic development and in the adult organism, supporting the concept of different transcription regulatory networks in proliferating and differentiating cells [41]. Identity of ESCs is governed by a set of sequence-specific pluripotent transcription factors, including OCT4, MYC, KLF4 and NANOG [42]. These factors control the activity of the basal transcription complexes via specific interactions with co-activators. Herein, TFIID activity contributes the most to the induction and maintenance of the highly plastic pluripotent state of ESCs [43]. Recent studies in mouse ESCs revealed preferential binding of TFIID to nucleosomes with the active epigenetic H3K4me3 and H3K14ac marks [44] and at genomic regions spanning transcription start sites of mouse ESCs [45]. Similar to early stages of development, in ESCs and pluripotent stem cells, active canonical TFIID complexes are required for cell function. The majority of TAFs are expressed in ESCs at high levels. TAF3 and TAF4 are specifically required for maintaining their pluripotency and function [30,46]. In contrast, different TFIID sub-complexes with redundant components are present in terminally differentiated cells, thereby reflecting the need of different cell types to respond to different external signals. High plasticity and adaptability of the core complex factors allow both highly specialised and broad initiation of transcription depending on the cellular context and developmental setup.

4. TATA Box-Binding Protein (TBP)-Associated Factor (TAF4): Structure, Function and Regulation

TAF4 is one of the largest and ubiquitously expressed subunits of the TFIID complex and is important for maintaining stability and integrity of the TFIID complex. Historically, TAF4 was the first TATA-binding associated factor with demonstrated co-activator function. Now, it is documented that TAF4 interacts with many activators, including Sp1 [47], CREB [48], NCoR [49], E-box transcription factors [50], and c-Jun [51]. TAF4 transcriptional activation is potentiated by the AF-2 motif of RAR α , vitamin D3 and thyroid hormone receptors [52]. TAF4 interacts with HP1 α and HP1 γ , but not HP1 β , further complicating its regulatory mechanisms and functions [53].

The molecular structure of TAF4 is remarkably conserved throughout evolution. Human TAF4 protein consists of an *N*-terminal metazoan-specific polyglutamine tract region, central co-activator binding TAFH domain (ETO, CRI), and *C*-terminal histone-fold domain (HFD, CRII) (Figure 2) [54]. TAF4 HFD is conserved from yeast to human and plays a critical structural role in the TFIID complex formation. By analogy with histone H2A and H2B, TAF4 interacts with TAF12 through structurally similar HFDs. Formed octamer-like sub-structures support the integration of TAF4 into TFIID and its binding to the core promoter regions in the chromatin. The length of the DNA sequence, which is recognised by the TAF4/TAF12 dimers, is about 70 bp and is half of the length of nucleosomal DNA. This suggests

the formation of hetero-complex structures, similar to the nucleosome complex assembly [55]. TAF4 HFDs are sufficient to nucleate the assembly of holo-TFIID complexes. In metazoans, TAF4-TAFH domain is highly conserved in all TAF4 and ETO family members [54]. Structural studies revealed that the α -helical folds of TAF4–TAFH domain forming a large hydrophobic groove are responsible for protein-protein interactions. Using the phage display screening method, the amino acid sequence that is targeting TAF4–TAFH binding surface was determined as $D\Psi\Psi\zeta\zeta\Psi\Phi$ (where Ψ represents V, I, L, or M; ζ represents hydrophilic residues including N, O, S, or T; and Φ represents V, I, L, F, W, Y, or M) and was found to be present in different transcriptional regulators [54]. Thus, potential TAF4-TAFH binding partners include PBX proteins, important in limb development and hematopoiesis; HCF-1 dependent ZF and LZIP activators participating in chromatin modification and cell proliferation; Mediator subunit MED23 involved in post-translational remodeling of chromatin substrates; and a number of histone deacetylases, demethylases and kinases regulating cell cycle. Different to ETO-TAFH, vertebrate TAF4-TAFH domains exhibit unique packing of 5 helices and as a result, present very flat and extended binding surfaces. This allows a much broader spectrum of interactions and thus serves as a platform for positive and negative transcription regulation. It is important to note here that the TAF4 gene is duplicated in mammals and has an ovarian-specific paralogue TAF4b [37].

Figure 2. Alternative splicing of human *TAF4* (*NM_003185.3*) leads to a variety of protein isoforms. *TAF4* gene structure and major TAF4 isoforms with deletions in the co-activator-binding hTAF4–TAFH domain are outlined. Some isoforms of TAF4, for example TAF4 ASV_v2, differ in their *C*-terminus. Functionally important TAFH (hTAF4–TAFH, orange) and HF (Histone-fold, blue) domains are highlighted. Boundaries of hTAF4–TAFH domain are shown by amino acid residue numbers above the structures and correspond to their position in the canonical form of TAF4, where the * symbol represents deletion of the amino acids 628–658 in the TAFH domain.



The role of TAF4 in a range of cellular physiological processes and in somatic cell reprogramming has been extensively studied and identified. In various organisms, downregulation of TAF4 activity has dramatic effects on cell fate. RNAi-mediated knockout of *Taf4* in *Drosophila* considerably disturbs TFIID stability, suggesting that TAF4 is its key structural subunit [56]. In *C. elegans*, depletion of TAF4 is highly destructive with effects similar to RNA Pol II loss-of-function [57]. Reversible and controlled repression of TAF4 is one of the mechanisms that regulate cellular development and differentiation. In the early embryo of *C. elegans*, TAF4 interacts with OMA-1/2, proteins that are necessary for oocyte

maturation. This interferes with TAF4 and TAF12 dimer formation and ultimately results in TAF4 sequestration to the cytoplasm. During the early stages of germline blastomere development, this process represses transcription. However, the degradation of OMA proteins in cytoplasm releases TAF4, which binds TAF12 and the resultant TAF4/TAF12 heterodimers translocate to the nucleus to restore transcription [57]. In mouse, Taf4 is not essential for cell viability, but its inactivation affects proliferation [58]. Notably, $Taf4^{-/-}$ fibroblasts contain intact TFIID and do not exhibit cell cycle arrest or apoptosis. Interestingly, Taf4 inactivation is associated with alterations in cellular morphology, serum-independent autocrine growth and deregulation of more than 1000 genes [58]. These changes in gene expression together with suppression of serum-independent growth are restored by re-expression of protein isoforms containing the CRII domain. Taf4 depletion leads to high expression of TGFB thereby enhancing SMAD (Sma and Mad Related Family) signalling by the positive feedback loop. Loss of Taf4 further induces the expression of matrix metalloproteases, CTGF and OPN, which are important regulators of metastasis, thereby contributing to the oncogenic functions of TAF4. Ectopic expression of truncated forms of TAF4, containing TAFH but not CRII domains, yielded in accelerated cell growth. In contrast, cells expressing TAF4 CRII alone display slowed rate of growth [59]. The levels of TAF4 expression have been shown to control cell differentiation. Targeted proteolysis of Taf4 is observed in differentiating mouse F9 embryonal carcinoma cells [60,61], and during differentiation of C2C12 myoblasts into myotubes [62,63]. In contrast, enhanced expression of Taf4 impairs endodermal differentiation, whereas enhanced expression of CRII domains had no effects on this differentiation process in F9 cells [31]. These results showed for the first time that regulated degradation of TAF4 is required for differentiation into select cell lineages.

TAF4 activity is vital for different cellular physiological processes. TAF4 was demonstrated to act as a co-factor of retinoic acid receptors, and that its CRII domain alone is sufficient to mediate CREB and RAR activity. In a case of CRII deletion, it has been shown that ATRA can signal via TP53 to exert anti-apoptotic effects [31]. In addition, TAFH was identified as a domain targeted by Pygopus that promotes WG/WNT target gene transcription throughout Drosophila development [64,65]. Selective loss of Taf4 in the mouse fetal epidermis results in aberrant skin appearance and histology, enhanced water loss and early post-natal death, suggesting defective skin barrier function [59]. In adult mouse epidermis, Taf4 participates in the normal hair cycle, as Taf4 deficiency results in fur loss. In addition, Taf4 deficit induces epidermal hyperplasia and aberrant differentiation of mouse adult basal keratinocytes. Moreover, Taf4 inactivation significantly alters cell adhesion, cell communication and induces the expression of markers correlating with oncogenic transformation. These changes stimulate tumour formation by enhancing malignant transformation. Upon histological analysis, the tumour cells exhibit melanocyte-like phenotype with high expression of genes involved in melanocyte signalling. However, it is worth noting that a set of genes affected by the loss of Taf4 in mouse keratinocytes is different from that seen in the embryonic fibroblasts or fetal epidermis, suggesting involvement of different regulatory pathways. For example, in fibroblasts, the TGF β pathway is activated, whereas in keratinocytes the EGF signalling is enhanced. Other studies connect Taf4 inactivation in MEFs with the formation of fibrospheres and activated expression of pro-oncogenic Collagen 6A3 [66]. The mechanism involves repression of Hippo signaling and activation of the WNT pathway. Interestingly, treatment of MEFs by ATRA restores TAF4-abolished effects.

The most recent studies have focused on the function of TFIID, and TAF4 in particular, in reprogramming of somatic cells and ESCs. ChIP sequencing data revealed the binding of Nanog and Oct4 to the regulatory region of mouse *Taf4* gene [67], which acted as an ESC-specific enhancer. In MEFs and adult human fibroblasts, exclusion of TAF4 from the TFIID complex inhibited reprogramming of the somatic cells while TAF4 over-expression facilitated iPSC formation [46]. These findings evidence a positive feedback circuit between TAF4 and the pluripotency factors. Namely, enforced expression of TAF4 activates expression of the pluripotency factors, which in turn enable to maintain high levels of TAF4 expression.

Thus implicated in the majority of vital cellular processes, TAF4 as the component of the general transcriptional machinery is a valuable target for controlling cell functions.

5. Coordinated Switching of *TAF4* Alternative Splice Variants Controls Differentiation and Migration of Normal Progenitors and Cancer Stem Cells

Alternative splicing plays a key role in generating complex proteomes, breaking the "one gene, one protein" rule. Existence of multiple mRNA variants for a single gene explains, at least in part, the complexity of some organisms like humans, having about 20,000 protein-coding genes in their genome [68]. Moreover, alternative splicing enables quantitative gene control through regulation of various regulatory RNAs and by targeting RNAs to non-sense-mediated decay. Genome-wide analysis has revealed differential expression of alternative spliced mRNAs in various tissues and cell types [69,70].

Consistent with the notion that alternative splicing should avoid destruction of the protein domains, it targets mostly the areas of structure with minimally exposed hydrophobic surfaces and with high intrinsic disorder [71,72]. Removal of protein–protein interaction domains by alternative splicing affects drastically protein function. However, changed by alternative splicing protein–protein interaction domains are very common to regulators of transcription [73,74]. Ankyrin repeat, DNA-binding zinc finger, homeobox, and KRAB [75] domains of transcriptional factors are frequent targets of alternative splicing modification.

To date, a close link between transcription and splicing has been shown [76]. Transcription factors such as TAT-SF1, CA150, SKIP and co-activator PGC-1 are present in the spliceosome and perform dual functions in transcription and splicing. Thus, it is highly conceivable that both processes are simultaneously coupled together in space and time [77]. Consistent with this, the *C*-terminal domain of RNA Pol II directly participates in exon recognition [78]; differences in promoter structure recognition are often associated with differences in alternative splicing of pre-mRNA [79]; some transcriptional co-activators and co-regulators modulate alternative splicing, sometimes in a synergetic manner [80,81].

One of the major challenges today is studying the role of specific splice variants in the cell context. It has been shown that siRNA targeting of intron or exon sequences near the alternative-splicing sites affects the splicing process of these sequences [82]. Among protein isoforms whose function is studied by using this technique are adapter protein ShcA [83], spleen tyrosine kinase [84], and pyruvate kinase M1 and M2 [85].

Analyses of the alternative splicing of TAF4 in various mouse and human cells and tissues identified multiple and complex splicing patterns [86,87]. In mouse, five alternative isoforms with deletions in the functional domains result in dominant negative effects in nuclear receptor-mediated

transcriptional activation [86]. Complex patterns of TAF4 alternative splicing occur in different human tissues [87]. Although, a significant number of TAF4 alternatively spliced mRNAs contain a premature termination codon, indicating that these splice transcripts are subjected to the nonsense-mediated RNA decay, others preserve the open reading frame (ORF) and could be considered as possessing some functional properties in the cell. Depending on the cell type, there is a different balance of expression between full-length TAF4 and the rest of the alternative splice variants (ASVs). Some of the ASVs are invariantly expressed across tissues; others exhibit patterns of cell type-specific expression. Interestingly, the dominant expression of canonical full-length form of TAF4 is observed mainly in the cells with stem cells characteristics [86–88], while differentiated cells demonstrate multiple patterns of different combinations of TAF4 ASVs. The most prone to alternative splicing exons of TAF4 are those encoding the functional co-activator-binding hTAF4-TAFH domain (Figure 2). Since this domain is involved in the cooperation with a set of transcription activators like E-box proteins, WNT signalling mediating Pygopus, and others, it is likely that the structure of hTAF4–TAFH, which is cell-specifically targeted by alternative splicing, affects its interaction properties and dictates further cell development. As mentioned above, TAF4 is one of the structural components of TFIID complex and affects its stability. Therefore, alternative splicing of TAF4 is most likely to have strong impacts on the integrity and functional activity of TFIID as well as on the core transcription machinery as a whole. Consistent with this, some of its alternative transcripts generate alternative protein isoforms, which differ from canonical TAF4 protein functions.

Our recent data demonstrate that TAF4 RNAi leads to the appearance of new ASVs with serious effects on cell differentiation [87,88]. Namely, in human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells, silencing of canonical TAF4 activity and appearance of new hTAF4-TAFH-defected ASVs contributes to the repression of adipogenic and ostegenic programs, while promoting chondrogenesis [87]. Similarly, high expression of full-length TAF4 is necessary for maintenance of multipotency in normal human neural progenitors but is dispensable for transcription in differentiated cells, as TAF4 RNAi induces expression of ASVs and stimulates neuronal differentiation [88]. The exact mechanisms are currently unclear, although, our initial findings revealed the involvement of WNT and p53 signalling pathways. Our data showed the switching from canonical to non-canonical WNT pathways in response to TAF4 RNAi [87]. It is interesting to note that other studies have found that suppression of canonical WNT signalling supports chondrogenesis, contributes to cell migration [89,90], and affects bone formation and limb development [91]. Thus, the switch from canonical to non-canonical WNT signalling could be one of the regulative mechanisms in TAF4 activity-deficient progenitor cells. p53 signalling appears also to play a role in differentiation of TAF4-deficient mesenchymal stem cells. Several recent studies link TP53 activity to cell differentiation [92] in addition to its well-established role in apoptosis. Interestingly, in TAF4-depleted mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), increased levels of TP53 induce cell cycle arrest without any signs of apoptosis or cell senescence [87].

Adding support to the hypothesis that sustained expression of TAF4 impairs cell differentiation, *TAF4* RNAi induced spontaneous differentiation of facial dermal fibroblasts into melanocyte-like cells [93]. Phenotypic features of melanocyte-specific transformation of TAF4-deficient fibroblasts included darkening of the cell pellets due to melanin secretion and high levels of expression of master of melanogenic transcription factor MITF. This molecular transformation was accompanied by events reminiscent of the epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition, as *TAF4* silencing inversely correlated with

cadherin switch: down-regulation of TAF4 in the dermal fibroblasts suppressed *E*-cadherin and supported *N*-cadherin expression. It is known from other data that cadherin switch contributes to cancer progression and emergence of cells with stem-like characteristics [94,95].

Cells that are prone to multilineage differentiation, such as fibroblasts and mesenchymal stem cells, express canonical TAF4 at low levels as compared with wide expression of alternative splice variants encoding TAF4 isoforms. At the same time, cells with high pluripotent potential express elevated levels of canonical TAF4. In contrast, cancer cells, such as melanoma, express both canonical and other isoforms of TAF4 at high levels, thereby raising the question of the differentiation potential of tumour cells. Overall, highly plastic and heterogeneous melanoma cells fit well to the cancer stem cell model. Melanoma cells express pluripotent and differentiation-associated genes and differentiate into a wide range of cell types [96–98]. Altogether, our data using TAF4 gain- and loss-of function studies allow the conclusion that melanomas have properties of stem cells and exhibit multilineage differentiation potential [93]. Through regulation of the TAF4 ASVs expression balance in melanoma, it is possible to get melanoma populations with strong multipotent properties or drive cells to differentiate. Upon TAF4 RNAi, a change in expression from canonical to alternative TAF4 isoforms with disturbed hTAF4-TAFH activity is observed, whereas removal of hTAF4-TAFH activity accelerates differentiation of melanoma cells along chondrogenic, adipogenic and neural lineages. The accelerated differentiation is accompanied with the down-regulated expression of melanoma-specific genes and cellular proliferation. In contrast, ectopic expression of the canonical TAF4 in melanoma cells leads to the up-regulation of pluripotency markers KLF4, OCT4 and NANOG [93]. Thus, pluripotency and differentiation status of normal and cancer cells can be controlled by TAF4 ASV expression.

Targeting the self-renewal and differentiation potential of stem cells for clinical use is worthless if the migration of cells to target tissues cannot be appropriately controlled. Migration of stem cells to different organs and target niches requires active guiding, a process termed homing. Homing is necessary for tissue transplantation and for seeding stem progenitors during development. Being better understood and studied for hematopoietic stem cells, it is also applicable to mesenchymal and cancer stem cells [99,100]. Furthermore, considering that cancer is often a stem cell-retaining disease, it is important to understand the different features of homing and migration of cancer and normal stem cells in order to better control tumour progression. However, the molecular mechanisms underlying the motility potential of stem/progenitor cells are not well studied.

Our recent data demonstrate that reduced expression of full-length TAF4 by RNAi leads to the enhanced motility of normal dermal fibroblasts and malignant melanoma cells [93]. In contrast, transient over-expression of canonical TAF4 diminishes the invasion potential of the melanoma cells. Observed changes were accompanied by molecular switches in E/N cadherin and matrix metallopeptidases expression. The regulated expression of canonical and other TAF4 isoforms reveals a remarkable conservation in different cell systems, and supports cell state transitions (between pluripotency and differentiation) and migration (Figure 3).

Figure 3. A model describing the cross-talk between canonical TAF4 and its alternative isoforms in pluripotent (stem cells) and differentiated cells, and their relation to migration. High levels of canonical TAF4 (blue arrow from left to right) are a characteristic to normal stem cells and cancer cells. In contrast, differentiated cells maintain high expression of TAF4 isoforms with deletions in hTAF4–TAFH domain (blue arrow from right to left). Functional balance between canonical and alternative isoforms of TAF4 is crucial for cell migration. Consistent with this, cells with low expression of canonical TAF4 are prone to migration contrasting with low motility of cells with high levels of TAF4 activity.



Altogether, our studies identify TAF4 as a critical modulator of cell differentiation and metastatic spread of cancer. Loss of hTAF4–TAFH activity by regulated alternative splicing affects cell homeostasis of normal and cancer cells. Regulation of the equilibrium of *TAF4* alternative mRNAs encoding functionally different protein isoforms provides the possibility to direct cell status towards either pluripotency or differentiation. This finding is reinforced by the observation that motility of normal and malignant cells and the expression of full-length *TAF4* are inversely correlated, thereby combining the concepts of cell migration in development and disease progression.

6. Conclusions

Deeper understanding of the molecular mechanisms behind cellular differentiation is extremely important for the development of new and improved cellular therapies. One of the novel approaches could include modulation of the composition and activity of basal transcription complex factors, for example, utilizing *Taf4* RNAi to enhance chondrogenic differentiation. This strategy has two significant benefits: suppression of TAF4 canonical activity accelerates chondrogenic differentiation and enhances motility of the mesenchymal progenitors, thereby directing modified cell pools to the distant target sites throughout the body.

In summary, the detailed understanding of TAF4 proteomics in different cellular contexts, including tumour cells, will clearly be of immense benefit for future prospects of cell-directed therapeutics.

Acknowledgments

We thank Anastassia Voronova for proofreading and valuable commentaries.

Author Contributions

Jekaterina Kazantseva reviewed literature, generated figures and wrote the manuscript. Kaia Palm contributed to revising and editing.

Abbreviations

ATRA, all-trans retinoic acid; BAF45/BAF53, BRG1-Associated Factor 45/53; CA150, co-activator of 150 kDa; ch-ERG, chicken Ets-related transcription factor; CREB, cAMP response element-binding protein; CTGF, connective tissue growth factor; c-Jun, V-jun avian sarcoma virus 17 oncogene homolog; EGF, epidermal growth factor; ETO domain, 8:21 translocation domain; GTFs, general transcription factors; HCF-1, host cell factor 1; HP, heterochromatin protein; KLF4, Krüppel-like factor 4; KRAB, Krüppel associated box; lncRNA, long non-coding RNA; LZIP, leucine zipper protein; MEFs, mouse embryonic fibroblasts; MIA/CD-RAP, melanoma inhibiting activity/cartilage-derived retinoic acid-sensitive protein; MITF, microphthalmia-associated transcription factor; MYC, myelocytomatosis viral oncogene; NCoR, nuclear receptor co-repressor; OCT4, octamer-binding transcription factor 4; OMA-1/2, overlapping activity with M-AAA protease 1/2; OPN, osteopontin; PBAF, polybromo-associated BAF; PBX, pre-B cell leukemia transcription factor; PGC-1, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator; PPARG, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors; RAR α , retinoic acid receptor-alpha; RXR, retinoid X receptor; ShcA, Src homology 2 domain containing transforming protein A; SKIP, Ski-interacting protein; SMAD, Sma and Mad Related Family; Sox9, SRY (sex determining region Y)-box 9; Sp1, specificity protein 1; SWI/SNF, SWItch/Sucrose NonFermentable; TAF, TATA box-binding protein (TBP)-associated factor; TAT-SF1, cofactor required for Tat activation of HIV-1 transcription; TBP, TATA-box protein; TGF β , transforming growth factor beta; WG/WNT, wingless; ZF, zinc finger.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Tang, H.; Sun, X.; Reinberg, D.; Ebright, R.H. Protein–protein interactions in eukaryotic transcription initiation: Structure of the preinitiation complex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **1996**, *93*, 1119–1124.
- 2. Kuras, L.; Struhl, K. Binding of TBP to promoters *in vivo* is stimulated by activators and requires Pol II holoenzyme. *Nature* **1999**, *399*, 609–613.
- 3. Burley, S.K.; Roeder, R.G. Biochemistry and structural biology of transcription factor IID (TFIID). *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* **1996**, *65*, 769–799.
- 4. Dynlacht, B.D.; Hoey, T.; Tjian, R. Isolation of coactivators associated with the TATA-binding protein that mediate transcriptional activation. *Cell* **1991**, *66*, 563–576.
- Cianfrocco, M.A.; Kassavetis, G.A.; Grob, P.; Fang, J.; Juven-Gershon, T.; Kadonaga, J.T.; Nogales, E. Human TFIID binds to core promoter DNA in a reorganized structural state. *Cell* 2013, 152, 120–131.
6.

- mechanisms: Do TFIID-core promoter complexes recapitulate nucleosome-like functions? *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **1997**, *94*, 8928–8935.
- 7. Wassarman, D.A.; Sauer, F. TAF(II)250: A transcription toolbox. J. Cell Sci. 2001, 114, 2895–2902.
- 8. Ohtsuki, S.; Levine, M.; Cai, H.N. Different core promoters possess distinct regulatory activities in the Drosophila embryo. *Genes Dev.* **1998**, *12*, 547–556.
- 9. D'Alessio, J.A.; Wright, K.J.; Tjian, R. Shifting players and paradigms in cell-specific transcription. *Mol. Cell* **2009**, *36*, 924–931.
- 10. Crowley, T.E.; Hoey, T.; Liu, J.K.; Jan, Y.N.; Jan, L.Y.; Tjian, R. A new factor related to TATA-binding protein has highly restricted expression patterns in Drosophila. *Nature* **1993**, *361*, 557–561.
- 11. Hansen, S.K.; Takada, S.; Jacobson, R.H.; Lis, J.T.; Tjian, R. Transcription properties of a cell type-specific TATA-binding protein, TRF. *Cell* **1997**, *91*, 71–83.
- 12. Rabenstein, M.D.; Zhou, S.; Lis, J.T.; Tjian, R. TATA box-binding protein (TBP)-related factor 2 (TRF2), a third member of the TBP family. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **1999**, *96*, 4791–4796.
- 13. Maldonado, E. Transcriptional functions of a new mammalian TATA-binding protein-related factor. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1999**, *274*, 12963–12966.
- 14. Dantonel, J.C.; Quintin, S.; Lakatos, L.; Labouesse, M.; Tora, L. TBP-like factor is required for embryonic RNA polymerase II transcription in *C. elegans. Mol. Cell* **2000**, *6*, 715–722.
- 15. Sugiura, S.; Kashiwabara, S.; Iwase, S.; Baba, T. Expression of a testis-specific form of TBP-related factor 2 (TRF2) mRNA during mouse spermatogenesis. *J. Reprod. Dev.* **2003**, *49*, 107–111.
- 16. Gazdag, E.; Rajkovic, A.; Torres-Padilla, M.E.; Tora, L. Analysis of TATA-binding protein 2 (TBP2) and TBP expression suggests different roles for the two proteins in regulation of gene expression during oogenesis and early mouse development. *Reproduction* **2007**, *134*, 51–62.
- Jallow, Z.; Jacobi, U.G.; Weeks, D.L.; Dawid, I.B.; Veenstra, G.J.C. Specialized and redundant roles of TBP and a vertebrate-specific TBP paralog in embryonic gene regulation in Xenopus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2004, *101*, 13525–13530.
- 18. Hart, D.O.; Santra, M.K.; Raha, T.; Green, M.R. Selective interaction between *Trf3* and *Taf3* required for early development and hematopoiesis. *Dev. Dyn.* **2009**, *238*, 2540–2549.
- 19. Deato, M.D.E.; Marr. M.T.; Sottero, T.; Inouye, C.; Hu, P.; Tjian, R. MyoD targets TAF3/TRF3 to activate myogenin transcription. *Mol. Cell* **2008**, *32*, 96–105.
- 20. Hochheimer, A.; Tjian, R. Diversified transcription initiation complexes expand promoter selectivity and tissue-specific gene expression. *Genes Dev.* **2003**, *17*, 1309–1320.
- 21. Falender, A.E.; Freiman, R.N.; Geles, K.G.; Lo, K.C.; Hwang, K.; Lamb, D.J.; Morris, P.L.; Tjian, R.; Richards, J.S. Maintenance of spermatogenesis requires TAF4b, a gonad-specific subunit of TFIID. *Genes Dev.* **2005**, *19*, 794–803.
- 22. Pointud, J.; Mengus, G.; Brancorsini, S.; Monaco, L.; Parvinen, M.; Sassone-Corsi, P.; Davidson, I. The intracellular localisation of TAF7L, a paralogue of transcription factor TFIID subunit TAF7, is developmentally regulated during male germ-cell differentiation. *J. Cell Sci.* **2003**, *116*, 1847–1858.

- 23. Zhou, H.; Kaplan, T.; Li, Y.; Grubisic, I.; Zhang, Z.; Wang, P.J.; Eisen, M.B.; Tjian, R. Dual functions of TAF7L in adipocyte differentiation. *Elife* **2013**, *2*, e00170.
- 24. Freiman, R.N. Specific variants of general transcription factors regulate germ cell development in diverse organisms. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **2009**, *1789*, 161–166.
- Ferg, M.; Sanges, R.; Gehrig, J.; Kiss, J.; Bauer, M.; Lovas, A.; Szabo, M.; Yang, L.; Straehle, U.; Pankratz, M.J.; *et al.* The TATA-binding protein regulates maternal mRNA degradation and differential zygotic transcription in zebrafish. *EMBO J.* 2007, *26*, 3945–3956.
- 26. Walker, A.K.; Rothman, J.H.; Shi, Y.; Blackwell, T.K. Distinct requirements for *C. elegans* TAF(II)s in early embryonic transcription. *EMBO J.* **2001**, *20*, 5269–5279.
- 27. Tadros, W.; Lipshitz, H.D. The maternal-to-zygotic transition: A play in two acts. *Development* **2009**, *136*, 3033–3042.
- Tatarakis, A.; Margaritis, T.; Martinez-Jimenez, C.P.; Kouskouti, A.; Mohan, W.S., 2nd; Haroniti, A.; Kafetzopoulos, D.; Tora, L.; Talianidis, I. Dominant and redundant functions of TFIID involved in the regulation of hepatic genes. *Mol. Cell* 2008, *31*, 531–543.
- 29. Hart, D.O.; Raha, T.; Lawson, N.D.; Green, M.R. Initiation of zebrafish haematopoiesis by the TATA-box-binding protein-related factor Trf3. *Nature* **2007**, *450*, 1082–1085.
- 30. Liu, Z.; Scannell, D.R.; Eisen, M.B.; Tjian, R. Control of embryonic stem cell lineage commitment by core promoter factor, TAF3. *Cell* **2011**, *146*, 720–731.
- Fadloun, A.; Kobi, D.; Delacroix, L.; Dembélé, D.; Michel, I.; Lardenois, A.; Tisserand, J.; Losson, R.; Mengus, G.; Davidson, I.; *et al.* Retinoic acid induces TGFβ-dependent autocrine fibroblast growth. *Oncogene* 2008, 27, 477–489.
- 32. Guermah, M.; Ge, K.; Chiang, C.M.; Roeder, R.G. The TBN protein, which is essential for early embryonic mouse development, is an inducible TAFII implicated in adipogenesis. *Mol. Cell* **2003**, *12*, 991–1001.
- 33. Goodrich, J.A.; Tjian, R. Unexpected roles for core promoter recognition factors in cell-type-specific transcription and gene regulation. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* **2010**, *11*, 549–558.
- 34. Wata, J.; Hosokawa, R.; Sanchez-Lara, P.A.; Urata, M.; Slavkin, H.; Chai, Y. Transforming growth factor-beta regulates basal transcriptional regulatory machinery to control cell proliferation and differentiation in cranial neural crest-derived osteoprogenitor cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2010**, *285*, 4975–4982.
- 35. Hiller, M.A.; Lin, T.Y.; Wood, C.; Fuller, M.T. Developmental regulation of transcription by a tissue-specific TAF homolog. *Genes Dev.* **2001**, *15*, 1021–1030.
- Hiller, M.; Chen, X.; Pringle, M.J.; Suchorolski, M.; Sancak, Y.; Viswanathan, S.; Bolival, B.; Lin, T.Y.; Marino, S.; Fuller, M.T.; *et al.* Testis-specific TAF homologs collaborate to control a tissue-specific transcription program. *Development* 2004, *131*, 5297–5308.
- 37. Dikstein, R.; Zhou, S.; Tjian, R. Human TAFII 105 is a cell type-specific TFIID subunit related to hTAFII130. *Cell* **1996**, *87*, 137–146.
- Zheng, K.; Yang, F.; Wang, P.J. Regulation of male fertility by X-linked genes. J. Androl. 2010, 31, 79–85.
- Siderakis, M.; Tarsounas, M. Telomere regulation and function during meiosis. *Chromosome Res.* 2007, 15, 667–679.

- 40. Müller, F.; Tora, L. TBP2 is a general transcription factor specialized for female germ cells. *J. Biol.* **2009**, *8*, 97.
- 41. Müller, F.; Zaucker, A.; Tora, L. Developmental regulation of transcription initiation: More than just changing the actors. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* **2010**, *20*, 533–540.
- 42. Chambers, I.; Tomlinson, S.R. The transcriptional foundation of pluripotency. *Development* **2009**, *136*, 2311–2322.
- 43. Baumann, K. Stem cells: TFIID promotes pluripotency. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 2013, 14, 264.
- 44. Van Nuland, R.; Schram, A.W.; van Schaik, F.M.A.; Jansen, P.W.T.C.; Vermeulen, M.; Marc Timmers, H.T. Multivalent engagement of TFIID to nucleosomes. *PLoS One* **2013**, *8*, e73495.
- 45. Ku, M.; Jaffe, J.D.; Koche, R.P.; Rheinbay, E.; Endoh, M.; Koseki, H.; Carr, S.A.; Bernstein, B.E. H2A. Z landscapes and dual modifications in pluripotent and multipotent stem cells underlie complex genome regulatory functions. *Genome Biol.* **2012**, *13*, R85.
- 46. Pijnappel, W.W.M.P.; Esch, D.; Baltissen, M.P.A.; Wu, G.; Mischerikow, N.; Bergsma, A.J.; van der Wal, E.; Han, D.W.; Bruch, H.V.; Moritz, S.; *et al.* A central role for TFIID in the pluripotent transcription circuitry. *Nature* **2013**, *495*, 516–519.
- 47. Hoey, T.; Weinzierl, R.O.; Gill, G.; Chen, J.L.; Dynlacht, B.D.; Tjian, R. Molecular cloning and functional analysis of Drosophila TAF110 reveal properties expected of coactivators. *Cell* **1993**, *72*, 247–260.
- 48. Ferreri, K.; Gill, G.; Montminy, M. The cAMP-regulated transcription factor CREB interacts with a component of the TFIID complex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **1994**, *91*, 1210–1213.
- Wei, Y.; Liu, S.; Lausen, J.; Woodrell, C.; Cho, S.; Biris, N.; Kobayashi, N.; Wei, Y.; Yokoyama, S.; Werner, M.H.; *et al.* A TAF4-homology domain from the corepressor ETO is a docking platform for positive and negative regulators of transcription. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 2007, 14, 653–661.
- 50. Chen, W.; Zhang, J.; Geng, H.; Du, Z.; Nakadai, T.; Roeder, R.G. A TAF4 coactivator function for E proteins that involves enhanced TFIID binding. *Genes Dev.* **2013**, *27*, 1596–1609.
- Liu, W.; Coleman, R.A.; Grob, P.; King, D.S.; Florens, L.; Washburn, M.P.; Geles, K.G.; Yang, J.L.; Ramey, V.; Nogales, E.; *et al.* Structural changes in TAF4b-TFIID correlate with promoter selectivity. *Mol. Cell* 2008, *29*, 81–91.
- 52. Mengus, G.; May, M.; Carré, L.; Chambon, P.; Davidson, I. Human TAF(II)135 potentiates transcriptional activation by the AF-2s of the retinoic acid, vitamin D3, and thyroid hormone receptors in mammalian cells. *Genes Dev.* **1997**, *11*, 1381–1395.
- 53. Vassallo, M.F.; Tanese, N. Isoform-specific interaction of HP1 with human TAFII130. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2002**, *99*, 5919–5924.
- 54. Wang, X.; Truckses, D.M.; Takada, S.; Matsumura, T.; Tanese, N.; Jacobson, R.H. Conserved region I of human coactivator TAF4 binds to a short hydrophobic motif present in transcriptional regulators. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2007**, *104*, 7839–7844.
- 55. Gazit, K.; Moshonov, S.; Elfakess, R.; Sharon, M.; Mengus, G.; Davidson, I.; Dikstein, R. TAF4/4b × TAF12 displays a unique mode of DNA binding and is required for core promoter function of a subset of genes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2009**, *284*, 26286–26296.

- 56. Wright, K.J.; Marr, M.T., 2nd; Tjian, R. TAF4 nucleates a core subcomplex of TFIID and mediates activated transcription from a TATA-less promoter. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2006**, *103*, 12347–12352.
- 57. Guven-Ozkan, T.; Nishi, Y.; Robertson, S.M.; Lin, R. Global transcriptional repression in *C. elegans* germline precursors by regulated sequestration of TAF-4. *Cell* **2008**, *135*, 149–160.
- Mengus, G.; Fadloun, A.; Kobi, D.; Thibault, C.; Perletti, L.; Michel, I.; Davidson, I. TAF4 inactivation in embryonic fibroblasts activates TGFβ signalling and autocrine growth. *EMBO J.* 2005, 24, 2753–2767.
- 59. Fadloun, A.; Kobi, D.; Pointud, J.; Indra, A.K.; Teletin, M.; Bole-Feysot, C.; Testoni, B.; Mantovani, R.; Metzger, D.; Mengus, G.; *et al.* The TFIID subunit TAF4 regulates keratinocyte proliferation and has cell-autonomous and non-cell-autonomous tumour suppressor activity in mouse epidermis. *Development* **2007**, *134*, 2947–2958.
- 60. Perletti, L.; Kopf, E.; Carré, L.; Davidson, I. Coordinate regulation of RARγ2, TBP, and TAFII135 by targeted proteolysis during retinoic acid-induced differentiation of F9 embryonal carcinoma cells. *BMC Mol. Biol.* **2001**, *2*, 4.
- 61. Harris, T.M.; Childs, G. Global gene expression patterns during differentiation of F9 embryonal carcinoma cells into parietal endoderm. *Funct. Integr. Genomics* **2002**, *2*, 105–119.
- 62. Perletti, L.; Dantonel, J.C.; Davidson, I. The TATA-binding protein and its associated factors are differentially expressed in adult mouse tissues. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1999**, *274*, 15301–15304.
- 63. Deato, M.D.E.; Tjian, R. An unexpected role of TAFs and TRFs in skeletal muscle differentiation: Switching core promoter complexes. *Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol.* **2008**, 73, 217–225.
- 64. Wright, K.J.; Tjian, R. Wnt signaling targets ETO coactivation domain of TAF4/TFIID *in vivo*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2009**, *106*, 55–60.
- 65. Marr, M.T., 2nd. TAF4 takes flight. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 2009, 106, 1295–1296.
- 66. Martianov, I.; Cler, E.; Duluc, I.; Vicaire, S.; Philipps, M.; Freund, J.; Davidson, I. TAF4 inactivation reveals the 3 dimensional growth promoting activities of collagen 6A3. *PLoS One* **2014**, *9*, e87365.
- 67. Chen, X.; Xu, H.; Yuan, P.; Fang, F.; Huss, M.; Vega, V.B.; Wong, E.; Orlov, Y.L.; Zhang, W.; Jiang, J.; *et al.* Integration of external signaling pathways with the core transcriptional network in embryonic stem cells. *Cell* **2008**, *133*, 1106–1117.
- 68. International Human Genome Sequencing Consortium. Finishing the euchromatic sequence of the human genome. *Nature* **2004**, *431*, 931–945.
- 69. Castle, J.C.; Zhang, C.; Shah, J.K.; Kulkarni, A.V.; Kalsotra, A.; Cooper, T.A.; Johnson, J.M. Expression of 24,426 human alternative splicing events and predicted *cis* regulation in 48 tissues and cell lines. *Nat. Genet.* **2008**, *40*, 1416–1425.
- Wang, E.T.; Sandberg, R.; Luo, S.; Khrebtukova, I.; Zhang, L.; Mayr, C.; Kingsmore, S.F.; Schroth, G.P.; Burge, C.B. Alternative isoform regulation in human tissue transcriptomes. *Nature* 2008, 456, 470–476.

- Romero, P.R.; Zaidi, S.; Fang, Y.Y.; Uversky, V.N.; Radivojac, P.; Oldfield, C.J.; Cortese, M.S.; Sickmeier, M.; LeGall, T.; Obradovic, Z.; *et al.* Alternative splicing in concert with protein intrinsic disorder enables increased functional diversity in multicellular organisms. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2006, *103*, 8390–8395.
- 72. Hegyi, H.; Kalmar, L.; Horvath, T.; Tompa, P. Verification of alternative splicing variants based on domain integrity, truncation length and intrinsic protein disorder. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2011**, *39*, 1208–1219.
- 73. Taneri, B.; Snyder, B.; Novoradovsky, A.; Gaasterland, T. Alternative splicing of mouse transcription factors affects their DNA-binding domain architecture and is tissue specific. *Genome Biol.* **2004**, *5*, R75.
- 74. Talavera, D.; Orozco, M.; de la Cruz, X. Alternative splicing of transcription factors' genes: Beyond the increase of proteome diversity. *Comp. Funct. Genomics* **2009**, *2009*, 905894.
- 75. Resch, A.; Xing, Y.; Modrek, B.; Gorlick, M.; Riley, R.; Lee, C. Assessing the impact of alternative splicing on domain interactions in the human proteome. *J. Proteome Res.* **2004**, *3*, 76–83.
- 76. Kornblihtt, A.R.; de la Mata, M.; Fededa, J.P.; Munoz, M.J.; Nogues, G. Multiple links between transcription and splicing. *RNA* **2004**, *10*, 1489–1498.
- 77. Proudfoot, N.J.; Furger, A.; Dye, M.J. Integrating mRNA processing with transcription. *Cell* **2002**, *108*, 501–512.
- 78. Zeng, C.; Berget, S.M. Participation of the *C*-terminal domain of RNA polymerase II in exon definition during pre-mRNA splicing. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **2000**, *20*, 8290–8301.
- 79. Cramer, P.; Pesce, C.G.; Baralle, F.E.; Kornblihtt, A.R. Functional association between promoter structure and transcript alternative splicing. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **1997**, *94*, 11456–11460.
- 80. Nogues, G.; Kadener, S.; Cramer, P.; Bentley, D.; Kornblihtt, A.R. Transcriptional activators differ in their abilities to control alternative splicing. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2002**, *277*, 43110–43114.
- 81. Auboeuf, D.; Hönig, A.; Berget, S.M.; O'Malley, B.W. Coordinate regulation of transcription and splicing by steroid receptor coregulators. *Science* **2002**, *298*, 416–419.
- 82. Alló, M.; Buggiano, V.; Fededa, J.P.; Petrillo, E.; Schor, I.; de la Mata, M.; Agirre, E.; Plass, M.; Eyras, E.; Elela, S.A.; *et al.* Control of alternative splicing through siRNA-mediated transcriptional gene silencing. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **2009**, *16*, 717–724.
- 83. Kisielow, M.; Kleiner, S.; Nagasawa, M.; Faisal, A.; Nagamine, Y. Isoform-specific knockdown and expression of adaptor protein ShcA using small interfering RNA. *Biochem. J.* **2002**, *363*, 1–5.
- Prinos, P.; Garneau, D.; Lucier, J.; Gendron, D.; Couture, S.; Boivin, M.; Brosseau, J.-P.; Lapointe, E.; Thibault, P.; Durand, M.; *et al.* Alternative splicing of SYK regulates mitosis and cell survival. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 2011, *18*, 673–679.
- 85. Goldberg, M.S.; Sharp, P.A. Pyruvate kinase M2-specific siRNA induces apoptosis and tumor regression. *J. Exp. Med.* **2012**, *209*, 217–224.
- 86. Brunkhorst, A.; Neuman, T.; Hall, A.; Arenas, E.; Bartfai, T.; Hermanson, O.; Metsis, M. Novel isoforms of the TFIID subunit TAF4 modulate nuclear receptor-mediated transcriptional activity. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **2004**, *325*, 574–579.

- Kazantseva, J.; Kivil, A.; Tints, K.; Kazantseva, A.; Neuman, T.; Palm, K. Alternative splicing targeting the hTAF4–TAFH domain of TAF4 represses proliferation and accelerates chondrogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. *PLoS One* 2013, *8*, e74799.
- 88. Kazantseva, J.; Tints, K.; Neuman, T.; Palm, K. TAF4 controls differentiation of human neural progenitor cells through hTAF4–TAFH activity. *J. Mol. Neurosci.* **2014**, in press.
- Topol, L.; Jiang, X.; Choi, H.; Garrett-Beal, L.; Carolan, P.J.; Yang, Y. Wnt-5a inhibits the canonical Wnt pathway by promoting GSK-3-independent β-catenin degradation. *J. Cell. Biol.* 2003, *162*, 899–908.
- He, F.; Xiong, W.; Yu, X.; Espinoza-Lewis, R.; Liu, C.; Gu, S.; Nishita, M.; Suzuki, K.; Yamada, G.; Minami, Y.; *et al.* Wnt5a regulates directional cell migration and cell proliferation via Ror2-mediated noncanonical pathway in mammalian palate development. *Development* 2008, *135*, 3871–3879.
- 91. Niehrs, C. Function and biological roles of the Dickkopf family of Wnt modulators. *Oncogene* **2006**, *25*, 7469–7481.
- 92. Armstrong, J.F.; Kaufman, M.H.; Harrison, D.J.; Clarke, A.R. High-frequency developmental abnormalities in p53-deficient mice. *Curr. Biol.* **1995**, *5*, 931–936.
- 93. Kazantseva, J.; Sadam, H.; Neuman, T.; Palm, K. Migration and multipotency in melanoma under control of TAF4 alternative splicing. **2014**, submitted.
- Mani, S.A.; Guo, W.; Liao, M.; Eaton, E.N.; Ayyanan, A.; Zhou, A.Y.; Brooks, M.; Reinhard, F.; Zhang, C.C.; Shipitsin, M.; *et al.* The epithelial-mesenchymal transition generates cells with properties of stem cells. *Cell* 2008, *133*, 704–715.
- 95. Quante, M.; Tu, S.P.; Tomita, H.; Gonda, T.; Wang, S.S.W.; Takashi, S.; Baik, G.H.; Shibata, W.; Diprete, B.; Betz, K.S.; *et al.* Bone marrow-derived myofibroblasts contribute to the mesenchymal stem cell niche and promote tumor growth. *Cancer Cell* **2011**, *19*, 257–272.
- 96. Hendrix, M.J.C.; Seftor, E.A.; Hess, A.R.; Seftor, R.E.B. Molecular plasticity of human melanoma cells. *Oncogene* **2003**, *22*, 3070–3075.
- 97. Fang, D.; Nguyen, T.K.; Leishear, K.; Finko, R.; Kulp, A.N.; Hotz, S.; van Belle, P.A.; Xu, X.; Elder, D.E.; Herlyn, M.; *et al.* A tumorigenic subpopulation with stem cell properties in melanomas. *Cancer Res.* **2005**, *65*, 9328–9337.
- Na, Y.R.; Seok, S.H.; Kim, D.J.; Han, J.H.; Kim, T.H.; Jung, H.; Lee, B.H.; Park, J.H. Isolation and characterization of spheroid cells from human malignant melanoma cell line WM-266-4. *Tumour Biol.* 2009, *30*, 300–309.
- 99. Pittenger, M.F.; Martin, B.J. Mesenchymal stem cells and their potential as cardiac therapeutics. *Circ. Res.* **2004**, *95*, 9–20.
- 100. Balkwill, F. Cancer and the chemokine network. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2004, 4, 540-550.

 \bigcirc 2014 by the authors; licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/).

PUBLICATION IV

Kazantseva, J., Sadam, H., Neuman, T., Palm, K. (2014) Differentiation and migration properties of dermal fibroblasts and melanoma cells under the control of alternative splicing of *TAF4*. *Manuscript*

CURRICULUM VITAE

Name:
Date and place of birth:
Citizenship:
Tel:
E-mail:

Jekaterina Kazantseva 15.04.1974, Pskov, Russia Estonia +372 55 64 11 73 <u>katja@protobios.com</u>

Education:

2001-2006 Tallinn University of Technology, Department of gene technology, PhD student 1995-1997 Moscow Academy of Fine Chemical Technology by Lomonosov, Russia, MSc *cum laude* in Gene Technology and Biotechnology 1991-1995 Moscow Academy of Fine Chemical Technology by Lomonosov, Russia, BSc *cum laude* in Biotechnology 1981-1991 Tallinn 64. Secondary School, Certificate with Honours (gold medal)

Language competence:

Language	Level
Russian	native speaker
Estonian	fluent
English	fluent
French	basic skills

Professional Employment:

Jan 2013 -	Cellin Technologies LLC, Research Scientist in Proteomics
Jan 2012 – Dec 2012	Competence Center of Cancer Research, Protobios LLC, Research Scientist
Jan 2010 – Dec 2011	Cellin Technologies LLC, Research Scientist
Nov 2005 – Jan 2010	FibtoTx LLC, Research Scientist
Sept 2005 – May 2007	Competence Center of Cancer Research, Protobios LLC, Research Scientist

Sept 2002 – Dec 2009	Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Gene Technology, Scientist
Sept 2001 – June 2002	Tallinn Commercial College, Lecturer
Apr 2000 – Dec 2003	Estonian Health Inspection, Virology Laboratory, Specialist in development of clinical PCR diagnostics
Sept 1995 – June 1997	Moscow Molecular Biology Institute by Engelhardt, Laboratory of Enzymology of Transcription, Moscow, Russia, Engineer

Awards and stipends:

2009: Spetsai Summer School "Proteins and their Networks – from specific to global analysis", Poster Presentation Award

1996-1997: Personal Mendeleev stipend, Moscow Academy of Fine Chemical Technology by Lomonosov

Courses and conferences:

- 1. September 15-18, 2013, Florence, Italy. ISSCR regional forum "Stem cells in translation". Poster presentation "hTAF4-TAFH activity of TAF4 inhibits chondrogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells and neural differentiation of human progenitor cells."
- September 7-17, 2009, Island of Spetses, Greece. Spetsai Summer School "Proteins and their Networks – from specific to global analysis". Oral presentation "Splicing of TAF4 antagonizes Wnt-induced transcription."
- 3. May 16-19, 2006, GE Eurolab Munich, Germany. Ettan DIGE Training Course
- 4. January 11-14, 2007. Salk Institute, La Jolla, CA, USA. Symposium on Biological Complexity: Diseases of Transcription. Poster presentation "Novel neuronal specific BAF57 isoforms description."
- 5. September 12-16, 2005, Lomonosov Moscow State University, Moscow, Russia. Summer School Behavioral Neurogenetics
- 6. June 2005, Tallinn, Estonia. IBRO Summer School in Neurobiology
- 7. August 25 September 6, 2003, Institute of Biotechnology, Vilnius, Lithuania. HHMI practical course "Molecular Interactions of Proteins and DNA."

8. August 26-31, 2002, Tartu, Estonia. Practical course "Application of tagging techniques and alphavirus expression for functional analysis of proteins."

Publications:

Kazantseva, J., Palm, K. (2014) Diversity in TAF proteomics: consequences for cellular differentiation and migration. *Review*. Int. J. Mol. Sci. *15*(9), 16680-16697

Kazantseva, J., Tints, K., Neuman, T., Palm, K. (2014) TAF4 controls differentiation of human neural progenitor cells through hTAF4-TAFH activity. J. Mol. Neurosci. 2014 Apr 4

Kazantseva, J., Kivil, A., Tints, K., Kazantseva, A., Neuman, T., Palm, K. (2013) Alternative splicing targeting the hTAF4-TAFH domain of TAF4 represses proliferation and accelerates chondrogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. PLoS One. 2013 Oct 2; 8(10):e74799

Kazantseva, A., Sepp, M., **Kazantseva, J**., Sadam, H., Pruunsild, P., Timmusk, T., Neuman, T., Palm, K. (2009) N-terminally truncated BAF57 isoforms contribute to the diversity of SWI/SNF complexes in neurons. Journal of Neurochemistry, 109, 807 - 818

Voronova, A., Meyer-Klaucke, W., Meyer, T., Rompel, A., Krebs, B., **Kazantseva, J.**, Sillard, R., Palumaa, P. (2007) Oxidative switches in functioning of mammalian copper chaperone Cox17. Biochemical Journal, 408, 139 - 148

Voronova, A., **Kazantseva, J.**, Tuuling, M., Sokolova, N., Sillard, R., L Palumaa, P. (2007) Cox17, a copper chaperone for cytochrome c oxidase: Expression, purification and formation of mixed disulfide adducts with thiol reagents. Protein Expression and Purification, 53, 138 - 144

Sarmiento, C., Nigul, L., **Kazantseva, J.**, Buschmann, M., Truve, E. (2006) AtRLI2 is an endogenous suppressor of RNA silencing. Plant Molecular Biology, 61, 153 - 163

Meloni, G., Zovo, K., **Kazantseva, J.**, Palumaa, P., Vasak, M. (2006) Organization and assembly of metal-thiolate clusters in epithelium-specific metallothionein-4. JBC, 281, 14588 - 14595

Gudima, S.O., **Kazantseva, E.G.**, Kostjuk, D.A., Shchaveleva, I.L., Grishchenko, O.I., Memelova, L.V., Kochetkov S.N. (1997) Deoxynucleotidecontaining RNAs: a novel Class of templates for HIV-I reverse transcriptase. Nucleic Acids Research, 25, 4614 - 4618

Intellectual property:

CANCER RELATED ISOFORMS OF COMPONENTS OF TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR COMPLEXES AS BIOMARKERS AND DRUG TARGETS; Owner: Oncotx, Inc; Authors: J. Kazantseva, A. Kazantseva; Patent number US 2010/0087376 A1.

MALDI MS-based high-throughput screening method for substances inhibiting aggregation of Alzheimer's A peptides; Owner: Tallinn University of Technology; Authors: P. Palumaa, M. Tuuling, O. Blaževitš, **J. Kazantseva**, K. Zovo, I. Šabarova; Patent number PCT/EE2008/000024.

Thesis supervised:

Mariann Moosar, 2011, MSc thesis "Studies of TFIIH basal transcription factor complex p34 subunit"

ELULOOKIRJELDUS

Nimi:
Sünniaeg ja -koht:
Kodakondsus:
Tel:
E-mail:

Jekaterina Kazantseva 15.04.1974, Pihkva, Venemaa Eesti +372 55 64 11 73 <u>katja@protobios.com</u>

Hariduskäik:

2001-2006 Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, doktoriõpe geenitehnoloogia erialal 1995-1997 Lomonosovi Moskva Peenkeemiatehnoloogia Instituut, Venemaa, MSc diplom *cum laude* geeni- ja biotehnoloogias 1991-1995 Lomonosovi Moskva Peenkeemiatehnoloogia Instituut, Venemaa, BSc diplom *cum laude* biotehnoloogias 1981-1991 Tallinna 64. Keskkool, kuldmedal

Keelteoskus:

	Keel	Tase
Vene	emakeel	
Eesti	kõrgtase	
Inglise	kõrgtase	
Prantsuse	algtase	

Erialane töökogemus:

Jan 2013 -	Cellin Technologies OÜ, proteoomika teadur
Jan 2012 – Dec 2012	VTAK, Protobios OÜ, teadur
Jan 2010 – Dec 2011	Cellin Technologies OÜ, teadur
Nov 2005 – Jan 2010	FibtoTx OÜ, teadur
Sept 2005 – May 2007	VTAK, Protobios OÜ, teadur
Sept 2002 – Dec 2009	Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Geenitehnoloogia instituut, teadur
Sept 2001 – June 2002	Tallinna Kommertskolledž, lektor

Apr 2000 – Dec 2003	Eesti Tervisekaitseinspektsioon, Keskviroloogia Labor, ekspert
Sept 1995 – June 1997	Engelhardti Molekulaar Bioloogia Instituut, Moskva Teaduste Akadeemia, Venemaa, insener

Auhinnad ja stipendiumid:

2009: Poster-ettekande auhind Spetsai suvekoolis "Proteins and their Networks – from specific to global analysis"

1996-1997: Mendeleev stipendium, Lomonosovi Moskva Peenkeemiatehnoloogia Instituut

Kursused ja konverentsid:

- 1. September 15-18, 2013, Firenze, Itaalia. ISSCR regionaalne foorum "Stem cells in translation". Poster-ettekanne "hTAF4-TAFH activity of TAF4 inhibits chondrogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells and neural differentiation of human progenitor cells."
- 2. September 7-17, 2009, Spetses, Kreeka. Spetsai Suvekool "Proteins and their Networks from specific to global analysis". Ettekanne "Splicing of TAF4 antagonizes Wnt-induced transcription."
- 3. Mai 16-19, 2006, GE Eurolab, München, Saksamaa. Ettan DIGE praktiline kursus
- 4. Jaanuar 11-14, 2007. Salk Institute, La Jolla, CA, USA. Sümpoosium "Biological Complexity: Diseases of Transcription". Poster-ettekanne "Novel neuronal specific BAF57 isoforms description."
- 5. September 12-16, 2005, Lomonosovi Moskva Riikliku Ülikool, Moskva, Venemaa. Käitumist neurogeneetika suvekool
- 6. Juuni 2005, Tallinn, Eesti. IBRO Neuroteaduste kursus
- 7. August 25 September 6, 2003, Biotehnoloogia Instituut, Vilnius, Leedu. HHMI teoreetiline ja praktiline kursus "Molecular Interactions of Proteins and DNA."
- 8. August 26-31, 2002, Tartu, Eesti. Praktiline kursus "Application of tagging techniques and alphavirus expression for functional analysis of proteins."

Publikatsioonid:

Kazantseva, J., Palm, K. (2014) Diversity in TAF proteomics: consequences for cellular differentiation and migration. *Review*. Int. J. Mol. Sci. *15*(9), 16680-16697

Kazantseva, J., Tints, K., Neuman, T., Palm, K. (2014) TAF4 controls differentiation of human neural progenitor cells through hTAF4-TAFH activity. J. Mol. Neurosci. 2014 Apr 4

Kazantseva, J., Kivil, A., Tints, K., Kazantseva, A., Neuman, T., Palm, K. (2013) Alternative splicing targeting the hTAF4-TAFH domain of TAF4 represses proliferation and accelerates chondrogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. PLoS One. 2013 Oct 2; 8(10):e74799

Kazantseva, A., Sepp, M., **Kazantseva, J**., Sadam, H., Pruunsild, P., Timmusk, T., Neuman, T., Palm, K. (2009) N-terminally truncated BAF57 isoforms contribute to the diversity of SWI/SNF complexes in neurons. Journal of Neurochemistry, 109, 807 - 818

Voronova, A., Meyer-Klaucke, W., Meyer, T., Rompel, A., Krebs, B., **Kazantseva**, J., Sillard, R., Palumaa, P. (2007) Oxidative switches in functioning of mammalian copper chaperone Cox17. Biochemical Journal, 408, 139 - 148

Voronova, A., **Kazantseva, J.**, Tuuling, M., Sokolova, N., Sillard, R., L Palumaa, P. (2007) Cox17, a copper chaperone for cytochrome c oxidase: Expression, purification and formation of mixed disulfide adducts with thiol reagents. Protein Expression and Purification, 53, 138 - 144

Sarmiento, C., Nigul, L., **Kazantseva, J.**, Buschmann, M., Truve, E. (2006) AtRLI2 is an endogenous suppressor of RNA silencing. Plant Molecular Biology, 61, 153 - 163

Meloni, G., Zovo, K., **Kazantseva, J.**, Palumaa, P., Vasak, M. (2006) Organization and assembly of metal-thiolate clusters in epithelium-specific metallothionein-4. JBC, 281, 14588 - 14595

Gudima, S.O., **Kazantseva, E.G.**, Kostjuk, D.A., Shchaveleva, I.L., Grishchenko, O.I., Memelova, L.V., Kochetkov S.N. (1997) Deoxynucleotidecontaining RNAs: a novel Class of templates for HIV-I reverse transcriptase. Nucleic Acids Research, 25, 4614 - 4618

Patentsed leiutised:

CANCER RELATED ISOFORMS OF COMPONENTS OF TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR COMPLEXES AS BIOMARKERS AND DRUG TARGETS; Omanik: Oncotx, Inc; Autorid: J. Kazantseva, A. Kazantseva; Patendinumber US 2010/0087376 A1.

MALDI MS-based high-throughput screening method for substances inhibiting aggregation of Alzheimer's A peptides; Omanik: Tallinna Tehnikaülikool; Autorid: P. Palumaa, M. Tuuling, O. Blaževitš, **J. Kazantseva**, K. Zovo, I. Šabarova; Patendinumber PCT/EE2008/000024.

Juhendatut lõputööd:

Mariann Moosar, 2011, magistritöö "Basaalse transkriptsioonifaktori kompleksi TFIIH subühiku p34 uuringud"

DISSERTATIONS DEFENDED AT TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY ON NATURAL AND EXACT SCIENCES

1. Olav Kongas. Nonlinear Dynamics in Modeling Cardiac Arrhytmias. 1998.

2. Kalju Vanatalu. Optimization of Processes of Microbial Biosynthesis of Isotopically Labeled Biomolecules and Their Complexes. 1999.

3. Ahto Buldas. An Algebraic Approach to the Structure of Graphs. 1999.

4. **Monika Drews**. A Metabolic Study of Insect Cells in Batch and Continuous Culture: Application of Chemostat and Turbidostat to the Production of Recombinant Proteins. 1999.

5. **Eola Valdre**. Endothelial-Specific Regulation of Vessel Formation: Role of Receptor Tyrosine Kinases. 2000.

6. Kalju Lott. Doping and Defect Thermodynamic Equilibrium in ZnS. 2000.

7. **Reet Koljak**. Novel Fatty Acid Dioxygenases from the Corals *Plexaura* homomalla and *Gersemia fruticosa*. 2001.

8. **Anne Paju**. Asymmetric oxidation of Prochiral and Racemic Ketones by Using Sharpless Catalyst. 2001.

9. Marko Vendelin. Cardiac Mechanoenergetics in silico. 2001.

10. **Pearu Peterson**. Multi-Soliton Interactions and the Inverse Problem of Wave Crest. 2001.

11. Anne Menert. Microcalorimetry of Anaerobic Digestion. 2001.

12. **Toomas Tiivel**. The Role of the Mitochondrial Outer Membrane in *in vivo* Regulation of Respiration in Normal Heart and Skeletal Muscle Cell. 2002.

13. **Olle Hints**. Ordovician Scolecodonts of Estonia and Neighbouring Areas: Taxonomy, Distribution, Palaeoecology, and Application. 2002.

14. Jaak Nõlvak. Chitinozoan Biostratigrapy in the Ordovician of Baltoscandia. 2002.

15. Liivi Kluge. On Algebraic Structure of Pre-Operad. 2002.

16. **Jaanus Lass**. Biosignal Interpretation: Study of Cardiac Arrhytmias and Electromagnetic Field Effects on Human Nervous System. 2002.

17. Janek Peterson. Synthesis, Structural Characterization and Modification of PAMAM Dendrimers. 2002.

18. **Merike Vaher**. Room Temperature Ionic Liquids as Background Electrolyte Additives in Capillary Electrophoresis. 2002.

19. **Valdek Mikli**. Electron Microscopy and Image Analysis Study of Powdered Hardmetal Materials and Optoelectronic Thin Films. 2003.

20. Mart Viljus. The Microstructure and Properties of Fine-Grained Cermets. 2003.

Signe Kask. Identification and Characterization of Dairy-Related *Lactobacillus*.
2003

22. **Tiiu-Mai Laht**. Influence of Microstructure of the Curd on Enzymatic and Microbiological Processes in Swiss-Type Cheese. 2003.

23. Anne Kuusksalu. 2–5A Synthetase in the Marine Sponge *Geodia cydonium*. 2003.

24. **Sergei Bereznev**. Solar Cells Based on Polycristalline Copper-Indium Chalcogenides and Conductive Polymers. 2003.

25. **Kadri Kriis**. Asymmetric Synthesis of C₂-Symmetric Bimorpholines and Their Application as Chiral Ligands in the Transfer Hydrogenation of Aromatic Ketones. 2004.

26. Jekaterina Reut. Polypyrrole Coatings on Conducting and Insulating Substracts. 2004.

27. Sven Nõmm. Realization and Identification of Discrete-Time Nonlinear Systems. 2004.

28. **Olga Kijatkina**. Deposition of Copper Indium Disulphide Films by Chemical Spray Pyrolysis. 2004.

29. **Gert Tamberg**. On Sampling Operators Defined by Rogosinski, Hann and Blackman Windows. 2004.

30. Monika Übner. Interaction of Humic Substances with Metal Cations. 2004.

31. **Kaarel Adamberg**. Growth Characteristics of Non-Starter Lactic Acid Bacteria from Cheese. 2004.

32. Imre Vallikivi. Lipase-Catalysed Reactions of Prostaglandins. 2004.

33. Merike Peld. Substituted Apatites as Sorbents for Heavy Metals. 2005.

34. **Vitali Syritski**. Study of Synthesis and Redox Switching of Polypyrrole and Poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) by Using *in-situ* Techniques. 2004.

35. Lee Põllumaa. Evaluation of Ecotoxicological Effects Related to Oil Shale Industry. 2004.

36. Riina Aav. Synthesis of 9,11-Secosterols Intermediates. 2005.

37. Andres Braunbrück. Wave Interaction in Weakly Inhomogeneous Materials. 2005.

38. Robert Kitt. Generalised Scale-Invariance in Financial Time Series. 2005.

39. **Juss Pavelson**. Mesoscale Physical Processes and the Related Impact on the Summer Nutrient Fields and Phytoplankton Blooms in the Western Gulf of Finland. 2005.

40. **Olari Ilison**. Solitons and Solitary Waves in Media with Higher Order Dispersive and Nonlinear Effects. 2005.

41. **Maksim Säkki**. Intermittency and Long-Range Structurization of Heart Rate. 2005.

42. **Enli Kiipli**. Modelling Seawater Chemistry of the East Baltic Basin in the Late Ordovician–Early Silurian. 2005.

43. **Igor Golovtsov**. Modification of Conductive Properties and Processability of Polyparaphenylene, Polypyrrole and polyaniline. 2005.

44. **Katrin Laos**. Interaction Between Furcellaran and the Globular Proteins (Bovine Serum Albumin β -Lactoglobulin). 2005.

45. **Arvo Mere**. Structural and Electrical Properties of Spray Deposited Copper Indium Disulphide Films for Solar Cells. 2006.

46. **Sille Ehala**. Development and Application of Various On- and Off-Line Analytical Methods for the Analysis of Bioactive Compounds. 2006.

47. **Maria Kulp**. Capillary Electrophoretic Monitoring of Biochemical Reaction Kinetics. 2006.

48. Anu Aaspõllu. Proteinases from *Vipera lebetina* Snake Venom Affecting Hemostasis. 2006.

49. Lyudmila Chekulayeva. Photosensitized Inactivation of Tumor Cells by Porphyrins and Chlorins. 2006.

50. **Merle Uudsemaa**. Quantum-Chemical Modeling of Solvated First Row Transition Metal Ions. 2006.

51. **Tagli Pitsi**. Nutrition Situation of Pre-School Children in Estonia from 1995 to 2004. 2006.

52. **Angela Ivask**. Luminescent Recombinant Sensor Bacteria for the Analysis of Bioavailable Heavy Metals. 2006.

53. **Tiina Lõugas**. Study on Physico-Chemical Properties and Some Bioactive Compounds of Sea Buckthorn (*Hippophae rhamnoides* L.). 2006.

54. **Kaja Kasemets**. Effect of Changing Environmental Conditions on the Fermentative Growth of *Saccharomyces cerevisae* S288C: Auxo-accelerostat Study. 2006.

55. **Ildar Nisamedtinov**. Application of ¹³C and Fluorescence Labeling in Metabolic Studies of *Saccharomyces* spp. 2006.

56. Alar Leibak. On Additive Generalisation of Voronoï's Theory of Perfect Forms over Algebraic Number Fields. 2006.

57. Andri Jagomägi. Photoluminescence of Chalcopyrite Tellurides. 2006.

58. **Tõnu Martma**. Application of Carbon Isotopes to the Study of the Ordovician and Silurian of the Baltic. 2006.

59. **Marit Kauk**. Chemical Composition of CuInSe₂ Monograin Powders for Solar Cell Application. 2006.

60. **Julia Kois**. Electrochemical Deposition of CuInSe₂ Thin Films for Photovoltaic Applications. 2006.

61. Ilona Oja Açık. Sol-Gel Deposition of Titanium Dioxide Films. 2007.

62. **Tiia Anmann**. Integrated and Organized Cellular Bioenergetic Systems in Heart and Brain. 2007.

63. Katrin Trummal. Purification, Characterization and Specificity Studies of Metalloproteinases from *Vipera lebetina* Snake Venom. 2007.

64. **Gennadi Lessin**. Biochemical Definition of Coastal Zone Using Numerical Modeling and Measurement Data. 2007.

65. **Enno Pais**. Inverse problems to determine non-homogeneous degenerate memory kernels in heat flow. 2007.

66. Maria Borissova. Capillary Electrophoresis on Alkylimidazolium Salts. 2007.

67. **Karin Valmsen**. Prostaglandin Synthesis in the Coral *Plexaura homomalla*: Control of Prostaglandin Stereochemistry at Carbon 15 by Cyclooxygenases. 2007.

68. **Kristjan Piirimäe**. Long-Term Changes of Nutrient Fluxes in the Drainage Basin of the Gulf of Finland – Application of the PolFlow Model. 2007.

69. **Tatjana Dedova**. Chemical Spray Pyrolysis Deposition of Zinc Sulfide Thin Films and Zinc Oxide Nanostructured Layers. 2007.

70. **Katrin Tomson**. Production of Labelled Recombinant Proteins in Fed-Batch Systems in *Escherichia coli*. 2007.

71. Cecilia Sarmiento. Suppressors of RNA Silencing in Plants. 2008.

72. Vilja Mardla. Inhibition of Platelet Aggregation with Combination of Antiplatelet Agents. 2008.

73. **Maie Bachmann**. Effect of Modulated Microwave Radiation on Human Resting Electroencephalographic Signal. 2008.

74. **Dan Hüvonen**. Terahertz Spectroscopy of Low-Dimensional Spin Systems. 2008.

75. Ly Villo. Stereoselective Chemoenzymatic Synthesis of Deoxy Sugar Esters Involving *Candida antarctica* Lipase B. 2008.

76. **Johan Anton**. Technology of Integrated Photoelasticity for Residual Stress Measurement in Glass Articles of Axisymmetric Shape. 2008.

77. **Olga Volobujeva**. SEM Study of Selenization of Different Thin Metallic Films. 2008.

78. Artur Jõgi. Synthesis of 4'-Substituted 2,3'-dideoxynucleoside Analogues. 2008.

79. **Mario Kadastik**. Doubly Charged Higgs Boson Decays and Implications on Neutrino Physics. 2008.

80. **Fernando Pérez-Caballero**. Carbon Aerogels from 5-Methylresorcinol-Formaldehyde Gels. 2008.

81. **Sirje Vaask**. The Comparability, Reproducibility and Validity of Estonian Food Consumption Surveys. 2008.

82. **Anna Menaker**. Electrosynthesized Conducting Polymers, Polypyrrole and Poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene), for Molecular Imprinting. 2009.

83. Lauri Ilison. Solitons and Solitary Waves in Hierarchical Korteweg-de Vries Type Systems. 2009.

84. **Kaia Ernits**. Study of In₂S₃ and ZnS Thin Films Deposited by Ultrasonic Spray Pyrolysis and Chemical Deposition. 2009.

85. **Veljo Sinivee**. Portable Spectrometer for Ionizing Radiation "Gammamapper". 2009.

86. **Jüri Virkepu**. On Lagrange Formalism for Lie Theory and Operadic Harmonic Oscillator in Low Dimensions. 2009.

87. Marko Piirsoo. Deciphering Molecular Basis of Schwann Cell Development. 2009.

88. **Kati Helmja**. Determination of Phenolic Compounds and Their Antioxidative Capability in Plant Extracts. 2010.

89. **Merike Sõmera**. Sobemoviruses: Genomic Organization, Potential for Recombination and Necessity of P1 in Systemic Infection. 2010.

90. **Kristjan Laes**. Preparation and Impedance Spectroscopy of Hybrid Structures Based on CuIn₃Se₅ Photoabsorber. 2010.

91. **Kristin Lippur**. Asymmetric Synthesis of 2,2'-Bimorpholine and its 5,5'-Substituted Derivatives. 2010.

92. Merike Luman. Dialysis Dose and Nutrition Assessment by an Optical Method. 2010.

93. **Mihhail Berezovski**. Numerical Simulation of Wave Propagation in Heterogeneous and Microstructured Materials. 2010.

94. Tamara Aid-Pavlidis. Structure and Regulation of BDNF Gene. 2010.

95. Olga Bragina. The Role of Sonic Hedgehog Pathway in Neuro- and Tumorigenesis. 2010.

96. Merle Randrüüt. Wave Propagation in Microstructured Solids: Solitary and Periodic Waves. 2010.

97. **Marju Laars**. Asymmetric Organocatalytic Michael and Aldol Reactions Mediated by Cyclic Amines. 2010.

98. **Maarja Grossberg**. Optical Properties of Multinary Semiconductor Compounds for Photovoltaic Applications. 2010.

99. **Alla Maloverjan**. Vertebrate Homologues of Drosophila Fused Kinase and Their Role in Sonic Hedgehog Signalling Pathway. 2010.

100. **Priit Pruunsild**. Neuronal Activity-Dependent Transcription Factors and Regulation of Human *BDNF* Gene. 2010.

101. **Tatjana Knjazeva**. New Approaches in Capillary Electrophoresis for Separation and Study of Proteins. 2011.

102. Atanas Katerski. Chemical Composition of Sprayed Copper Indium Disulfide Films for Nanostructured Solar Cells. 2011.

103. **Kristi Timmo.** Formation of Properties of CuInSe₂ and Cu₂ZnSn(S,Se)₄ Monograin Powders Synthesized in Molten KI. 2011.

104. **Kert Tamm**. Wave Propagation and Interaction in Mindlin-Type Microstructured Solids: Numerical Simulation. 2011.

105. Adrian Popp. Ordovician Proetid Trilobites in Baltoscandia and Germany. 2011.

106. **Ove Pärn**. Sea Ice Deformation Events in the Gulf of Finland and This Impact on Shipping. 2011.

107. Germo Väli. Numerical Experiments on Matter Transport in the Baltic Sea. 2011.

108. Andrus Seiman. Point-of-Care Analyser Based on Capillary Electrophoresis. 2011.

109. **Olga Katargina**. Tick-Borne Pathogens Circulating in Estonia (Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus, *Anaplasma phagocytophilum*, *Babesia* Species): Their Prevalence and Genetic Characterization. 2011.

110. **Ingrid Sumeri**. The Study of Probiotic Bacteria in Human Gastrointestinal Tract Simulator. 2011.

111. Kairit Zovo. Functional Characterization of Cellular Copper Proteome. 2011.

112. **Natalja Makarytsheva**. Analysis of Organic Species in Sediments and Soil by High Performance Separation Methods. 2011.

113. **Monika Mortimer**. Evaluation of the Biological Effects of Engineered Nanoparticles on Unicellular Pro- and Eukaryotic Organisms. 2011.

114. **Kersti Tepp**. Molecular System Bioenergetics of Cardiac Cells: Quantitative Analysis of Structure-Function Relationship. 2011.

115. Anna-Liisa Peikolainen. Organic Aerogels Based on 5-Methylresorcinol. 2011.

116. Leeli Amon. Palaeoecological Reconstruction of Late-Glacial Vegetation Dynamics in Eastern Baltic Area: A View Based on Plant Macrofossil Analysis. 2011.

117. **Tanel Peets**. Dispersion Analysis of Wave Motion in Microstructured Solids. 2011.

118. Liina Kaupmees. Selenization of Molybdenum as Contact Material in Solar Cells. 2011.

119. Allan Olspert. Properties of VPg and Coat Protein of Sobemoviruses. 2011.

120. Kadri Koppel. Food Category Appraisal Using Sensory Methods. 2011.

121. Jelena Gorbatšova. Development of Methods for CE Analysis of Plant Phenolics and Vitamins. 2011.

122. **Karin Viipsi**. Impact of EDTA and Humic Substances on the Removal of Cd and Zn from Aqueous Solutions by Apatite. 2012.

123. **David Schryer**. Metabolic Flux Analysis of Compartmentalized Systems Using Dynamic Isotopologue Modeling. 2012.

124. Ardo Illaste. Analysis of Molecular Movements in Cardiac Myocytes. 2012.

125. **Indrek Reile**. 3-Alkylcyclopentane-1,2-Diones in Asymmetric Oxidation and Alkylation Reactions. 2012.

126. **Tatjana Tamberg**. Some Classes of Finite 2-Groups and Their Endomorphism Semigroups. 2012.

127. **Taavi Liblik**. Variability of Thermohaline Structure in the Gulf of Finland in Summer. 2012.

128. Priidik Lagemaa. Operational Forecasting in Estonian Marine Waters. 2012.

129. Andrei Errapart. Photoelastic Tomography in Linear and Non-linear Approximation. 2012.

130. **Külliki Krabbi**. Biochemical Diagnosis of Classical Galactosemia and Mucopolysaccharidoses in Estonia. 2012.

131. **Kristel Kaseleht**. Identification of Aroma Compounds in Food using SPME-GC/MS and GC-Olfactometry. 2012.

132. **Kristel Kodar**. Immunoglobulin G Glycosylation Profiling in Patients with Gastric Cancer. 2012.

133. **Kai Rosin**. Solar Radiation and Wind as Agents of the Formation of the Radiation Regime in Water Bodies. 2012.

134. **Ann Tiiman**. Interactions of Alzheimer's Amyloid-Beta Peptides with Zn(II) and Cu(II) Ions. 2012.

135. **Olga Gavrilova**. Application and Elaboration of Accounting Approaches for Sustainable Development. 2012.

136. **Olesja Bondarenko**. Development of Bacterial Biosensors and Human Stem Cell-Based *In Vitro* Assays for the Toxicological Profiling of Synthetic Nanoparticles. 2012.

137. **Katri Muska**. Study of Composition and Thermal Treatments of Quaternary Compounds for Monograin Layer Solar Cells. 2012.

138. **Ranno Nahku**. Validation of Critical Factors for the Quantitative Characterization of Bacterial Physiology in Accelerostat Cultures. 2012.

139. **Petri-Jaan Lahtvee**. Quantitative Omics-level Analysis of Growth Rate Dependent Energy Metabolism in *Lactococcus lactis*. 2012.

140. **Kerti Orumets**. Molecular Mechanisms Controlling Intracellular Glutathione Levels in Baker's Yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and its Random Mutagenized Glutathione Over-Accumulating Isolate. 2012.

141. Loreida Timberg. Spice-Cured Sprats Ripening, Sensory Parameters Development, and Quality Indicators. 2012.

142. Anna Mihhalevski. Rye Sourdough Fermentation and Bread Stability. 2012.

143. Liisa Arike. Quantitative Proteomics of *Escherichia coli*: From Relative to Absolute Scale. 2012.

144. Kairi Otto. Deposition of In_2S_3 Thin Films by Chemical Spray Pyrolysis. 2012.

145. **Mari Sepp**. Functions of the Basic Helix-Loop-Helix Transcription Factor TCF4 in Health and Disease. 2012.

146. **Anna Suhhova**. Detection of the Effect of Weak Stressors on Human Resting Electroencephalographic Signal. 2012.

147. **Aram Kazarjan**. Development and Production of Extruded Food and Feed Products Containing Probiotic Microorganisms. 2012.

148. **Rivo Uiboupin**. Application of Remote Sensing Methods for the Investigation of Spatio-Temporal Variability of Sea Surface Temperature and Chlorophyll Fields in the Gulf of Finland. 2013.

149. Tiina Kriščiunaite. A Study of Milk Coagulability. 2013.

150. **Tuuli Levandi**. Comparative Study of Cereal Varieties by Analytical Separation Methods and Chemometrics. 2013.

151. **Natalja Kabanova**. Development of a Microcalorimetric Method for the Study of Fermentation Processes. 2013.

152. Himani Khanduri. Magnetic Properties of Functional Oxides. 2013.

153. **Julia Smirnova**. Investigation of Properties and Reaction Mechanisms of Redox-Active Proteins by ESI MS. 2013.

154. **Mervi Sepp**. Estimation of Diffusion Restrictions in Cardiomyocytes Using Kinetic Measurements. 2013.

155. **Kersti Jääger**. Differentiation and Heterogeneity of Mesenchymal Stem Cells. 2013.

156. Victor Alari. Multi-Scale Wind Wave Modeling in the Baltic Sea. 2013.

157. **Taavi Päll**. Studies of CD44 Hyaluronan Binding Domain as Novel Angiogenesis Inhibitor. 2013.

158. Allan Niidu. Synthesis of Cyclopentane and Tetrahydrofuran Derivatives. 2013.

159. Julia Geller. Detection and Genetic Characterization of *Borrelia* Species Circulating in Tick Population in Estonia. 2013.

160. **Irina Stulova**. The Effects of Milk Composition and Treatment on the Growth of Lactic Acid Bacteria. 2013.

161. Jana Holmar. Optical Method for Uric Acid Removal Assessment During Dialysis. 2013.

162. **Kerti Ausmees**. Synthesis of Heterobicyclo[3.2.0]heptane Derivatives *via* Multicomponent Cascade Reaction. 2013.

163. **Minna Varikmaa**. Structural and Functional Studies of Mitochondrial Respiration Regulation in Muscle Cells. 2013.

164. Indrek Koppel. Transcriptional Mechanisms of BDNF Gene Regulation. 2014.

165. **Kristjan Pilt**. Optical Pulse Wave Signal Analysis for Determination of Early Arterial Ageing in Diabetic Patients. 2014.

166. **Andres Anier**. Estimation of the Complexity of the Electroencephalogram for Brain Monitoring in Intensive Care. 2014.

167. **Toivo Kallaste**. Pyroclastic Sanidine in the Lower Palaeozoic Bentonites – A Tool for Regional Geological Correlations. 2014.

168. Erki Kärber. Properties of ZnO-nanorod/In₂S₃/CuInS₂ Solar Cell and the Constituent Layers Deposited by Chemical Spray Method. 2014.

169. **Julia Lehner**. Formation of Cu₂ZnSnS₄ and Cu₂ZnSnSe₄ by Chalcogenisation of Electrochemically Deposited Precursor Layers. 2014.

170. **Peep Pitk**. Protein- and Lipid-rich Solid Slaughterhouse Waste Anaerobic Codigestion: Resource Analysis and Process Optimization. 2014.

171. **Kaspar Valgepea**. Absolute Quantitative Multi-omics Characterization of Specific Growth Rate-dependent Metabolism of *Escherichia coli*. 2014.

172. Artur Noole. Asymmetric Organocatalytic Synthesis of 3,3'-Disubstituted Oxindoles. 2014.

173. **Robert Tsanev**. Identification and Structure-Functional Characterisation of the Gene Transcriptional Repressor Domain of Human Gli Proteins. 2014.

174. **Dmitri Kartofelev**. Nonlinear Sound Generation Mechanisms in Musical Acoustic. 2014.

175. **Sigrid Hade**. GIS Applications in the Studies of the Palaeozoic Graptolite Argillite and Landscape Change. 2014.